JMIR Cancer

Impact Factor (2024): 3.3 Volume 2 (2016), Issue 2 ISSN 2369-1999 Editor in Chief: Naomi Cahill, PhD, RD

Contents

Original Papers

eHealth in Modern Patient-Caregiver Communication: High Rate of Acceptance Among Physicians for Additional Support of Breast Cancer Patients During Long-Term Therapy (e14) Thomas Kirkovits, Timo Schinkoethe, Caroline Drewes, Caroline Gehring, Ingo Bauerfeind, Nadia Harbeck, Rachel Wuerstlein	2
Clinical Trial Electronic Portals for Expedited Safety Reporting: Recommendations from the Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative Investigational New Drug Safety Advancement Project (e16) Raymond Perez, Shanda Finnigan, Krupa Patel, Shanell Whitney, Annemarie Forrest	4
EHealth Acceptance and New Media Preferences for Therapy Assistance Among Breast Cancer Patients (e13)	
Caroline Drewes, Thomas Kirkovits, Daniel Schiltz, Timo Schinkoethe, Renate Haidinger, Ursula Goldmann-Posch, Nadia Harbeck, Rachel Wuerstlein. 24	20
Online Social Engagement by Cancer Patients: A Clinic-Based Patient Survey (e10)	
Lawrence An, Lauren Wallner, Matthias Kirch	51
Like or Dislike? Impact of Facebook on Ewing Sarcoma Treatment (e11)	
Paul Ruckenstuhl, Michael Schippinger, Paul Liebmann, Andreas Leithner, Gerwin Bernhardt. 4.	2
Comparing Web-Based Provider-Initiated and Patient-Initiated Survivorship Care Planning for Cancer Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial (e12)	
Katherine Smith, Elliott Tolbert, Susan Hannum, Archana Radhakrishnan, Kelsey Zorn, Amanda Blackford, Stephen Greco, Karen Smith, Claire Snyder	5
Alcohol Intake Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Change in Alcohol Use During a Weight Management Intervention (e15)	
Tera Fazzino, Kimberly Fleming, Christie Befort. 77	2

Short Paper

 Online Versus Telephone Methods to Recruit and Interview Older Gay and Bisexual Men Treated for

 Prostate Cancer: Findings from the Restore Study (e9)

 BR Rosser, Benjamin Capistrant.

 80



eHealth in Modern Patient-Caregiver Communication: High Rate of Acceptance Among Physicians for Additional Support of Breast Cancer Patients During Long-Term Therapy

Thomas Kirkovits¹; Timo Schinkoethe^{1,2}, MSc, PhD; Caroline Drewes¹; Caroline Gehring¹, MD; Ingo Bauerfeind³, MD; Nadia Harbeck¹, MD, PhD; Rachel Wuerstlein¹, MD

¹Breast Center, University Hospital Munich, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Comprehensive Cancer Center Ludwig Maximilian University, Munich, Germany

²GEMKOM - Gesellschaft für moderne Kommunikation in der Medizin, Munich, Germany

³Breast Center, Landshut Hospital, Department of Gynecology, Landshut, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Rachel Wuerstlein, MD Breast Center, University Hospital Munich Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics Comprehensive Cancer Center Ludwig Maximilian University Marchioninistrasse 15 Munich, 81377 Germany Phone: 49 89 4400 77581 Fax: 49 89 4400 77582 Email: Rachel.Wuerstlein@med.uni-muenchen.de

Abstract

Background: Lack of adherence and compliance with drug regimens among breast cancer patients represent substantial problems in oral therapies, leading to significant impacts on mortality. Where other systems have failed, electronic health (eHealth) could be a possible solution to improve medication intake, along with the doctor-patient relationship. Initial results from studies concerning new interventions for therapy support are promising, but reports suggest that general acceptance of new treatment support tools is needed among patients and physicians alike.

Objective: The aim of this study was to investigate the actual use of the Internet and other modern media among physicians involved in breast cancer treatment.

Methods: Using a standardized questionnaire, actual utilization of new media among physicians was analyzed. Internet-related behaviors in private, as well as in business life, were investigated. Attention was focused on physicians' opinions regarding modern eHealth tools and how patients could be best supported to enhance adherence.

Results: A total of 120 physicians, all participating in breast cancer care, completed the questionnaire (median age 41 years). Almost all participants (99.2%, 119/120) used the Internet for general purposes and 98.3% (118/120) used it for medical issues as well. Virtually all medical professionals (99.2%, 119/120) reported that they owned a computer, while more recently invented technologies such as tablets and smartphones were owned by 31.9% (38/119) and 73.1% (87/119), respectively. The Internet was favored by 66.4% (79/119) of the physicians in our survey as a source for patient support; 71.2% (84/118) would also favor modern media for side effect registration. Based on our analysis, the most frequent Internet-utilizing physicians were characterized by age <60, worked in a hospital, and were employed as a junior physician.

Conclusions: This study demonstrated a high usage of Internet-related technologies among physicians, indicating that the use of eHealth for advanced and individualized support in breast cancer care is a promising addition to treatment management. Such technologies have the potential to enhance adherence and compliance in therapy among cancer patients.

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e14) doi:10.2196/cancer.5132

KEYWORDS

RenderX

eHealth; mobile health; telemedicine; physicians; acceptance; breast cancer; patient compliance; patient adherence

Introduction

The Internet has become increasingly relevant for daily use across the globe. General Internet usage among the population of the European Union has increased from 49% in 2006 to 72% in 2013 [1]. In total, approximately 3 billion people around the world used the Internet in 2014, which constitutes an increase of 0.6 billion users since 2012 [2,3].

As reported in 2003, 4.5% of all queries performed on the Internet concerned health-related issues, which represented approximately 67.5 million health-related searches being performed every day [4]. Electronic health (eHealth) and mobile health, as modern mechanisms of patient management, are enhancing the support systems for many different diseases [5,6].

eHealth applications are being successfully used in industrialized countries. Particularly in chronic diseases, such as hypertension, heart failure, or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, many studies demonstrate that patients could benefit from using online eHealth support systems [7-10]. Many eHealth-related research studies have indicated that patients suffering from diabetes mellitus demonstrate positive, and often significant, improvements in therapy [11-13]. As reported by Appel et al, in the case of obesity among adults, weight loss in the interventional group (which was assigned to different types of online support or assistance by telephone) was higher than in the control group without such support. Reducing the body mass index among participants for 2 years demonstrated that eHealth systems also work over longer time periods [13]. In countries with few resources concerning medical care (eg, Nigeria), mobile phones are being used to improve the health status among cancer patients who cannot afford to visit their doctor every day [14].

A recently published article concerning breast and prostate cancer reported that patients experienced significantly lower symptom distress by using eHealth modalities compared to the control group [15]. Kuijpers et al reported that the usage of eHealth may not just work for chronic diseases, but may also have a positive effect on empowerment and physical activity (and therefore on quality of life) for cancer patients [16].

Breast cancer had a worldwide incidence of approximately 1.67 million in 2012, and is one of the most likely causes of death among women [17]. The implementation of antihormonal medication in endocrine-sensitive disease, or targeted therapies for patients with a human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive carcinomas, brought significant new treatment options for women suffering from breast cancer [18]. These advances have resulted in patients undergoing oral treatments for ten years or more, during which time patients have minimal contact with their physicians.

Hershman et al were the first group to specify that early discontinuation and nonadherence during oral antihormonal therapy with tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors had a significant impact on mortality. Among all patients who were included in the study (8769), 31% discontinued therapy (early discontinuation, meaning patients discontinued therapy after 180 days elapsed from prior prescriptions) [19]. The Patient's

Anastrozole Compliance to Therapy program also reported that even adding special educational materials to standard patient information did not have a significant positive effect on compliance or persistence with adjuvant endocrine therapy in breast cancer care [20]. However, some studies using eHealth interventions to enhance adherence have demonstrated promising results regarding improvements for these problems [21]. These trials suggest that using an eHealth-based support system may have a positive effect on compliance and adherence among breast cancer patients.

Before attempting to improve the connection between physicians and their patients by using the Internet during medical care, and to ameliorate the treatment of early and metastasized breast cancer, it is necessary to first investigate physicians' general attitudes concerning new media and Internet usage. Gund et al indicated that the majority of the health care professionals queried in their study had a positive attitude towards current and future eHealth tools for out-of-hospital care for patients with chronic heart failure [22]. The Telemedical Interventional Monitoring in Heart Failure trial also indicated that eHealth acceptance among medical professionals was very high [23]. The authors also reported that it is necessary for implementation of online support systems to evaluate the acceptance among patients, but also among physicians who have a central role in disease treatment [23].

The aim of this survey was to investigate Internet usage behaviors, and usage of other modern media (eg, smartphones), among health care professionals who were involved in the treatment of patients suffering from breast cancer. This study examined how physicians were equipped with electronic devices (eg, computers, mobile phones) and how they used them in general, and for medical matters in particular. This study also examined physicians' opinions regarding future eHealth applications, and the personal demographic information given by the participants (eg, age, qualification).

Methods

This study was submitted and accepted by the local ethics committee of the medical faculty of Munich University.

Participants

Physicians involved in breast cancer treatment were invited to participate in our survey. The questionnaire was handed out to participants on two occasions in 2012: First at the COMBATing Breast Cancer conference in Munich, Germany, and later at a breast cancer-specific meeting organized by Tumor Center Munich. A paper-based questionnaire was provided for each participant. No individuals were excluded from the survey; all participants were given the opportunity to fill in the questionnaires voluntarily and anonymously.

Questionnaire

The German-language questionnaire contained 4 sheets; three listed questions and one contained information about the survey. The questionnaire was designed by the study investigators (Ludwig-Maximilians-Universitat Munich Breast Center). No physician belonging to the study group completed the questionnaire, in an effort to prevent bias.

XSL•FO

The questionnaire contained 33 items in total, separated into 3 sections. In the first section, participants were asked for general demographic information, including age, sex, place of residence and employment, year of examination, current qualifications, and medical specialty. The second section examined Internet usage in general and focused on participants' habits using the Internet for health-related topics. Participants were also interviewed regarding their possession of computers, mobile phones, and other electronic devices, how they use these technologies, and who is allowed to use these media at their place of employment (physicians only, or nurses and other co-workers). In the third section, the medical professionals were asked to state their opinions on future eHealth tools: part one asked about a telephone-hotline, which cancer patients could turn to for support; the second part contained questions focused on future support for patients using the Internet or smartphones, and collecting information regarding side effects of therapy via electronic devices. The responses for this part could be rated on a five-point scale from *agreement* (1) to *denial* (5).

Anonymity was assured by not collecting personal information such as names or birth dates. In each questionnaire, participants were asked to complete every single question, even though this was not absolutely necessary for data analyses. Each participant completed the survey once during one of the meetings. During each convention, participants were given written and verbal instructions to refrain from completing the questionnaire twice.

Statistical Analyses

Results were analyzed using IBM SPSS-Statistics. Student t-tests were used to examine differences between groups. To describe disparities between different parameters, odds ratios were used and P-values were computed with a level of significance <5%.

The questions in the questionnaire could be answered as singleor multiple-choice answers. In the third section, which focused on opinions regarding future eHealth tools, there were single answer possibilities of Grades 1 (*agreement*) to 5 (*denial*). For analytical purposes, Grades 1 and 2 were collected together as *agreement*, Grade 3 as *neutral*, and Grades 4 and 5 as *denial*.

Subgroups were formed to further examine which type of physician was most likely and willing to use the Internet or smartphone-related health support systems. Significant differences were evaluated, taking into account gender, age groups, medical facilities, qualifications, and size of the city in which physicians were employed.

Results

Participants' Sociodemographic Characteristics

A total of 120 active medical professionals completed the questionnaire, out of 154 participants who attended one of the events in which data was collected. The median age of participants was 41 years, and the cohort was 57.5% (69/120) female and 40.8% (49/120) male (Table 1). More than half (60.8%, 73/120) of all participants worked in a hospital institution; of these, 65.7% (48/73) worked in a university hospital. Approximately one quarter (26.7%, 32/120) of respondents were employed in any sort of practice. Approximately two thirds of the attendees were gynecologists (68.3%, 82/120), and 46.7% (56/120) were treating patients as gynecological oncologists. A small number of physicians with origins in other medical specializations completed the questionnaire (hematologists and oncologists: 9.2%, 11/120; radiation therapists: 7.5%, 9/120; radiologists: 1.7%, 2/120). All participants were German, which was assured by reporting the region of Germany in which participants were employed.



Table 1. Physicians' sociodemographic characteristics.

Kirkovits et al

Participants' characteristics	%	n/N
Gender	-	
Female	57.5	69/120
Male	40.8	49/120
Not available	1.7	2/120
Median age in years (range)	41 (25-68)	
Age		
20-29	16.8	19/113
30-39	23.9	27/113
40-49	30.1	34/113
50-59	22.1	25/113
60-69	7.1	8/113
Current qualification		
Medical student	2.5	3/120
Junior physician	16.7	20/120
Board certified specialist	26.7	32/120
Senior physician/head of department	21.7	26/120
Chief physician	17.5	21/120
Others	6.7	8/120
Not available	8.3	10/120
Interdisciplinary specialization		
Oncology (gynecological specialist)	46.7	56/120
General gynecology	21.7	26/120
Hematology and oncology	9.2	11/120
Radiation therapy	7.5	9/120
Radiology	1.7	2/120
General surgery	0.0	0/120
Others	9.2	11/120
Not available	4.2	5/120
Medical facility		
Ambulatory/private practice	25.8	31/120
Medical care center	0.8	1/120
General hospital	5.0	6/120
Hospital with high grade of specialization	1.7	2/120
Teaching hospital	14.2	17/120
University hospital	40.0	48/120
Others	5.0	6/120
Not available	7.5	9/120

Usage of Modern Media and Internet

Almost all participants used a telephone and 73.1% (87/119) of the participants owned a smartphone (Table 2). The ownership of private computers among physicians was very high. The most favored computer was the notebook (83.2%,

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e14/

XSL•FO RenderX 99/119), followed by 60.5% (72/119) of physicians who were in possession of a desktop personal computer. Tablet computers were owned by 31.9% (38/119) of the participants. Above age 60, the percentage of physicians owning a tablet declined to less than 12.5% (1/8). With regards to more recently developed devices, smartphones were owned by 71.3% (75/105) of the

Kirkovits et al

participants younger than 60, and by 50% (4/8) of those above 60 years of age. Most physicians (89.7%, 105/117) used the

Internet at work, and in most cases nurses and physicians' assistants were able to use the Internet at work (74.6%, 88/118).

 Table 2. Actual usage of modern media by breast cancer specialists.

Technology and media	%	n/N
Phone		
Any type of phone	99.2	119/120
Landline phone	89.9	107/119
Any mobile phone	100.0	119/119
Mobile phone (no Internet)	47.1	56/119
Apple iPhone	53.8	64/119
Smartphone using Android	13.4	16/119
Smartphone (others)	5.9	7/119
Private computer		
Any type of computer	99.2	119/120
Personal computer with Internet access	60.5	72/119
Notebook with Internet access	83.2	99/119
Apple iPAD	26.9	32/119
Tablet using Android	5.0	6/119
Tablet (others)	0.0	0/119
Internet access at workplace		
Internet access	89.7	105/117
Divided patient-network and Internet access	10.3	12/117
No Internet access	0.0	0/117
Internet usage at workplace		
Physicians	97.5	115/118
Nurses/physicians' assistants	74.6	88/118
Other coworkers	66.1	78/118
Mobile phone usage		
Always with me	78.0	92/118
Only en route	16.1	19/118
Mostly at home	0.8	1/118
Mostly out of use	5.1	6/118
Smartphone usage		
Business and private	90.9	80/88
Private only	9.1	8/88
Business only	0.0	0/88

Almost all (99.2%, 119/120) participants used the Internet for general purposes (Table 3). Approximately 84.9% (101/119) of medical professionals used the Internet in their daily routine, while the remaining 15.1% (18/119) used the Internet more than once per week. The majority of respondents took advantage of the Internet at home as well as at work. For health-related issues, the Internet was used by 98.3% (118/120) of physicians, and a smartphone was used by 38.1% (45/118) of respondents. Email

communication was the most frequently used function concerning the Internet, followed by reading online news or articles. Approximately one third of the participants (35.8%; 43/120) used the Internet for social networks and 31.7% (38/120) used the Internet for making calls via computer. Concerning health-related platforms, PubMed was the most used resource among physicians, followed by online guideline search (84.2%, 101/120) and Google (79.2%, 95/120).

RenderX

Table 3. Internet usage among breast cancer specialists.

Usage	%	n/N
Internet usage in general	99.2	119/120
Frequency of Internet use		
Daily	84.9	101/119
>Once per week	15.1	18/119
<once per="" td="" week<=""><td>0</td><td>0/119</td></once>	0	0/119
Site of Internet use		
At home only	0.9	1/115
At work only	2.6	3/115
Both	96.5	111/115
Types of Internet use		
Email	98.3	118/120
Reading news/articles online	66.7	80/120
Wikis/online encyclopedia	60.0	72/120
Gain health information	41.7	50/120
Social networks (private)	35.8	43/120
Making calls via the Internet	31.7	38/120
Educational online courses	22.5	27/120
Social networks (business)	17.5	21/120
Types of Internet use (health-related platforms)		
PubMed	87.5	105/120
Online guideline search	84.2	101/120
Google	79.2	95/120
Adjuvant!	57.5	69/120
Wikipedia	52.5	63/120
Rote Liste (collection of all medications available)	48.3	58/120
Internet usage for health-related issues		
Yes	98.3	118/120
No	1.7	2/120
Smartphone usage for health-related issues		
Yes	38.1	45/118
No	61.9	73/118

Future Use of eHealth Tools

The desire to support patients via new media was accepted by the majority of participants. Table 4 gives a view of physicians' opinions regarding future eHealth tools. Grades 1 and 2 were summed, and therefore demonstrate *agreement*, Grade 3 demonstrates *neutral*, whereas Grades 4 and 5 represent *denial*.

Two-thirds of respondents (66.4%, 79/119) favored the option of their patients using the Internet as a source of support, while more than half (51.3%, 60/117) favored therapy assistance via smartphone. The online registration of side effects via new media was favored among the majority of physicians (71.2%, 84/118).

If a system existed for the online registration of side effects, most respondents would want to be informed about problems concerning their patients' treatment via email (43.2% *agreement*, 51/118; vs 28% *denial*, 33/118) or via Internet-based platforms (35.7% *agreement*, 40/112; vs 33.0% *denial*, 37/112). Phones and fax machines were disliked for receiving information about side effects (phones: 14.0% *agreement*, 16/114; vs 67.5% *denial*, 77/114. Fax machines: 7.9% *agreement*, 9/114; vs 69.3% *denial*, 79/114).

RenderX

Table 4.	Physicians'	opinions	regarding	future	use	of	eHealth	tools.
----------	-------------	----------	-----------	--------	-----	----	---------	--------

Description	Total (N)	Agreement, % (n)		Neutral, % (n)	Denial, % (n)	
		Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5
Support for patients via Inter- net	119	28.6 (34)	37.8 (45)	22.7 (27)	0.8 (1)	10.1 (12)
Support for patients via smartphone	117	24.8 (29)	26.5 (31)	25.6 (30)	9.4 (11)	13.7 (16)
Registration of side effects via electronic devices	118	31.4 (37)	39.8 (47)	12.7 (15)	7.6 (9)	8.5 (10)
Getting information about side effects via email	118	17.8 (21)	25.4 (30)	28.8 (34)	7.5 (9)	20.0 (24)
Getting information about side effects via Internet	112	9.8 (11)	25.9 (29)	31.3 (35)	8.0 (9)	25.0 (28)
Getting information about side effects via phone	114	6.1 (7)	7.9 (9)	18.4 (21)	19.3 (22)	48.2 (55)
Getting information about side effects via fax	114	2.6 (3)	5.3 (6)	22.8 (26)	14.9 (17)	54.4 (62)

To further examine how physicians wanted to receive information regarding side effects (Table 5), only the participants who *accepted* or *disapproved* new forms of communication were considered. The majority of medical professionals who accepted online side effect registration preferred to be informed via email or the Internet.

Table 5. Acceptance of documentation of side effects via new media.

Delivery method of registered side effects	Acceptance of side effect documentation, % (n/N)	Disapproval of side effect documentation, % (n/N)
Via email	53.0 (44/83)	36.8 (7/19)
Via Internet	46.8 (36/77)	21.1 (4/19)
Via phone	12.7 (10/79)	15.8 (3/19)
Via fax	10.0 (8/80)	26.3 (5/19)

Correlations and Further Analyses

To determine if there was a typical type of physician whose affinity for new media was particularly high or low, further evaluations were undertaken (Table 6). High rates of acceptance for Internet support were evident among physicians up to the age of 60. Above age 60 there was a distinct drop in acceptance levels, although acceptance rates never declined lower than 50% in the older age group. Concerning the acceptance decreased with increasing age, with the lowest approval rates in the 50-59 age group (68.4%, 13/19). With regards to medical professionals favoring smartphones for patient support, the highest percentage (90.5%, 19/21) was found in the 30-39 age group.

According to the physicians' place of employment, those who worked in hospitals (general or university hospital) preferred support and side effect documentation via the Internet more than physicians working in out-patient practices. Concerning participants' grade of qualification, junior physicians were the most likely to use new media for patient support regarding all three eHealth methods (Internet, smartphones, and online side effect registration). Gender was not a factor that influenced physicians' opinions on Internet support. Further analysis indicated that physicians who owned a smartphone were more willing to support their patients online (odds ratio 1.70, 95% CI 1.32-20.25, P=.012) than physicians who were not in possession of such technology.



 Table 6. Subgroup-specific results for supporting patients via eHealth tools.

Characteristics	Acceptance of support via Internet, % (n/N)	Acceptance of support via smart- phone, % (n/N)	Acceptance of side effect registration, % (n/N)
Sex			
Female	85.5 (47/55)	65.5 (36/55)	80.0 (48/60)
Male	86.5 (32/37)	77.1 (27/35)	84.1 (37/44)
Age			
20-29	88.2 (15/17)	73.3 (11/15)	88.2 (15/17)
30-39	95.7 (22/23)	90.5 (19/21)	88.0 (22/25)
40-49	85.7 (24/28)	66.7 (18/27)	81.3 (26/32)
50-59	81.3 (13/16)	65.0 (13/20)	68.4 (13/19)
60-69	66.7 (4/6)	33.3 (1/3)	71.4 (5/7)
Medical facility			
Practice	78.3 (18/23)	68.2 (15/22)	76.0 (19/25)
Hospital	89.5 (17/19)	63.2 (12/19)	86.4 (19/22)
University hospital	87.2 (34/39)	73.7 (28/38)	82.2 (37/45)
Workplace city size			
Less than 1000	0.0 (0/0)	0.0 (0/0)	0.0 (0/0)
1000-9999	100.0 (2/2)	100.0 (2/2)	100.0 (3/3)
10,000-49,999	75.0 (12/16)	40.0 (6/15)	64.3 (9/14)
50,000-99,999	83.3 (5/6)	83.3 (5/6)	100.0 (7/7)
More than 100,000	88.4 (61/69)	75.8 (50/66)	82.5 (66/80)
Qualification			
Medical student	100.0 (3/3)	66.7 (2/3)	66.7 (2/3)
Resident physician	100.0 (18/18)	88.2 (15/17)	94.7 (18/19)
Medical specialist	90.9 (20/22)	72.7 (16/22)	82.1 (23/28)
Senior physician	80.0 (16/20)	59.1 (13/22)	82.6 (19/23)
Chief physician	86.7 (13/15)	71.4 (10/14)	76.5 (13/17)
Others	42.9 (3/7)	40.0 (2/5)	60.0 (3/5)

Discussion

The aim of this study was to describe Internet usage behaviors among breast cancer physicians, and to evaluate their opinions regarding future eHealth applications that may further improve breast cancer treatment. Many surveys have already demonstrated that it is possible to implement a patient support system using eHealth [7,10-13,24-31], but little is known about physicians' acceptance of such technologies. Our study provides information regarding actual Internet usage and modern media habits among gynecological oncologists, breast cancer specialists, and other physicians treating patients with breast cancer. Many surveys are being conducted in specialized centers that already make use of eHealth technologies, and therefore these physicians are considered to be interested in using modern media to communicate with their patients.

This study focused on breast cancer and oncological specialists employed in different work settings (practices and clinics), and participants were not considered to have had a great deal of

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e14/
```

RenderX

experience using eHealth technologies. Future improvements in the management of early and metastatic breast cancer may benefit from physicians' acceptance of new media, in addition to the patients using these resources themselves.

When examining general Internet usage among the participants (Table 3), almost all respondents were Internet users (99.2%, 119/120). This finding is comparable to another international study that examined physicians' characteristics regarding online database usage in regional hospitals (99.6%) [32]. Compared to the general population of Germany (where this survey was conducted), the incidence of daily Internet use (84.9%, 101/119) was higher among participants than the general population (81%) [33]. Email was favored as a communication tool by 98.3% (118/120) of survey respondents (compared to 93% of the general German population), while a similar percentage (66.7%, 80/120; vs 68%) used the Internet for reading news or articles online [33].

Examination of participants' and the general population's possession of new media indicated that a similar percentage of people owned any type of phone (99.2%, 119/120 vs 99.7%) [34]. The rate of computer ownership among medical professionals was 99.2% (119/120), which was higher than the general German population (85%) [34]. General Internet usage was lower among Germany's population (daily use 76%) compared to the participants in this survey (84.9%, 101/119)[35]. In contrast, the participants in our study belonged to a high end collective that uses the Internet and different media in their daily practice, as well as for conducting trials. It is assumed that this population owns more electronic devices (and may have more experience in using the Internet) than the general German population. By attending breast cancer-specific meetings (where this study was conducted), participants were considered to be very interested in general research, and therefore might have interests in modern media for patient support. This study only reflects the indicated use of modern media in a specific cohort of participants, which limits the broader applicability of our findings.

Although the questionnaires for this study were completed in 2012, we consider our findings to be up-to-date. General Internet usage (daily use or more than once per week) among German employees increased only 1% from 2012 to 2014 (from 96% in 2012 to 97% in 2014) [36]. Regarding the use of a computer, the percentage of the German population that owned a computer increased from 79% in 2012 to 82% in 2014 [37]. These facts indicate that there should not be a substantial change in percentages now, although we cannot easily calculate these data.

In addition to the high percentage of physicians using the Internet and being interested in future eHealth support, data was provided that 25.4% (30/118) of nurses or physicians' assistants had no access to the Internet in their workplace. Regarding this issue, we have conducted another survey, which will display nurses' opinions on eHealth and modern media use.

The typical physician that is most likely to use modern media for patient support and online therapy assistance (according to the data compiled in this study) is characterized by age <60, working in a hospital, and having the position of a junior physician (Table 6). Other characteristics (eg, gender or the population of the physicians' city) did not have an impact on opinions concerning future eHealth solutions. Chiu et al reported that age <50 is a significant factor for the usage of online databases, and that having a faculty position is a significant factor concerning online database usage [32]. This effect was not present in our study. Chiu et al also demonstrated that gender does not affect the likelihood of using the Internet for gaining information [32].

Our study indicates that there is a great deal of interest among physicians for implementing online support systems to provide additional therapy assistance. Oncologists who already owned smartphones were more willing to support their patients using this type of media for therapy management than medical professionals who did not own a smartphone. This finding indicates that physicians who are already in possession of modern media are more likely to utilize eHealth.

Implementing new eHealth tools could lead to increased adherence and compliance, reduced health care costs, and consequently to improvements in breast cancer survival, as taking medication regularly is an important factor concerning mortality [19]. eHealth may also help oncologists monitor potential side effects more directly, and thus give physicians the chance to react immediately. Such advances have the potential to improve the doctor-patient relationship and communication between breast cancer patients and their health care teams.

Further studies investigating the opinions of other occupational groups working in breast cancer treatment (eg, nurses, psychologists) regarding future inventions will be useful to introduce a more personalized, patient-oriented approach for managing side effects. Furthermore, clinical trials using eHealth support in breast cancer therapy management are needed to investigate the actual usage of modern media and supportive tools, and their impacts on compliance and outcomes. Therefore, our working group is currently developing an online support system for therapy assistance (CanKado) [38], and future trials will examine the impact of this system on breast cancer treatment. CanKado, which will be one of the first projects to provide additional patient support to breast cancer patients, is an electronic support system that aims to increase therapy success in oncology. Such technologies have the potential to increase compliance, improve doctor-patient relationships, and potentially even improve disease outcomes in the near future.

Conclusion

This survey shows a high rate of Internet and modern media usage among physicians participating in breast cancer care. Online support, as well as online side effect registration, is favored by the majority of health care professionals surveyed. The routine usage of the Internet and modern media, and trust in new interactive communication tools, may enable improvements in doctor-patient relationships as well as in compliance and adherence among patients suffering from breast cancer.

Acceptance of such technologies by patients and other health care personnel involved in therapy management (eg, nurses) is also necessary. Moreover, the actual impact of new interactive media on oncological practice can only be investigated via trials that use newly-developed online platforms (eg, the CanKado-project [38]) for patient support. In conclusion, our results suggest that eHealth tools may have a promising future in patient-physician communication, and the treatment of breast cancer.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all participants who completed the questionnaires, and therefore made this survey possible.

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e14/
```

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Eurostat. Internetzugang und Nutzung in 2013. 2013 Dec 18. Mehr als 60% der Personen in der EU28 nutzen täglich das Internet Einkommenssteuererklärung: meist genutzter E-Government Dienst URL: <u>http://europa.eu/rapid/</u> press-release STAT-13-199 de.pdf [accessed 2015-07-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6aKcc4Qd7]
- 2. Miniwatts Marketing Group. Internet World Stats. 2015 Jul 24. Usage and Population Statisitics URL: <u>http://www.internetworldstats.com/stats.htm</u> [accessed 2015-07-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6aKbyhHWt]
- 3. International Telecommunication Union. The World in 2014. 2014 Apr. ICT Facts and Figures URL: <u>http://www.itu.int/</u> en/ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/facts/ICTFactsFigures2014-e.pdf [accessed 2015-07-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6aKd0d5KV]
- 4. Eysenbach G, Kohler C. What is the prevalence of health-related searches on the World Wide Web? Qualitative and quantitative analysis of search engine queries on the Internet. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2003:225-229 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 14728167]
- 5. Eysenbach G. What is e-health? J Med Internet Res 2001;3(2):E20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3.2.e20] [Medline: 11720962]
- Fiordelli M, Diviani N, Schulz PJ. Mapping mHealth research: a decade of evolution. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(5):e95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2430] [Medline: 23697600]
- 7. Kashem A, Droogan MT, Santamore WP, Wald JW, Bove AA. Managing heart failure care using an internet-based telemedicine system. J Card Fail 2008 Mar;14(2):121-126. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2007.10.014] [Medline: 18325458]
- McKinstry B, Hanley J, Wild S, Pagliari C, Paterson M, Lewis S, et al. Telemonitoring based service redesign for the management of uncontrolled hypertension: multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2013;346:f3030 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23709583]
- Margolis KL, Asche SE, Bergdall AR, Dehmer SP, Groen SE, Kadrmas HM, et al. Effect of home blood pressure telemonitoring and pharmacist management on blood pressure control: a cluster randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2013 Jul 3;310(1):46-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.6549] [Medline: 23821088]
- 10. Holland A. Telehealth reduces hospital admission rates in patients with COPD. J Physiother 2013 Jun;59(2):129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1836-9553(13)70168-1] [Medline: 23663801]
- Paré G, Moqadem K, Pineau G, St-Hilaire C. Clinical effects of home telemonitoring in the context of diabetes, asthma, heart failure and hypertension: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(2):e21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1357] [Medline: 20554500]
- 12. Levin K, Madsen JR, Petersen I, Wanscher CE, Hangaard J. Telemedicine diabetes consultations are cost-effective, and effects on essential diabetes treatment parameters are similar to conventional treatment: 7-year results from the Svendborg Telemedicine Diabetes Project. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 May;7(3):587-595 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23759390]
- Appel LJ, Clark JM, Yeh H, Wang N, Coughlin JW, Daumit G, et al. Comparative effectiveness of weight-loss interventions in clinical practice. N Engl J Med 2011 Nov 24;365(21):1959-1968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1108660] [Medline: 22085317]
- 14. Odigie VI, Yusufu LM, Dawotola DA, Ejagwulu F, Abur P, Mai A, et al. The mobile phone as a tool in improving cancer care in Nigeria. Psychooncology 2012 Mar;21(3):332-335. [doi: 10.1002/pon.1894] [Medline: 22383275]
- Ruland CM, Andersen T, Jeneson A, Moore S, Grimsbø GH, Børøsund E, et al. Effects of an internet support system to assist cancer patients in reducing symptom distress: a randomized controlled trial. Cancer Nurs 2013;36(1):6-17. [doi: <u>10.1097/NCC.0b013e31824d90d4</u>] [Medline: <u>22495503</u>]
- Kuijpers W, Groen WG, Aaronson NK, van Harten WH. A systematic review of web-based interventions for patient empowerment and physical activity in chronic diseases: relevance for cancer survivors. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(2):e37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2281] [Medline: 23425685]
- 17. World Health Organization. Breast Cancer Estimated Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide in 2012. 2012. URL: http://globocan.iarc.fr/old/FactSheets/cancers/breast-new.asp [WebCite Cache ID 6aKrqTle9]
- Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thürlimann B, et al. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. Ann Oncol 2013 Sep;24(9):2206-2223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdt303] [Medline: 23917950]
- Hershman DL, Shao T, Kushi LH, Buono D, Tsai WY, Fehrenbacher L, et al. Early discontinuation and non-adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy are associated with increased mortality in women with breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011 Apr;126(2):529-537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-010-1132-4] [Medline: 20803066]
- Hadji P, Blettner M, Harbeck N, Jackisch C, Lück H, Windemuth-Kieselbach C, et al. The Patient's Anastrozole Compliance to Therapy (PACT) Program: a randomized, in-practice study on the impact of a standardized information program on persistence and compliance to adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer. Ann Oncol 2013 Jun;24(6):1505-1512 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds653] [Medline: 23378537]

RenderX

- Linn AJ, Vervloet M, van DL, Smit EG, Van Weert JC. Effects of eHealth interventions on medication adherence: a systematic review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(4):e103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1738] [Medline: 22138112]
- Gund A, Lindecrantz K, Schaufelberger M, Patel H, Sjöqvist BA. Attitudes among healthcare professionals towards ICT and home follow-up in chronic heart failure care. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012;12:138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-138] [Medline: 23190602]
- 23. Prescher S, Deckwart O, Winkler S, Koehler K, Honold M, Koehler F. Telemedical care: feasibility and perception of the patients and physicians: a survey-based acceptance analysis of the Telemedical Interventional Monitoring in Heart Failure (TIM-HF) trial. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2013 Jun;20(2 Suppl):18-24. [doi: 10.1177/2047487313487483e] [Medline: 23702987]
- 24. El-Gayar O, Timsina P, Nawar N, Eid W. A systematic review of IT for diabetes self-management: are we there yet? Int J Med Inform 2013 Aug;82(8):637-652. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.05.006</u>] [Medline: <u>23792137</u>]
- 25. González C, Herrero P, Cubero JM, Iniesta JM, Hernando ME, García-Sáez G, et al. PREDIRCAM eHealth platform for individualized telemedical assistance for lifestyle modification in the treatment of obesity, diabetes, and cardiometabolic risk prevention: a pilot study (PREDIRCAM 1). J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 Jul;7(4):888-897 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23911170]
- 26. Hayakawa M, Uchimura Y, Omae K, Waki K, Fujita H, Ohe K. A smartphone-based medication self-management system with realtime medication monitoring. Appl Clin Inform 2013;4(1):37-52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2012-10-RA-0045] [Medline: 23650486]
- 27. Hilty DM, Ferrer DC, Parish MB, Johnston B, Callahan EJ, Yellowlees PM. The effectiveness of telemental health: a 2013 review. Telemed J E Health 2013 Jun;19(6):444-454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0075] [Medline: 23697504]
- 28. Høifødt RS, Lillevoll KR, Griffiths KM, Wilsgaard T, Eisemann M, Waterloo K, et al. The clinical effectiveness of web-based cognitive behavioral therapy with face-to-face therapist support for depressed primary care patients: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(8):e153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2714] [Medline: 23916965]
- 29. Johansson T, Wild C. Telerehabilitation in stroke care--a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(1):1-6. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2010.100105] [Medline: 21097560]
- Van Hooff R, Cambron M, Van Dyck R, De Smedt A, Moens M, Espinoza AV, et al. Prehospital unassisted assessment of stroke severity using telemedicine: a feasibility study. Stroke 2013 Oct;44(10):2907-2909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.002079] [Medline: 23920013]
- 31. Marcolino MS, Maia JX, Alkmim MB, Boersma E, Ribeiro AL. Telemedicine application in the care of diabetes patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2013;8(11):e79246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079246] [Medline: 24250826]
- 32. Chiu Y, Weng Y, Lo H, Ting H, Hsu C, Shih Y, et al. Physicians' characteristics in the usage of online database: a representative nationwide survey of regional hospitals in Taiwan. Inform Health Soc Care 2009 Sep;34(3):127-135. [doi: 10.1080/17538150903102372] [Medline: 19670003]
- Statistisches Bundesamt. DESTATIS Statistisches Bundesamt Deutschland. 2013. Personen ab 6 Jahre, die das Internet im 1. Quartal genutzt haben. Deutschland, Jahre, Soziale Stellung, Nutzung des Internet URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/</u> <u>Startseite.html</u> [accessed 2015-09-07] [WebCite Cache ID 1441626574953075]
- 34. Statistisches Bundesamt. DESTATIS Statistisches Bundesamt Deutschland. 2013. Ausstattung privater Haushalte mit Informations- und Kommunikationstechnik, Deutschland URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/</u> <u>EinkommenKonsumLebensbedingungen/AusstattungGebrauchsguetern/Tabellen/Infotechnik_D.html</u>, [accessed 2015-09-07] [WebCite Cache ID 6cT8kBOTu]
- Statistisches Bundesamt. DESTATIS Statistisches Bundesamt Deutschland. 2012. IT-Nutzung; private Nutzung von Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologien 2012 URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/Startseite.html</u> [accessed 2015-09-07] [WebCite Cache ID 1441625905202325]
- 36. Statistisches Bundesamt. DESTATIS Statistisches Bundesamt Deutschland. 2012. Personen ab 16 Jahre, die das Internet im 1 Quartal genutzt haben: Deutschland, Jahre, Soziale Stellung, Nutzung des Internet URL: <u>https://www-genesis.destatis.de/ genesis/online;jsessionid=9A78D0565235525D2CECC56896C0C4FB.</u> <u>tomcat_GO_1_1?operation=previous&levelindex=3&levelid=1441626189732&step=3</u> [accessed 2015-09-07] [WebCite Cache ID 1441626574953075]
- 37. Statistisches Bundesamt. DESTATIS Statistisches Bundesamt Deutschland. 2014. Computer- und Internetnutzung im ersten Quartal des jeweiligen Jahres von Personen ab 10 Jahren URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/</u> <u>EinkommenKonsumLebensbedingungen/ITNutzung/Tabellen/ZeitvergleichComputernutzung_IKT.html</u> [accessed 2015-09-07] [WebCite Cache ID 6cT7kxrTS]
- 38. CanKado. 2015. URL: https://cankado.com/de/ [accessed 2015-10-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6cSyFd2KC]

Abbreviations

eHealth: electronic health



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.09.15; peer-reviewed by W van Harten, R Brouns; comments to author 18.10.15; revised version received 03.08.16; accepted 21.08.16; published 19.09.16. <u>Please cite as:</u> Kirkovits T, Schinkoethe T, Drewes C, Gehring C, Bauerfeind I, Harbeck N, Wuerstlein R eHealth in Modern Patient-Caregiver Communication: High Rate of Acceptance Among Physicians for Additional Support of Breast Cancer Patients During Long-Term Therapy JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e14 URL: http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e14/ doi:10.2196/cancer.5132 PMID:28410173

©Thomas Kirkovits, Timo Schinkoethe, Caroline Drewes, Caroline Gehring, Ingo Bauerfeind, Nadia Harbeck, Rachel Wuerstlein. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 19.09.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Clinical Trial Electronic Portals for Expedited Safety Reporting: Recommendations from the Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative Investigational New Drug Safety Advancement Project

Raymond P Perez¹, MD; Shanda Finnigan², MPH, RN, CCRC; Krupa Patel³, BS; Shanell Whitney⁴, BS; Annemarie Forrest⁵, RN, MS, MPH

¹The University of Kansas Cancer Center, Kansas City, KS, United States
 ²National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States
 ³Merck Research Laboratories, Sudbury, MA, United States
 ⁴Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, IN, United States
 ⁵Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative, Durham, NC, United States

Corresponding Author:

Annemarie Forrest, RN, MS, MPH Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative 300 W Morgan St, Suite 800 Durham, NC United States Phone: 1 919 943 0358 Fax: 1 919 668 7039 Email: annemarie.forrest@duke.edu

Abstract

Background: Use of electronic clinical trial portals has increased in recent years to assist with sponsor-investigator communication, safety reporting, and clinical trial management. Electronic portals can help reduce time and costs associated with processing paperwork and add security measures; however, there is a lack of information on clinical trial investigative staff's perceived challenges and benefits of using portals.

Objective: The Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative (CTTI) sought to (1) identify challenges to investigator receipt and management of investigational new drug (IND) safety reports at oncologic investigative sites and coordinating centers and (2) facilitate adoption of best practices for communicating and managing IND safety reports using electronic portals.

Methods: CTTI, a public-private partnership to improve the conduct of clinical trials, distributed surveys and conducted interviews in an opinion-gathering effort to record investigator and research staff views on electronic portals in the context of the new safety reporting requirements described in the US Food and Drug Administration's final rule (Code of Federal Regulations Title 21 Section 312). The project focused on receipt, management, and review of safety reports as opposed to the reporting of adverse events.

Results: The top challenge investigators and staff identified in using individual sponsor portals was remembering several complex individual passwords to access each site. Also, certain tasks are time-consuming (eg, downloading reports) due to slow sites or difficulties associated with particular operating systems or software. To improve user experiences, respondents suggested that portals function independently of browsers and operating systems, have intuitive interfaces with easy navigation, and incorporate additional features that would allow users to filter, search, and batch safety reports.

Conclusions: Results indicate that an ideal system for sharing expedited IND safety information is through a central portal used by all sponsors. Until this is feasible, electronic reporting portals should at least have consistent functionality. CTTI has issued recommendations to improve the quality and use of electronic portals.

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e16) doi: 10.2196/cancer.6701

KEYWORDS

RenderX

clinical trials; investigational new drug application; risk management

Introduction

Safety reporting is a necessary element of clinical trials to help ensure patient safety during the investigation of a new drug or medical device. With advances in technology, safety reporting, along with other clinical trial data reporting, is moving to electronic formats from being largely paper-based. To encourage electronic submissions and integration of other technological capabilities into trial document management, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has previously released guidance on electronic submissions and source data [1,2].

Aligned with this progress is the increased use of electronic portals to facilitate communication between sponsors and the investigative staff during clinical trials. Few publications in the scholarly literature have focused on portals; however, it is acknowledged within the clinical research field that use of portals is proliferating. Typically, clinical trial portals are developed by sponsors or contract research organizations (CRO) to provide a centralized location for trial-specific documents and information (eg, regulatory and safety documents, protocols, investigator brochures). Using clinical trial portals can reduce the time and cost associated with processing paperwork, among other advantages. The portal also provides increased security with document management and communication through the use of log-in identification and password protection. Once the portals are developed, investigators are given access to the portal through specific log-in credentials. Investigators can access trial-specific documents provided by the sponsor or CRO. Throughout the trial, investigators periodically log in to review safety reports.

The Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative (CTTI) is a public-private partnership whose mission is to develop and drive adoption of practices that will increase the quality and efficiency of clinical trials. CTTI initiated the investigation new drug (IND) Safety Advancement Project to investigate barriers to implementation of the FDA final rule on expedited IND safety reporting (Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] Title 21 Part 312) and propose solutions to address identified barriers, from the perspective of both investigators and sponsors. The project focused specifically on oncology research, where these issues tend to be most acute.

Evidence gathered during the project indicated that investigators have difficulty using clinical trial portals and that portals may contribute to confusion and burden investigators' experience related to the IND safety reporting system. Therefore, the CTTI project team sought to identify best practices for managing IND safety reports using electronic portals and formulated recommendations based on data collected through evidence-gathering activities.

Methods

Approach

The IND Safety Advancement Project team included 20 individuals representing a wide range of stakeholders, including industry, academic institutions, institutional review board (IRB), regulatory, patient advocate, and other perspectives; all groups were considered equal partners. The primary focus of the project was to investigate barriers related to the lack of implementation of the final rule (21 CFR 312) and provide recommendations for better compliance; however, a portion of this project was specifically devoted to addressing the use of clinical trial portals. The team employed 3 main research strategies to gather evidence: surveys, expert interviews, and an expert meeting.

Survey

An online survey was designed to assess challenges related to cancer researcher management of IND safety reporting processes, with a subset of questions about the specific challenges related to use of electronic portals to manage safety reports (Textbox 1). The survey was distributed to contact networks via CTTI, the American Society of Clinical Oncology, the American Association of Cancer Institutes, and the US Oncology Network. Recipients were encouraged to freely forward the survey to colleagues; because no data is available describing the number of potential respondents who had access to the survey, a formal response rate cannot be determined. To establish face validity, the survey was reviewed and pilot-tested on a subset of the intended population, but no formal validation or internal consistency checks were performed. Participation was voluntary, anonymous, and uncompensated. The survey was distributed via Constant Contact, an online marketing company, and completed through Qualtrics. Survey data collected from November 18, 2014, through December 30, 2014, were aggregated by the Duke Center for Learning Health Care and distributed to project team members for descriptive analysis. The complete survey can be viewed online [3].

Textbox 1. Survey questions on clinical trial portals.

Questions on current issues:

- If IND safety reports are distributed via a sponsor safety reporting portal, do you have difficulty accessing the IND safety reporting portal?
- Please describe the difficulty you have accessing the IND safety reporting portal.

Questions on suggestions for improvement:

- What things about the current IND safety reporting system should be changed?
- If you were starting from scratch, what would an ideal IND safety reporting system look like?

Qualitative Interviews

A total of 20 in-depth, hour-long interviews were conducted by a professional interviewer as an opinion-gathering effort to more fully understand sponsor and investigative staff perspectives on the management of IND safety reporting processes. Interview participants who were considered experts in the topic were approached by CTTI. Survey respondents were also able to volunteer for interview participation. In January and February 2015, 13 individuals representing investigative staff working on oncology clinical trials and 7 pharmacovigilance leaders from 5 large global pharmaceutical companies were interviewed. Prepared questions were included in an interview guide [4]. The goal was to understand the receipt and management of safety reports. None of the questions explicitly asked about the desired features of clinical trial portals; however, interview respondents were free to comment on their experiences with trial portals and were encouraged to elaborate on current challenges and suggestions for improvement.

The project, including the surveys and interview guides, was designated as exempt research by the Duke University IRB.

Expert Meeting

The IND Safety Advancement Project team analyzed survey results and interviews, developed draft recommendations based on responses, and presented this information at a 2-day expert meeting in July 2015 attended by 47 individuals representing a variety of clinical trial stakeholders. Discussion from the meeting was used by the project team to refine the recommendations through iterative, consensus-driven discussion, and they were approved by CTTI's Executive Committee prior to official release (December 2015) [5]. Approximately half of 1 meeting day was devoted to discussing the common problems with and desired features for clinical trial portals. A summary of the expert meeting is available online [6].

Results

Overview

The survey had 201 respondents. The majority of the respondent population had academic or community-based research backgrounds with more than 10 years of clinical trial experience. A majority of the respondent-affiliated organizations conducted more than 30 studies concurrently and represented all phases of clinical trial development sponsored by industry and government. Full results of the survey and interviews are being reported concurrently elsewhere [7]. This manuscript focuses only on data related to clinical trial portal use.

Current Issues

Responses from investigators and other study staff indicate that 80% (33/41) of investigators and 92% (133/144) of study staff received IND safety reports through portals. Approximately half (21/41, 51%) of investigators and 44% (64/144) of staff reported difficulty accessing sponsors' IND safety reporting

portals. When survey respondents were asked to provide free-text responses specifying difficulties encountered accessing a portal, a common answer was the problem of remembering passwords for numerous individual sponsor portals. Other difficulties voiced by respondents were challenges with operating systems, software compatibility, and differing application versions. Respondents indicated that many interfaces are difficult to navigate and do not incorporate intuitive design elements. Additionally, many portals have slow processing times, and their applications often crash or fail. For these reasons, downloading reports can be time-consuming for the investigative staff. Finally, respondents noted that generic email notifications are not particularly helpful and many choose to block these emails. The top-rated challenges were as follows:

- Remembering numerous, complex passwords for individual sponsor portals
- Encountering problems related to different operating systems, software compatibility, and application versioning
- Navigating through nonintuitive user interfaces and slow sites
- Encountering log-in or site issues due to investigative staff turnover
- Receiving too many generic email notifications
- Time-consuming process of downloading reports

Although distribution of streamlined reports via electronic portals was intended to improve the efficiency of the safety reporting process, interviewees from investigative sites reported that they continue to receive an unmanageable volume of IND safety reports. Active sites described the volume of reports as "staggering."

Beneficial and Desired Features

Respondents described a number of benefits related to use of portals for safety reporting, including automatic notifications of trends or unexpected adverse events, which help guide treatment decisions for patients. Investigative staff indicated that it was easier to identify risks when reports were submitted through the portal. Summary reporting and the defined attribution and causality available on the portal can help filter the safety information for study staff. With enhanced signal detection, the investigative staff can identify information that may generate important changes to the protocol or consent and help them make determinations on the utility of the study and other risk/benefit assessments. Additionally, electronic reports are more efficient and easier to retain and track.

The attributes displayed in Textbox 2 were identified as important and desired features of electronic portals based on the project team's analysis of the survey responses, which highlighted the inconsistent functionality with current portals. These desired attributes can be categorized as improving (1) the overall system functionality, (2) the user interface, (3) report management and analysis, and (4) report notification, acknowledgement, and verification.



Textbox 2. Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative official recommendations for attributes of electronic portals for expedited safety reporting: categories and desired features.

Overall system functionality:

- Cross-browser compatibility; portal works seamlessly with all commonly used browsers
- Operating system independent
- Mobile-friendly
- Quick report download time (ie, externally hosted, cloud-based)
- Simplified security management system (eg, end-user control over password management, biometric identification in lieu of passwords, and/or ability to integrate with various identity access applications)

User interface:

- Intuitive, easy-to-navigate interface requiring few clicks to access safety reports directly or via hyperlink contained in an email notification
- Flexibility within the portal for use with varied institutional processes

Report management and analysis:

- Print reports or download multiple reports with one click to a compact disc, computer, or electronic investigator site file
- Filter reports by event so follow-up safety reports do not appear as new events
- Search and display safety reports using custom dates, by country of origin and/or event name
- Export single reports as well as aggregated data
- Drill down to access single reports and write-ups
- Reports remain visible for the life of the trial

Report notification, acknowledgment, and verification:

- Ability to batch safety report notifications (per day/week) per investigative site user's preference
- Ability for principal investigator to delegate the task of accessing safety reports via portal to another person at the site
- Easy acknowledgement of safety reports by investigative site staff (eg, click on a link to the report, check a box, or check-all option)
- Ability to send and record acknowledgement of a safety report only once across multiple trials for the same investigational product yet still show the report under each trial
- End-to-end audit trail that can be printed and saved or stored for future reference by both the sponsor and investigative site
- Ability of the sponsor to document delivery of reports within the portal if an alternative means of reporting is required (ie, the sponsor cannot access the portal and requires hard copy)
- Two-way communication between the investigative site and sponsor regarding safety reports

Discussion

Summary

As described elsewhere [8], investigative sites are still being inundated with individual safety reports despite new reporting requirements issued in the final rule. A priority for investigators is to identify and review important safety signals to help ensure patient safety during a trial; this can be particularly challenging when there is a large volume of lengthy paper-based reports. Electronic portals have features that can assist with filtering reports, easing the burden on investigators; however, in the opinion of the investigative staff, certain features still need improvement.

Survey results indicated that an ideal system for sharing expedited IND safety information with investigative sites is through a central portal used by all sponsors in order to improve efficiency and reduce paperwork burden (recognizing that electronic systems may not be feasible for all study sponsors).

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e16/

This approach may reduce the number of passwords and avoid technological issues (eg, software incompatibility) by standardizing the use of a central portal. While literature describing clinical trial portal use is limited, some reports validate survey respondents' perceived obstacles, indicating that investigative staff and investigators struggle to recall 7 to 15 passwords per individual user [9]. Until use of a single, central portal is feasible, electronic reporting portals should at least have consistent functionality.

The attributes listed in Textbox 2 are suggested to increase portal efficiency and ease of use. As noted, important features include the following:

- Browser and operating system independence so that all users can access the portal regardless of software preferences
- An intuitive interface that is clearly labeled and provides easy navigation

- Ability to filter and search reports to quickly access only the relevant documents needed at the time
- Increased functionality to batch reports so that all files can be downloaded simultaneously
- Ability to acknowledge receipt quickly with a check-box option and to update this acknowledgement across multiple trials for the same product

Portal features to more accurately track audit trails can be particularly helpful, as reports can be categorized or searched by date, number, compound, trial number, upload/availability date, download/access date, identity of users who accessed the report, and any actions (eg, downloading, printing, saving) conducted by a specific user. As indicated in Textbox 2, notifications can be useful for study staff; however, given the high volume of reports received, some may be treated as spam. Another desired feature could provide a reminder to designate the source of the email so that it is routed and recognized appropriately. Currently, CTTI does not recommend an electronic signature requirement by the principal investigator or other investigative staff to access portal content, which is consistent with the FDA guidance.

To support appropriate use of the portal, CTTI also recommends that there be improved education for investigative sites including guidance not only on portal functionality but also regarding best practices for incorporating portal management into site report management processes. Finally, we recommend usability testing for portal-related educational material.

Limitations

The main limitation of the study that should be acknowledged is the small sample size that was selected by convenience, which may be susceptible to bias. Additionally, survey response rate was not able to be determined. CTTI acknowledges these shortcomings and that this research is exploratory and qualitative in nature and not statistically measureable. However, change often begins with small steps, and it is our hope that this research sparks a broader discussion across the industry. CTTI encourages additional research on this topic. The perspectives described in this manuscript are descriptive; in order to be conclusive, an appropriately powered study would need to be conducted. CTTI and other independent organizations cannot require that sponsors adopt recommendations nor mandate inclusion or standardization of portal features, which is why we urge portal developers to consider the perspectives of the portal users to drive change.

Industry technology companies are investing in integrating sponsor trial portals with enhanced capabilities including interactive voice response, electronic data capture, clinical trial management systems, and investigator databases [9,10]. The ability to quickly identify and access individual reports can reduce workload burden and time spent searching considerably; however, it is important to assess how a newly introduced portal affects overall workflow of the study team. CTTI suggests that investigative site users receive more and improved education, including guidance on portal functionality in addition to best practices for incorporating portal management into site report management processes. Depending on the changes, portal management may need to be reevaluated. Finally, CTTI suggests performing usability testing for portal-related educational material in order to maximize the benefits of electronic portal use for IND safety reporting.

Conclusions

The suggestions provided in this manuscript have been released as CTTI recommendations [5]. CTTI believes these recommendations are timely, as a number of groups are currently working on the functionality of clinical trial portals. TransCelerate BioPharma Inc is one example; as noted in their press release, they have launched "a technology that will allow clinical trial sites to streamline investigative site information and establish a central access point for interaction between the site and multiple clinical trial sponsors" [10]. It is our hope that these and similar efforts will improve clinical trial portals. These recommendations combined with this description of desired features, along with other CTTI-developed educational materials, will be disseminated to stakeholders and the public through publications, presentations, and the CTTI website. The recommendations are intended to improve clinical trial portal development, access, and functionality and to enhance user experience overall. Clinical trial portals designed to address the current barriers can also save money for sponsors because they would no longer need alternate processes for safety reporting receipt and management; could increase site user satisfaction, compliance, and tracking; and may help investigators take immediate action on patient safety issues.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the contributions of the CTTI IND Safety Advancement Project team and those individuals who participated in the surveys and interviews. Writing assistance was provided by Kelly Kilibarda, PhD, in affiliation with Whitsell Innovations Inc.

Funding for this manuscript was made possible by the FDA through grant R18FD005292. Views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the official policies of the US Department of Health and Human Services nor does any mention of trade names, commercial practices, or organizations imply endorsement by the US government. Partial funding was also provided by pooled membership fees from CTTI's member organizations.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- Food and Drug Administration. Electronic Source Data in Clinical Investigations (Guidance for Industry). 2013. URL: <u>http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/UCM328691.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-12-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6mXWgJsut]
- Food and Drug Administration. Providing Regulatory Submissions in Electronic Format—Standardized Study Data (Guidance for Industry). 2014. URL: <u>http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/</u> <u>UCM292334.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-12-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6mXXOL3in]
- Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative. Investigator survey. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.ctti-clinicaltrials.org/sites/</u> www.ctti-clinicaltrials.org/files/final_ctti__ind_sa_investigators_survey.docx [accessed 2016-09-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6kUdAeDmy]
- 4. Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative. Investigator interview questions. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.ctti-clinicaltrials.org/</u> <u>sites/www.ctti-clinicaltrials.org/files/ind_sa_investigator_interview_questions_2jan15.docx</u> [accessed 2016-09-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6kUgjVOKv]
- 5. Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative. CTTI recommendations: desired attributes of electronic portals for expedited safety reporting. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.ctti-clinicaltrials.org/file/e-portal-recspdf-0</u> [accessed 2016-12-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6mXXIFMGE]
- 6. Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative. Expert Meeting Summary. URL: <u>https://www.ctti-clinicaltrials.org/</u> [accessed 2016-12-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6mXZ6ELTf]
- 7. Perez R, Archdeacon P, Roach N, Goodwin R, Jarow J, Stuccio N, et al. Sponsors' and investigative staff's perceptions of the current IND safety reporting process in oncology trials (forthcoming). Clinical Trials 2016.
- 8. Perez R, The Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative IND Safety Advancement Project Team. Findings from the Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative IND Safety Reporting Advancement Project. 2015 Presented at: ASCO Annual Meeting; 2015; Chicago.
- 9. Borfitz D. Trial Portal Tightens Bond with Investigative Sites. URL: <u>http://www.bio-itworld.com/bioit_article.</u> aspx?id=93544&langtype=1033 [WebCite Cache ID 6kUdlyRaP]
- 10. TransCelerate BioPharma Launches the Shared Investigator Platform to Revolutionize Communications between Sites and Sponsor. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20160120005463/en</u> [accessed 2016-12-06] [WebCite Cache ID 6kUeEqTm5]

Abbreviations

CFR: Code of Federal Regulations **CRO:** contract research organization **CTTI:** Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative **FDA:** Food and Drug Administration **IND:** investigational new drug **IRB:** institutional review board

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 27.09.16; peer-reviewed by S Colen, A Bustos; comments to author 01.11.16; revised version received 29.11.16; accepted 01.12.16; published 15.12.16.

Please cite as:

Perez RP, Finnigan S, Patel K, Whitney S, Forrest A Clinical Trial Electronic Portals for Expedited Safety Reporting: Recommendations from the Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative Investigational New Drug Safety Advancement Project JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e16 URL: http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e16/ doi:10.2196/cancer.6701 PMID:28410179

©Raymond P Perez, Shanda Finnigan, Krupa Patel, Shanell Whitney, Annemarie Forrest. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 15.12.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

RenderX

Original Paper

EHealth Acceptance and New Media Preferences for Therapy Assistance Among Breast Cancer Patients

Caroline Drewes¹; Thomas Kirkovits¹; Daniel Schiltz¹; Timo Schinkoethe¹, MSc, PhD; Renate Haidinger²; Ursula Goldmann-Posch^{3†}; Nadia Harbeck¹, MD; Rachel Wuerstlein¹, MD

¹Breast Center, University Hospital Munich, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, CCC of LMU, Munich, Germany

²Brustkrebs Deutschland e.V., Munich, Ulm, Germany

³Mamazone e.V., Munich, Augsburg, Germany

[†]deceased

Corresponding Author:

Rachel Wuerstlein, MD Breast Center, University Hospital Munich Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, CCC of LMU Marchioninistrasse 15 Munich, 81377 Germany Phone: 49 89 4400 77581 Fax: 49 89 4400 77582 Email: rachel.wuerstlein@med.uni-muenchen.de

Abstract

Background: Electronic health (eHealth) and mobile communication-based health care (mHealth) applications have been increasingly utilized in medicine over the last decade, and have facilitated improved adherence to therapy regimens in patients with chronic conditions. Due to the long duration of breast cancer therapy, and the long course of disease in metastatic breast cancer, a need for more intensified physician-patient communication has emerged. Various support mechanisms, including new media such as mHealth and eHealth, have been proposed for this purpose.

Objective: The aim of this study was to analyze the correlation between sociodemographic factors, as well as health status of breast cancer patients, and their current utilization of new media, or their willingness to use Internet and mobile phone apps for improvement of therapy management.

Methods: The survey for this study was conducted anonymously during the 2012 Mamazone Projekt Diplompatient meeting (Augsburg, Germany), which hosted approximately 375 participants per day. A total of 168 questionnaires were completed. The questionnaire aimed to assess sociodemographic status, disease patterns, and current use of new media (ie, Internet, mobile phone, and mobile phone apps) in breast cancer patients. Habits and frequency of use for these new technologies, as well as patients' affinity towards eHealth and mHealth tools for therapy management improvement, were investigated.

Results: Almost all participants used the Internet (95.8%, 161/168), with 91.5% (151/165) also utilizing this technology for health-related issues. Approximately 23% (38/168) of respondents owned a mobile phone. When asked about their preferences for therapy assistance, 67.3% (113/168) of respondents were interested in assistance via the Internet, 25.0% (42/168) via mobile phone, and 73.2% (123/168) via call center. Patients diagnosed with breast cancer <5 years before the survey were significantly more interested in a call center than patients diagnosed >5 years before survey participation.

Conclusions: The vast majority of breast cancer patients accept the Internet for therapy assistance, which indicates that eHealth is a promising medium to improve patient-physician communication. Such technologies may improve individual disease management and ultimately lead to an enhanced adherence to therapy regimens.

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e13) doi:10.2196/cancer.5711

KEYWORDS

eHealth; mHealth; breast cancer; adherence; compliance; new media; therapy improvement



Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women, with a worldwide incidence of 1.4 million in 2008 [1]. In Germany, the mean age of breast cancer patients is 65 years, but 25% of newly diagnosed women in 2008 were younger than 55 years of age [2]. Due to early diagnoses and therapy advances such as adjuvant endocrine therapy, breast cancer survival rates have increased [3]. Patients with potentially curable breast cancer may be viewed as having a chronic disease, due to adverse treatment effects, other co-morbidities, and the burden of having a life-threatening disease that might recur [4]. Endocrine agents are useful breast cancer treatments, but therapy duration is crucial for optimal treatment benefit [5]. A study by Hadji et al revealed that breast cancer patients with a poor compliance to drug regimens are at high risk for early treatment discontinuation [6]. Thus, despite improved survival rates, breast cancer patients are still at risk for cancer recurrence [7], partly due to improper therapy usage. The long duration of adjuvant therapies may lead to diminished patient adherence (the World Health Organization Adherence Meeting defined adherence as the extent to which the patient follows the prescribed instructions [8]) and thus poor health outcomes. Increased adherence may lead to better health outcomes and decreased health care costs [8].

New technologies offer promising strategies to reduce treatment nonadherence. The Internet has become increasingly important and relevant for health-related purposes. In 2013, the Federal Statistical Office estimated that 79% of the population had Internet access in Germany, and Internet use had increased from 65% in 2006 to 79% in 2013 [9]. Another survey stated that almost two thirds of German Internet users search for health information online [10]. Kummervold et al reported that the sources that patients use for health information have changed (with a transition to the Internet), and consequently there was a decrease in patients contacting health professionals [11]. Rozenblum states that the Internet has become a powerful tool for communication and involvement of patients in their own health care [12].

Fogel and colleagues demonstrated a supportive benefit among Internet users with breast cancer [13], leading to more individual responsibility. Patients feeling insecure or overwhelmed during their face-to-face visits can better concentrate, and feel more motivated to ask questions or retrieve information, when communicating by email [14]. Breast cancer diagnoses often cause differing levels of depression, anxiety, and distress (even years after the initial diagnosis), necessitating further patient support [15]. In addition, by providing clear and accurate informative websites, breast cancer patients feel more prepared for their diagnoses [16]. Ybarra et al described the influence of health-related websites as an important influence on patient behavior, leading to less anxiety and increased self-efficacy [17].

Another effect that can be facilitated by new media is *self-management*. Self-management of patients leads to a more actively involved patient population and positively affects chronic disease management [18,19]. However, the prospective Patients' Anastrozole Compliance to Therapy study

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e13/
```

XSL•FC

demonstrated that the mere provision of educational material (without an interactive component) did not significantly improve compliance with aromatase inhibitor therapy in postmenopausal women with early, hormone receptor-positive, breast cancer [20]. Nevertheless, patients who truly understand their therapy concept may better adopt their care plans, and thus have enhanced adherence, if a more interactive approach is taken. The Internet already plays an established role in such interventions by conveying personalized messages [21]. Furthermore, mobile communication-based health care (mHealth) represents a highly developed tool, and another way to meet the challenges encountered in medicine. In Germany, 44.0 million people owned a mobile phone in 2015 [22], and according to an American survey, 25% of all mobile phone owners already use health care apps [23]. In order to monitor adherence, Morak et al proposed to record the intake of prescribed medication via mobile phone apps [24]. In a review, Fiordelli et al stated that the number of articles discussing mHealth has substantially increased over the last 5 years, and that the main focus of mHealth research is chronic conditions [25].

New technologies may provide an opportunity to improve physician-patient communication and secure better data exchanges. Furthermore, patient education and self-management may be achieved using electronic health (eHealth) and mHealth, eventually leading to better clinical outcomes. While many studies have already analyzed nonadherence in chronic diseases, few have focused on factors influencing breast cancer patients' affinity towards modern technologies. This study aims to identify breast cancer patients' sociodemographic and health factors influencing their affinity towards new media (ie, Internet, mobile phone apps, call centers), and their willingness to use such technologies for health-related problems.

Methods

Questionnaire

A German-language questionnaire was developed with the support of Mamazone and Brustkrebs Deutschland, two large German breast cancer advocacy groups. The questionnaire consisted of 33 items. To prevent any selection bias, the questionnaire was designed as a paper-based handout. This study was approved by the local ethics committee of the Ludwig Maximilian University. The questionnaire contained four parts: closed questions with different choices (parts 1, 2, and 4) and questions with multiple possible answers (part 3).

Part 1 included six sociodemographic items regarding age, sex, residential area (by postal code) and population, number of people per household, education, and employment. Education was divided into either junior high school (9 or 11 years of school attendance) or senior high school (13 years of school attendance). Patients with a university or doctoral degree were added to the group of patients who had a senior high school degree, since a senior high school diploma is a prerequisite for university studies or a doctoral degree.

Part 2 focused on the patient's health condition by examining the following parameters: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group

(ECOG) score, diagnosis of breast cancer, time since initial diagnosis, metastatic status, therapy, diagnosis of other cancer, and menopausal status. ECOG was used to measure patients' current and subjective well-being and disease-related impairment of their daily life. The measure ranges from 0 to 5 (0=no restrictions from disease, 1=restriction in physically strenuous activity, 2=capable of self-care but unable to carry out work activities, 3=capable of only limited self-care, 4=incapable of self-care, and 5=deceased) [26].

Part 3 assessed the frequency of technology usage, including mobile phones, computers, the Internet, and apps via questions such as, "*Which types of electronic equipment do you possess: telephone, computer?*" Mobile phone and Internet habits were also examined.

Part 4 measured patients' interest in future interactions with new media. This section assessed patients' interest in purchasing a mobile phone for health support in general, the acceptance of therapy assistance via the Internet and/or mobile phone, the approval of the Internet and/or mobile phone for side effect documentation, and the acceptance of call centers for support (call centers that contact patients to ask for their well-being vs call centers that automatically transfer information to the physician). Answers for this part were rated from 1 to 5 (1=the highest acceptance, 2=high acceptance, 3=a neutral position, 4=low approval, and 5=no acceptance).

Participants

The survey was conducted during the 2012 Mamazone Projekt Diplompatientin meeting in Augsburg, Germany [27]. This meeting involved advanced training for breast cancer patients (and physicians) and took place over 4 days, hosting an average of 375 daily participants. The paper-based questionnaire was handed out on one day with 393 attendants (one questionnaire each), and was completed by the respondents during the meeting. Participation was voluntary and anonymous. There was no prior selection concerning sex, age, or ethnic groups.

Statistical Analyses

Descriptive statistics (ie, frequency, mean, and median) were used to characterize user patterns. In order to better understand patient preferences towards new media, a univariate analysis was used to explore demographic factors associated with certain response types. Odds ratios were used to compare the strength of the correlation between acceptance of new media usage and potential predictors. With the help of logistic regression, the odds ratios between groups were calculated, with a 95% CI. A *P* value of <.05 indicated statistical significance. We analyzed the data using IBM SPSS version 22 for statistical calculations.

Results

The questionnaire was completed by 168 of 393 participants at the Mamazone Projekt Diplompatientin meeting (return rate of 42.7%). Some questions remained unanswered on otherwise completed questionnaires (Table 1).

Part 1: Sociodemographic Facts

The majority of the participants were female (98.2%, 164/167) with a median age of 56.0 years (range 28-76 years). A small proportion of participants (3.9%, 6/154) were younger than 40 years, 12.3% (19/154) were between 40-50 years, 49.3% (76/154) were between 50-60 years, 26.0% (40/154) were between 60-70 years, and 8.4% (13/154) were older than 70 years. Approximately 26.7% (43/161) of patients lived in a household with at least three people, 44.7% (72/161) lived just with their partners, and 28.6% (46/161) lived alone. A senior high school degree was accomplished by 66.5% (111/167) of participants, and 33.5% (56/167) had graduated from junior high school. Approximately one third (32.9%, 53/161) were pensioners, 41.6% (67/161) were employed, 11.8% (19/161) were self-employed, and 1.2% (2/161) were unemployed (Table 1).

Part 2: Patients' Health

Most participants (97.0%, 163/168) identified themselves as breast cancer patients. Approximately half of all patients had suffered from breast cancer for more than five years (46.0%, 75/163), while 15.3% (25/163) were confronted with first diagnosis within the previous year. Furthermore, 25.6% (43/161) already had metastatic disease and 74.8% (119/159) were postmenopausal. More than two thirds of respondents had intravenous chemotherapy (72.6%, 122/168) and 9.5% (16/168) had undergone oral chemotherapy. Most participants (75.0%, 126/168) had undergone anti-hormone therapy and 22.0% (37/168) underwent antibody therapy. Almost all patients (97.6%, 164/168) had undergone an operation and 81.0% (136/168) had received radiation therapy. ECOG 0 and 1 were the most common answers when patients were asked about their physical status.

Part 3: Use of Media

Most participants (95.8%, 161/168) used the Internet. Table 2 outlines the reasons why, and how often, respondents searched the Internet. Multiple answers were allowed. The majority of participants used the Internet daily (61.3%, 103/168) or at least once a week (26.8%, 45/168), with 4.2% (7/168) rarely or never going online. The majority of Internet users (88.1%, 148/168) indicated that the purpose of their use was for reading or sending emails, and 53.0% (89/168) confirmed the use of online encyclopedias. In terms of web-based communication, 26.8% (45/168) of the participants expressed their affinity towards social networks and 16.1% (27/168) of the participants expressed their opinions online. Similarly, 92.1% (139/151) of patients with health-related Internet use specified their search interests. The performed tasks included: seeking general information about breast cancer (92.7%, 140/151), searching for information about physicians/hospitals (66.9%, 101/151), contacting physicians (12.6%, 19/151) or pharmacists (0.7%, 1/151), exchanging information with other patients (34.4%, 52/151), and searching for therapies (64.2%, 97/151) or scientific information (68.2%, 103/151). Approximately 9.8% (15/153) of the participants indicated mobile phone usage for health-related issues.



Table 1. Patient characteristics.

Drewes et al

	%	N (amount/total)
Total	168	
Gender		
Female	98.2	164/167
Male	1.8	3/167
Age in years, mean/median (range)	54.6/56.0 (28-76)	
Education		
Junior high school and below	33.5	56/167
Senior high school and above	66.5	111/167
Residents in the local community		
<1000	7.9	13/165
1000-9999	19.4	32/165
10,000-49,999	29.7	49/165
50,000-99,999	5.5	9/165
>100,000	37.6	62/165
Employment		
Unemployed	1.2	2/161
Official	12.4	20/161
Employed	41.6	67/161
Self-Employed	11.8	19/161
Pensioner	32.9	53/161
Number of people per household		
1	28.6	46/161
2	44.7	72/161
3	13.7	22/161
>4	13.0	21/161
Diagnosed with breast cancer	97.0	163/168
Time since onset		
Last month	0.6	1/163
Last year	14.7	24/163
1-5 years ago	38.7	63/163
>5 years ago	46.0	75/163
Metastatic disease	25.6	43/161
Therapies		
Operation	97.6	164/168
Chemotherapy - intravenous	72.6	122/168
Chemotherapy - oral	9.5	16/168
Anti-hormonal therapy	75.0	126/168
Antibody therapy	22.0	37/168
Radiation	81.0	136/168
Other therapy	17.9	30/168
Menopausal status	74.8	119/159
Other cancer	7.3	12/165

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e13/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2016 | vol. 2 | iss. 2 |e13 | p.23 (page number not for citation purposes)

Drewes et al

	%	N (amount/total)
ECOG		
0	71.2	116/163
1	25.2	41/163
2	3.7	6/163

Table 2. Internet usage by patients with breast cancer.

	%	N (amount/total)
Internet use in general	95.8	161/168
Frequency of Internet use		
Daily	61.3	103/168
>1/week	26.8	45/168
>1/month	3.6	6/168
Rarely/never	4.2	7/168
Types of Internet use		
Email	88.1	148/168
Social networks	26.8	45/168
Reading online news, articles	48.2	81/168
Usage of Wikis/online encyclopedia	53.0	89/168
Search for information about products/services	54.2	91/168
Read/express opinions on the web	16.1	27/168
Participation in counseling/vote (ie, city plan- ning)	8.9	15/168
Participation in online courses for private educa- tion/qualification	5.4	9/168
Internet use for health-related issues		
General information about my disease	92.7	140/151
Search for information about physicians/hospi- tals	66.9	101/151
Contact my physician	12.6	19/151
Contact my pharmacist	0.7	1/151
Exchanging information with other patients	34.4	52/151
Search for therapies	64.2	97/151
Scientific information	68.2	103/151
Mobile phone use for health-related purposes	9.8	15/153

Internet and mobile phone usage was examined, as detailed in Table 3. All participants (100.0%, 25/25) up to the age of 50 used the Internet on a regular basis, and 81.8% (9/11) of the participants older than 70 years used the Internet for health-related issues. All participants (100.0%, 21/21) living in a household with more than 4 people, and 89.1% (41/46) of the participants who lived alone, were Internet users. Moreover, 97.3% (108/111) of the participants with a senior high school degree used the Internet and 93.6% (102/109) used it for health-related purposes. Most participants with a junior high school degree used the Internet (92.9%, 52/56) and many used

it for health-related purposes (87.3%, 48/55). There was no apparent correlation between place of residence or employment and the use of new media. When examining medical patient characteristics, 96.0% (24/25) of the patients diagnosed with breast cancer within the last year had already searched the Internet for health-related issues, along with 77.3% (58/75) of those diagnosed >5 years prior. Approximately 95.1% (39/41) of patients with metastatic breast cancer and 91.1% (102/112) of patients with a postmenopausal status searched the Internet for health inquiries. There was no correlation between therapies and Internet use.

RenderX

 Table 3. Comparison of Internet and mobile phone usage by patients with breast cancer.

Characteristics	Internet use in general % (n)	Internet use for health-related is- sues % (n)	Mobile phone owner % (n)
Total	95.8 (161/168)	91.5 (151/165)	22.6 (38/168)
Age (years)			
<39	100.0 (6/6)	100.0 (6/6)	50.0 (3/6)
40-49	100.0 (19/19)	100.0 (29/29)	31.0 (9/29)
50-59	98.7 (75/76)	90.8 (69/76)	19.7 (15/76)
60-69	97.5 (39/40)	89.7 (35/39)	20.0(8/40)
>70	61.5 (8/13)	81.8 (9/11)	15.4 (2/13)
People in household			
1	89.1 (41/46)	88.4 (38/43)	13.0 (6/46)
2	97.2 (70/72)	91.7 (66/72)	26.4 (19/72)
3	100.0 (22/22)	100.0 (22/22)	36.4 (8/22)
>4	100.0 (21/21)	95.2 (20/21)	19.0 (4/21)
Education			
Junior high school and below	92.9 (52/56)	87.3 (48/55)	17.9 (10/56)
Senior high school and above	97.3 (108/111)	93.6 (102/109)	25.2 (28/111)
Employment			
Unemployed	100.0 (2/2)	100.0 (2/2)	0.0 (0/2)
Official	95 (19/20)	94.7 (18/19)	20.0 (4/20)
Employed	97.0 (65/67)	91.0 (61/67)	17.9 (12/67)
Self-employed	100.0 (19/19)	100.0 (19/19)	36.8 (7/19)
Pensioner	92.5 (49/53)	88.2 (45/51)	20.8 (11/53)
Residents in the local community			
<1000	100.0 (13/13)	92.3 (12/13)	23.1 (3/13)
1000-9999	96.9 (31/32)	96.9 (31/32)	34.4 (11/32)
10,000-49,999	98.0 (48/49)	91.7 (44/48)	22.4 (11/49)
50,000-99,999	88.9 (8/9)	100.0 (9/9)	33.3 (3/9)
>100,000	93.6 (58/62)	86.7 (52/60)	14.5 (9/62)
Diagnosed breast cancer	92.3 (144/156)	85.9 (140/163)	22.1 (36/163)
Time since onset			
Last month	100.0 (1/1)	100.0 (1/1)	0.0 (0/1)
Last year	91.7 (22/24)	95.8 (23/24)	20.8 (5/24)
1-5 years ago	95.0 (57/60)	92.1 (58/63)	22.2 (14/63)
>5 years ago	90.1 (64/71)	77.3 (58/75)	22.7 (17/75)
Metastatic disease	95.1 (39/41)	90.7 (39/43)	27.9 (12/43)
Therapies			
Operation	92.4 (145/157)	86.0 (141/164)	22.0 (36/164)
Chemotherapy - intravenous	93.2 (110/118)	87.7 (107/122)	26.2 (32/122)
Chemotherapy - oral	93.8 (15/16)	87.5 (14/16)	31.3 (5/16)
Anti-hormonal therapy	90.9 (110/121)	83.3 (105/126)	21.4 (27/126)
Antibody therapy	94.4 (34/36)	97.3 (36/37)	24.3 (9/37)
Radiation	93.0 (120/129)	85.3 (116/136)	21.3 (29/136)

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e13/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2016 | vol. 2 | iss. 2 |e13 | p.25 (page number not for citation purposes)

Characteristics	Internet use in general % (n)	Internet use for health-related is- sues % (n)	Mobile phone owner % (n)
Other therapy	93.1 (27/29)	86.7 (26/30)	26.7 (8/30)
Menopausal status	91.1 (102/112)	83.2 (99/119)	17.6 (21/119)
Other cancer	81.8 (9/11)	75.0 (9/12)	16.7 (2/12)

Almost one fourth of participants (22.6%, 38/168) owned a mobile phone, and younger participants were more likely to use this technology. Furthermore, 17.9% (10/56) of participants with a junior high school degree owned a mobile phone, along with 25.2% (28/111) of the participants with a senior high school degree. The highest ratio of mobile phone ownership was observed in self-employed patients (36.8%, 7/19), followed by pensioners (20.8%, 11/53) and public servants (20.0%, 4/20). Patients' health status did not correlate with mobile phone ownership.

Part 4: Patients' Future Interests

Figure 1 shows respondents' acceptance towards various types of communication. The affinity towards each technology is represented by different colors (green=high acceptance; light green, straight lines= a neutral position; red= negative views or disapproval). A call center that a patient can contact for therapy support was acceptable to 73.2% (123/168) of participants, followed by the Internet (67.3%, 113/168), and mobile phones (25.0%, 42/168). Consequently, mobile phones were rejected by 52.9% (89/168) of participants, the Internet by 13.7% (23/168), and the call center by 4.2% (7/168). Approximately one forth of respondents indicated a more neutral position towards each of the three categories. Call centers were approved if they actively called the patients and asked about the patients' condition (22.0%, 37/168), or if the center passed on information to the patients' physician (14.9%, 25/168). Furthermore, 54.8% (92/168) of the participants would agree to document their side effects via the Internet, and 23.2% (39/168) would do so via mobile phones.

Figure 1. Breast cancer patients' interests in further interaction with new media. a) those who call and receive information about your condition; b) those who pass forward information to your physician.





Odds ratios were used to demonstrate the impact of different factors on the participants' wishes regarding new media for therapy improvement (Table 4). The median age of patients was 56 years. The group of patients was divided into age ranges in order to analyze the impact of age on the use of each medium (>56 years vs <56 years). A highly significant difference was

observed when comparing the acceptance of mobile phones for therapy assistance (P<.001) and side effect documentation (P=.002) between younger versus older patients. Moreover, therapy assistance via call center (P=.001), via the Internet (P=.036), and acceptance of side effect documentation with the help of the Internet (P=.024), were significantly more likely to be endorsed by younger participants.

RenderX

Table 4. Correlations of patients' characteristics and their desire for new media usage for therapy assistance.

Characteristics	Odds ratios (CI) with P values				
	Younger versus older	Multiple versus one-person household	Senior high school versus junior high school gradua- tion	Time since onset <5years versus >5years	
Acceptance of new media					
Having a mobile phone	1.79 (0.86-3.74)	2.46 (0.95-6.37)	1.57 (0.71-3.55)	1.97 (0.48-2.06)	
	<i>P</i> =.084	<i>P</i> =.042	<i>P</i> =.176	<i>P</i> =.567	
Wish to obtain a mobile phone for health support	2.38 (1.06-5.33)	1.65 (0.68-4.02)	1.08 (0.48-2.43)	1.40 (0.63-3.09)	
	<i>P</i> =.027	<i>P</i> =.185	<i>P</i> =.515	<i>P</i> =.263	
For therapy assistance					
Via mobile phone	4.15 (1.83-9.43)	2.68 (1.05-6.82)	0.96 (0.44-2.08)	1.26 (0.59-2.69)	
	<i>P</i> <.001	<i>P</i> =.026	<i>P</i> =.532	<i>P</i> =.342	
Via Internet	2.64 (1.01-6.91)	2.78 (1.04-7.47)	1.17 (0.46-3.02)	2.50 (0.98-6.38)	
	<i>P</i> =.036	<i>P</i> =.039	<i>P</i> =.458	<i>P</i> =.042	
Via call center	3.59 (1.66-7.77)	0.79 (0.35-1.81)	1.09 (0.51-2.34)	3.50 (1.62-7.55)	
	<i>P</i> =.001	<i>P</i> =.369	<i>P</i> =.489	<i>P</i> =.001	
For side effect documentation					
Via Internet	2.24 (1.08-4.72)	1.68 (0.82-4.22)	1.02 (0.47-2.18)	1.85 (0.89-3.84)	
	<i>P</i> =.024	<i>P</i> =.103	<i>P</i> =.557	<i>P</i> =.07	
Via mobile phone	3.45 (1.52-7.83)	1.91 (0.77-4.71)	1.05 (0.47-2.34)	0.97 (0.45-2.08)	
	<i>P</i> =.002	<i>P</i> =.114	<i>P</i> =.536	<i>P</i> =.54	

Patients with a multiple-person household were significantly more often in possession of a mobile phone (P=.042), and more likely to accept therapy assistance via mobile phone (P=.026) or via the Internet (P=.039) compared to patients living alone. No trend was observed when comparing the acceptance of therapy assistance via call center (P=.369), or side effect documentation via the Internet (P=.103) or mobile phone (P=.114), when comparing household sizes.

Participants with a senior high school degree (compared to those with a junior high school degree) showed no significant difference when asked about their acceptance of new media for therapy assistance (mobile phone P=.532; Internet P=.458; call center P=.489). Moreover, participants with a senior high school degree were not significantly more often in possession of a mobile phone (P=.176), and do not accept mobile phones (P=.557) or the Internet (P=.536) more frequently for side effect documentation, than those with junior high school degrees.

When correlating the time since cancer onset with the desire for therapy assistance via new media, patients diagnosed <5years prior were significantly more interested in therapy assistance via call center (*P*=.001) and the Internet (*P*=.042) than those diagnosed earlier. No significance was observed between the time since disease diagnosis and the acceptance of side effect documentation via the Internet (*P*=.07) or mobile phones (*P*=.54).

Discussion

The intention of our study was to examine the current use of computers, the Internet, and mobile phones among breast cancer patients, as well as their acceptance towards telecommunication

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e13/

XSL•FO RenderX with health care providers. Patients who took part in the survey were very well informed (so-called *diploma* patients); this population was chosen intentionally, as eHealth is a relatively modern issue. The study questionnaire was handed out at a meeting with a full schedule of lectures, so a relatively low response rate was expected. Of the 168 participants, five stated that they did not have breast cancer, which may be due to mistakes, or because family or friends of patients completed the questionnaire.

We compared different sociodemographic and health care factors to technology usage. Future therapy-assistance interventions via new media could be focused according to patient characteristics. Although surveys have already investigated patient characteristics that may affect Internet affinity, this study entailed the first survey focusing specifically on breast cancer patients. It is unclear how many breast cancer patients show Internet affinity, or what their preferences towards new electronic devices actually are.

Our results demonstrate that 86.3% (145/168) of breast cancer patients have at least a neutral opinion towards using the Internet for therapy assistance, while 67.3% (113/168) highly approve it. Moreover, 54.8% (92/168) of patients were willing to document side effects via the Internet. Decisive factors influencing patients' willingness to use new communication technologies include age, number of people per household, and time since breast cancer diagnosis. Education is not a significant predictor for technology acceptance with regard to therapy improvement.

Considering the outcomes of other studies, it is already an established fact that participants using the Internet in general

(and for health-related issues in particular) are mostly young people [11,28]. Recently, Internet acceptance has reached an older age group, meaning that patients older than 60 years in our study are already more familiar with the Internet (88.7%, 47/53) than reported by other studies, in which only 41% of people older than 65 years used the Internet [29]. The patients in the current study possessed a particularly high level of interest in their health (diploma patients), while the Federal Office for Statistics reports that the general German population consists of healthy and nonhealthy inhabitants. However, comparing peoples' health-related Internet queries, it appears that 76% of women older than 65 years in the statistics of the Federal Office [29], and 89.7% (35/39) of the women between 60-69 years in our survey, search the Internet for health information. This trend indicates that the Internet is more appealing as a source of health-related information in older populations than general use of the Internet.

Regarding the acceptance of therapy assistance, younger patients were significantly more interested in new forms of communication and documentation of distressful effects via the Internet or mobile phones. Nevertheless, the results of our study demonstrate that participants of all ages have already searched the Internet for therapies and scientific information, along with information about physicians and/or hospitals. This finding indicates that using the Internet for health-related searches is already widespread, and appears to be feasible for most patients. Furthermore, the survey reveals a lower acceptance of communication via mobile phone features (eg, apps), and a significant and substantial difference between older and younger patients' consent towards therapy assistance via mobile phones. This result is not surprising, considering that in our survey, younger people were more often in possession of a mobile phone than the older patient population. Mobile phones are a medium with a quickly growing number of customers; in December, 2010, 14 million Germans were in possession of a mobile phone, and this number increased to 21 million in December, 2011, and 31 million in December, 2012 [22]. Demographic changes may have already spread further, as the questionnaire was completed in 2012 and Internet connectivity and functionality (and prices of mobile devices) are currently more feasible for consumers.

In summary, age appeared to be a significant factor for determining interest in therapy assistance via new media, but this trend may soon change, as Internet access and computer literacy are increasing in society. This trend agrees with Kummervold et al, who noted that the rate of Internet use for health-related issues in Germany increased from 24% in 2002

to 57% in 2007 [30]. Along with the demographic change, we assume that consumers will adapt to new media and thus use mobile phones more often for health concerns.

The second factor influencing patients' affinity towards new media was a multiple-person household. Patients living with a partner or with their children might have assistance with such technologies, and appeared to be more familiar with the Internet. In contrast, a call center was similarly accepted by all patients, regardless of how many people they lived with. This medium does not involve computer knowledge.

Comparing the affinity of breast cancer patients to new media and their time since diagnosis, it can be perceived that the longer patients have been living with the diagnosis, the less interested they were in searching the Internet for health-related issues. This effect may be due to the fact that patients living with the diagnosis for several years have already exploited numerous resources (ie, the Internet or support groups). Thus, these patients have already assembled more information than patients who were recently diagnosed with cancer. Moreover, patients diagnosed >5 years prior to answering the questionnaire might be older, and less interested in modern technologies.

Conclusion

The Internet, as a rapidly growing medium, was used by almost all participants who completed the questionnaire. Not surprisingly, when asked about their willingness to use new technologies for therapy improvement, the Internet was accepted by the majority of patients. However, not all users were interested in using Internet-based applications for therapy improvement. Among those already using the Internet, only two thirds were willing to use it for therapy improvements. The remaining respondents might be unwilling to use the Internet for such purposes due to unknown implementation of the potential applications. The questionnaire did not specify how new media can be used for health care concerns. To overcome this issue, it is necessary to tailor the implementation of eHealth to patients' individual needs. One approach to address this issue would be to explore the feasibility of new media with patients and physicians in a future survey. It will be important to focus further research on the technical availability and educational content of patient-specific applications. We determined that with the help of new technologies, self-efficacy (and thereby adherence to therapy regimens) may be improved. The results of the survey confirmed the potential of new media (ie, Internet portals or mobile phone apps) to provide continuous patient-physician communication.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the patients for their participation, all co-investigators for their work, as well as Mamazone and Brustkrebs Deutschland for supporting this project. This paper is part of the CANKADO project, and the survey reported here was partly funded by a research project with Glaxo Smith Kline. This funding source had no involvement in the design of the study or data interpretation.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e13/

References

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015 Mar 1;136(5):E359-E386. [doi: <u>10.1002/ijc.29210</u>] [Medline: <u>25220842</u>]
- Robert Koch Institut. Zentrum f
 ür Krebsregisterdaten. Berlin; 2012. Krebs in Deutschland 2007/2008 URL: <u>http://www.rki.de/DE/Content/Gesundheitsmonitoring/Gesundheitsberichterstattung/GBEDownloadsB/KID2012.</u> pdf? blob=publicationFile [accessed 2016-08-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6aJEUv0G9]
- 3. Hadji P. Improving compliance and persistence to adjuvant tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitor therapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2010 Feb;73(2):156-166. [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2009.02.001] [Medline: 19299162]
- 4. Gerber LH, Stout NL, Schmitz KH, Stricker CT. Integrating a prospective surveillance model for rehabilitation into breast cancer survivorship care. Cancer 2012 Apr 15;118(8 Suppl):2201-2206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.27472] [Medline: 22488694]
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, Clarke M, Cutter D, et al. Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 2011 Aug 27;378(9793):771-784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60993-8] [Medline: 21802721]
- Kostev K, Waehlert L, Jockwig A, Jockwig B, Hadji P. Physicians' influence on breast cancer patient compliance. Ger Med Sci 2014;12:Doc03 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3205/000188] [Medline: 24454275]
- Sawesi S, Carpenter JS, Jones J. Reasons for nonadherence to tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors for the treatment of breast cancer: a literature review. Clin J Oncol Nurs 2014 Jun;18(3):E50-E57. [doi: <u>10.1188/14.CJON.E50-E57</u>] [Medline: <u>24867124</u>]
- 8. World Health Organization. Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health. 2001 Jun 04. Adherence to long-term therapies: policy for action URL: <u>http://www.who.int/chp/knowledge/publications/adherencerep.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-07-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6aJGdvya4]
- 9. Statistisches Bundesamt. Private Nutzung von Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologien. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/EinkommenKonsumLebensbedingungen/ITNutzung/Tabellen/</u> ZeitvergleichComputernutzung_IKT.html [accessed 2016-07-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6aJGuMSCM]
- Eichenberg C, Brähler E. Internet als Ratgeber bei psychischen Problemen. Psychotherapeut 2012 Feb 22;58(1):63-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00278-012-0893-0]
- Kummervold PE, Chronaki CE, Lausen B, Prokosch H, Rasmussen J, Santana S, et al. eHealth trends in Europe 2005-2007: a population-based survey. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(4):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1023] [Medline: 19017584]
- 12. Rozenblum R, Bates DW. Patient-centred healthcare, social media and the Internet: the perfect storm? BMJ Qual Saf 2013 Mar;22(3):183-186. [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2012-001744] [Medline: 23378660]
- 13. Fogel J, Albert SM, Schnabel F, Ditkoff BA, Neugut AI. Internet use and social support in women with breast cancer. Health Psychol 2002 Jul;21(4):398-404. [Medline: <u>12090683</u>]
- Houston TK, Sands DZ, Jenckes MW, Ford DE. Experiences of patients who were early adopters of electronic communication with their physician: satisfaction, benefits, and concerns. Am J Manag Care 2004 Sep;10(9):601-608 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15515992</u>]
- 15. Spiegel D. Psychosocial aspects of breast cancer treatment. Semin Oncol 1997 Feb;24(1 Suppl 1):S1-36. [Medline: 9045314]
- Clayman ML, Boberg EW, Makoul G. The use of patient and provider perspectives to develop a patient-oriented website for women diagnosed with breast cancer. Patient Educ Couns 2008 Sep;72(3):429-435. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.05.032</u>] [Medline: <u>18653304</u>]
- 17. Ybarra ML, Suman M. Help seeking behavior and the Internet: a national survey. Int J Med Inform 2006 Jan;75(1):29-41. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.07.029</u>] [Medline: <u>16129659</u>]
- Allen M, Iezzoni LI, Huang A, Huang L, Leveille SG. Improving patient-clinician communication about chronic conditions: description of an internet-based nurse E-coach intervention. Nurs Res 2008 Apr;57(2):107-112. [doi: 10.1097/01.NNR.0000313478.47379.98] [Medline: 18347482]
- Heisler M, Bouknight RR, Hayward RA, Smith DM, Kerr EA. The relative importance of physician communication, participatory decision making, and patient understanding in diabetes self-management. J Gen Intern Med 2002 Apr;17(4):243-252 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11972720</u>]
- Hadji P, Blettner M, Harbeck N, Jackisch C, Lück H, Windemuth-Kieselbach C, et al. The Patient's Anastrozole Compliance to Therapy (PACT) Program: a randomized, in-practice study on the impact of a standardized information program on persistence and compliance to adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer. Ann Oncol 2013 Jun;24(6):1505-1512 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds653] [Medline: 23378537]
- 21. Linn AJ, Vervloet M, van DL, Smit EG, Van Weert JC. Effects of eHealth interventions on medication adherence: a systematic review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(4):e103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1738] [Medline: 22138112]

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e13/
```

- 22. Weicksel J, Pentsi A. 44 Millionen Deutsche nutzen ein Smartphone.: Bitkom; 2015 Mar 25. URL: <u>https://www.bitkom.org/</u> <u>Presse/Presseinformation/44-Millionen-Deutsche-nutzen-ein-Smartphone.html</u> [accessed 2016-08-02] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6jSoNHoh2</u>]
- 23. Fronstin P. Findings from the 2011 EBRI/MGA Consumer Engagement in Health Care Survey. EBRI Issue Brief 2011 Dec(365):1-26. [Medline: 22312794]
- Morak J, Schwarz M, Hayn D, Schreier G. Feasibility of mHealth and Near Field Communication technology based medication adherence monitoring. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2012;2012:272-275. [doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2012.6345922] [Medline: 23365883]
- 25. Fiordelli M, Diviani N, Schulz PJ. Mapping mHealth research: a decade of evolution. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(5):e95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2430] [Medline: 23697600]
- Oken MM, Tormey DC, Horton J, Davis TE, McFadden ET, Carbone PP. National Palliative Care Research Center. 1982. ECOG Performance Status URL: <u>http://www.npcrc.org/files/news/ECOG_performance_status.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-10-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6cWLTXrdl]
- 27. Mamazones Projekt Diplompatientin. Projekt Diplompatientin 2012. 2012. URL: <u>http://www.diplompatientin.de/</u> <u>diplompatientin-online/dipa2012/</u> [accessed 2015-07-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6aJMVmA50]
- Santana S, Lausen B, Bujnowska-Fedak M, Chronaki CE, Prokosch HU, Wynn R. Informed citizen and empowered citizen in health: results from an European survey. BMC Fam Pract 2011;12:20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-12-20] [Medline: 21496309]
- Statistisches Bundesamt. Destatis. 2013. Private Haushalte in der Informationsgesellschaft- Nutzung von Informationsund Kommunikationstechnologien URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/Publikationen/Thematisch/</u> <u>EinkommenKonsumLebensbedingungen/PrivateHaushalte/PrivateHaushalteIKT2150400137004.pdf?</u> <u>blob=publicationFile</u> [accessed 2016-08-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6aJMtojBX]
- Kummervold PE, Wynn R. Health information accessed on the Internet: the development in 5 European countries. Int J Telemed Appl 2012;2012:297416 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/297416] [Medline: 23304133]

Abbreviations

ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group **eHealth:** electronic health **mHealth:** mobile communication-based health care

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.03.16; peer-reviewed by R Brouns, A Valenzuela Espinoza, J Jones; comments to author 23.03.16; revised version received 11.04.16; accepted 11.04.16; published 14.09.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Drewes C, Kirkovits T, Schiltz D, Schinkoethe T, Haidinger R, Goldmann-Posch U, Harbeck N, Wuerstlein R EHealth Acceptance and New Media Preferences for Therapy Assistance Among Breast Cancer Patients JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e13 URL: <u>http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e13/</u> doi:10.2196/cancer.5711 PMID:28410189

©Caroline Drewes, Thomas Kirkovits, Daniel Schiltz, Timo Schinkoethe, Renate Haidinger, Ursula Goldmann-Posch, Nadia Harbeck, Rachel Wuerstlein. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 14.09.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Online Social Engagement by Cancer Patients: A Clinic-Based Patient Survey

Lawrence C An^{1*}, MD; Lauren Wallner², MPH, PhD; Matthias Alexander Kirch^{1*}, MS

¹Center for Health Communications Research, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

²Cancer Surveillance and Outcomes Research Team, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Matthias Alexander Kirch, MS Center for Health Communications Research University of Michigan 2800 Plymouth Road G000N-11 NCRC Ann Arbor, MI, 48109-2800 United States Phone: 1 734 647 9917 Fax: 1 734 647 7343 Email: kirchm@med.umich.edu

Abstract

Background: The Internet is commonly used as a source of health information, but little is known about the Internet practices specific to cancer patients.

Objective: To understand cancer patients' use of the Internet as an informational resource and for social support.

Methods: The researchers conducted a survey of 1282 patients at a comprehensive cancer center to assess frequency of Internet access and online behaviors.

Results: Of the cancer patients surveyed, 1096 (85.49%) had Internet access; of those with Internet access, 953 (86.95%) reported going online at least weekly, and 747 (68.16%) reported daily online activity. Grouping Internet users by their level of online social engagement revealed that out of 1096 users, 331 (30.20%) had not sought out social connections online, 227 (20.71%) had read about experiences from other cancer patients, 410 (37.41%) had also written about their personal experiences, and 128 (11.68%) had participated in a formal online group for cancer patients. Increased online social engagement was associated with an increased perception that the Internet was useful for social support.

Conclusions: Internet use among cancer patients was common, and most patients reported that they found useful information about their cancer diagnosis online. Cancer patients who actively posted or shared content perceived more social support from the Internet than those who used the Internet solely as an informational resource or to read about other cancer patients' experiences. Physicians have a great opportunity to direct users to quality health information on the Web.

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e10) doi:10.2196/cancer.5785

KEYWORDS

cancer patients; Internet; information; social support

Introduction

In the past decades, there has been rapid growth in the use of the Internet among US adults. The Pew Internet and American Life Project found that 87% of adults have Internet access [1]. Using the Internet to search for health information is common among adult Internet users. The Pew Research Center also found that during the past 12 months, 80% of online adults searched

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e10/

RenderX

for health information, 26% of people reported reading about or watching another person's health experience, and 16% went online to connect with others who had the same condition, including 4.6% who took part in an online support group [2]. Patients themselves are not the only ones searching for health information online. Half of the information searches reported were done on behalf of someone else [3].

Cancer patients represent a growing proportion of health information seekers. There are 14.5 million cancer survivors as of 2014, and the current 5-year survival rate is 68%, up from 49% in the 1970s [4]. Data from the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) showed that 81% of the cancer survivors had searched for information about cancer [5]. Younger individuals and those with higher levels of education were more likely to use the Internet as their first source of information, rather than their doctor. The National Cancer Institute also reported that up to 55% of cancer information seekers looked to the Internet first [6]. Other studies have found differing rates of Internet use for cancer prevention information seeking [7], as well as differing information needs by demographic and cancer-related characteristics [2,8].

While online searches for cancer information are common, less is known about cancer patients' familiarity with, and trust of, the Internet or how patients with different cancers differentially seek information on the Internet. People with serious health conditions may be more or less likely than the general public to turn to online resources. For example, a recent study by the Pew Research Center about chronic disease found that adults with chronic disease report lower rates of Internet use: 62% versus 81% in the general population. However, those people with chronic disease who go online are more likely to participate in online discussions and write blogs [9]. Recent studies of online forums for cancer patients have found that these resources can provide valuable emotional and social support for patients [10-15].

Online communities are popular and show promise for meeting cancer patients' needs for information and social support, but there is little known about patients' real-life experiences with a range of websites that can offer online communities [16], or how these online mechanisms can be used to improve social support for cancer patients [17]. This study aims to describe cancer patients' use of the Internet and, in particular, their engagement with online social activities related to their cancer diagnosis and treatment.

Methods

Survey Development and Study Population

A team of physicians, oncologists, cancer nurses, and communication/health literacy experts at the University of Michigan Comprehensive Cancer Center (UMCCC) developed a patient survey to assess a range of behaviors and health experiences of patients at the cancer center, including use of computers and the Internet, information and social support needs, basic demographic and health information, and quality of life. Questions for the survey were adapted from publically available instruments, including the Pew Internet and American Life Survey [18] and the 2007 Health Information National Trends Survey [19]. The survey was reviewed and approved by behavioral health specialists, a patient advocacy group, and the cancer center administration.

Study staff approached all patients present at seven of the UMCCC clinics during a 2-week period from August 23, 2010, to September 3, 2010. Patients were asked at appointment check-in whether they would like to participate in the study. The paper-and-pencil survey took participants an average of 15 minutes to complete. Participation in the study was voluntary; however, if individuals agreed to participate, they were provided with a US \$2 incentive coupon to redeem at food services vendors within the hospital. Participation was also anonymous; no personal identifying information was collected from the patients. Paper survey responses were double entered and coded by a third-party vendor. This study was determined exempt by the Institutional Review Boards of the University of Michigan Medical School (HUM00039172).

Derived Measures

The independent variable used in this analysis was level of online social engagement; this was defined as the type of social interactions the participant reported online, was measured using questions about specific online activities related to health, and was adapted from the 2007 HINTS [19]. Internet users were categorized into four exclusive groups by their reported level of online social engagement. Those in the first group report no social engagement, such as reading about other patients or sharing their own experiences. The second group is comprised of consumers who read about other patients' experiences but do not share their own. The third group is producers, those who write about their own experiences as cancer patients and share with others. The final group is made up of individuals who participate in a *formal online group* related to their health diagnosis. Table 1 shows the full wording of all questions related to online social activities and this study's social engagement classification strategy.

Dependent variables for this analysis were related to the perceptions of Internet users. These included (1) usefulness of Internet for cancer-related health information, (2) usefulness of Internet for cancer-related emotional or social support, and (3) positive and negative Internet experiences. Usefulness questions were adapted from the HINTS [19]. The first two items asked patients, "How useful was the cancer-related information you got from the Internet?" and "How useful was the Internet in helping you get encouragement or emotional support (from family, friends, or others) in dealing with cancer or cancer treatment?"



Table 1. Levels of social engagement characterized by self-reported participation in Internet	-based !	health activities. ^a
---	----------	---------------------------------

Internet-based health activities	No social engage- ment	Social con- sumers	Social producers	Formal group
Read or learned about other patients' health experiences?	No	Yes	Yes or no	Yes or no
Wrote about or shared your own health experiences with other patients?	No	No	Yes to this one, or to one of next two items	Yes or no
Written or posted updates for family or friends about your health or how you are feeling?	No	No	Yes to this one, or the item above or below	Yes or no
Wrote in an online diary or blog?	No	No	Yes to this one, or to one of the above two items	Yes or no
Participated in an online support group or community for people with cancer?	No	No	No	Yes

^aParticipants were asked to respond to the following: "Below are some ways people use the Internet. Some people have done these things, but others have not. Please tell us whether or not you have done each of these things while using the Internet."

Patients reported reactions to their most recent online search for cancer information using questions adapted from the Pew Internet survey [18]. Patients were asked the following:

Think about the LAST time you searched for information about cancer or cancer treatments. At any point, did you feel: OVERWHELMED by the amount of information you found online; EAGER to share your new health or medical knowledge with others; CONFUSED by the information you found online; RELIEVED or COMFORTED by the information you found online; FRUSTRATED by a lack of information or an inability to find what you were looking for online; CONFIDENT to raise new questions or concerns about a health issue with your doctor; FRIGHTENED by the serious or graphic nature of the information you found online; REASSURED that you could make appropriate health care decisions.

Statistical Analyses

The distribution of demographic characteristics by levels of online social engagement were compared using chi-square tests for association. Because the survey was administered as a paper-and-pencil survey, there was some item nonresponse, especially among demographic variables. The primary analyses compared Internet usefulness and positive and negative experiences by level of online social engagement. The percentage of patients reporting the Internet as somewhat or very useful, as well as the 95% confidence intervals, was analyzed using chi-square analysis to determine whether the groups were significantly different in their ratings of Internet usefulness. In addition, Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used to estimate if there were significant differences between ratings for information and social support usefulness. Comparison of usefulness ratings between levels of social engagement, with no social engagement as the reference group, was reported using unadjusted logistic regression.

The distribution of positive and negative experiences reported by cancer center patients were evaluated by first assessing each individual item across groups using chi-square tests for each individual item. Then two summary variables were created to represent the total number of positive and negative experiences by person. We then estimated the overall mean, as well as mean by level of social engagement, and used the Wilcoxon signed-rank test to assess whether significant differences between numbers of positive and negative experiences existed. Differences in the mean numbers of positive and negative experiences between groups were estimated using unadjusted ordered logistic regression. Finally, a variable representing the difference between the number of positive and negative experiences was analyzed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to test the differences by level of social engagement. All statistical analyses were completed using Stata version 13.1 (StataCorp).

Results

Patient Characteristics

Table 2 summarizes the demographic and health-related information of this sample. The sample size for this study was 1282 patients, which represents a 75.01% (1282/1709) response rate of all scheduled patient visits during the 2-week survey period. Item nonresponse was low overall; the variables with the highest percentage of missing values were years since cancer diagnosis (87/1282, 6.79% missing) and age (40/1282, 3.12% missing). The majority of patients interviewed were female (768/1282, 59.91%), white (1133/1282, 88.38%), and over 50 years old (922/1282, 71.92%). Patients were highly educated; 44.77% (574/1282) had a college degree. The most common cancer diagnoses were leukemia/lymphoma (326/1282, 25.43%) and breast cancer (298/1282, 23.24%), which is representative of the patients at this center. About half of the patients were diagnosed with cancer in the past 2 years (613/1282, 47.82%), 72.23% (926/1282) reported at least one other major chronic health condition, and 35.26% (452/1282) of participants reported their health as fair or poor (see Table 2).

Table 2.	Demographic and	health data of the	e survey sample	$(N=1282^{a}).$
----------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------	-----------------

Characteristic		n (%)
Gender	Male	512 (39.94)
	Female	768 (59.91)
Age in years	<50	320 (24.96)
	50-69	701 (54.68)
	70+	221 (17.24)
Race	White	1133 (88.38)
	Nonwhite	142 (11.08)
Education	High school or less	288 (22.46)
	Some college	407 (31.75)
	4-year degree or higher	574 (44.77)
Years since cancer diagnosis	<1	270 (21.06)
	1-2	343 (26.76)
	3-9	373 (29.10)
	10+	209 (16.30)
Cancer site ^b	Leukemia/lymphoma	326 (25.43)
	Breast	298 (23.24)
	Cutaneous	176 (13.73)
	Prostate/urological	173 (13.49)
	Gynecological	161 (12.56)
	Gastrointestinal	144 (11.23)
	Sarcoma/soft tissue	80 (6.24)
	Thoracic	46 (3.59)
	Head and neck	41 (3.20)
	Thyroid/endocrine	23 (1.79)
	Neurological	12 (0.94)
	Other/unknown	17 (1.33)
Comorbid conditions	Any comorbid conditions	926 (72.23)
Self-reported health ^c	Poor	100 (7.80)
	Fair	352 (27.46)
	Good	521 (40.64)
	Very good	215 (16.77)
	Excellent	55 (4.29)

^aCategories may not add up to the total of 1282 due to item nonresponse on demographic characteristics.

^bCancer site is nonexclusive.

^cPatients were asked, "How would you rate your current health?"

Internet Use

Table 3 summarizes the computer and Internet use reported by patients. Most (1096/1282, 85.49%) of the respondents reported using the Internet at least occasionally. Internet use was less common for males (427/512, 83.4% males vs 667/768, 86.9% females), people over the age of 70 (142/221, 64.3% 70+ years vs 620/701, 88.5% 50-69 years and 303/320, 94.7% <50 years),

and those with a high school education or less (174/288, 60.4% high school or less vs 365/407, 89.7% some college and 546/574, 95.1% 4-year degree or higher). Of Internet users, 86.95% (953/1096) accessed the Internet at least weekly and 68.16% (747/1096) accessed the Internet daily. Almost all Internet users had access through a high-speed or wireless connection (978/1096, 89.23%).

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 3.	Internet use and	experiences of cancer	center patients	(N=1282).
----------	------------------	-----------------------	-----------------	-----------

Activity	n (%)
Have a home computer	1083 (84.48)
Use the Internet	1096 (85.49)
Daily Internet use	747 (58.27)
Looked for cancer information	862 (67.24)
Read about other patients' experiences	619 (48.28)
Wrote about own health experiences	234 (18.25)
Participated in an online cancer support group	128 (9.98)
Posted health updates for family or friends	452 (35.26)
Wrote in an online diary or blog	95 (7.41)

Patients reported participating in a range of online activities related to their health and diagnosis. The most common online activities were searching for cancer information (862/1282, 67.24%); searching for information about doctors, hospitals, and treatments (732/1282, 57.10%); and reading about other patients' experiences (619/1282, 48.28%) (see Table 3).

Figure 1 shows the breakdown of Internet users (1096/1282, 85.49%) by their level of online social engagement. Over a third of Internet users (410/1096, 37.41%) were social producers, 30.20% (331/1096) reported no social engagement, 20.71% (227/1096) were social consumers, and 11.68% (128/1096) reported being part of formal online groups (see Figure 1).

Table 4 shows the level of social engagement by key demographic characteristics of the patients. Females (P=.003), younger patients (ie, <50 years old) (P<.001), and those with more formal education (P<.001) were significantly more likely to engage in social interactions online. No other demographic and patient characteristics were associated with level of social engagement, including ethnicity, years since cancer diagnosis, presence of comorbidities, and current health status.

Figure 2 summarizes patients' reporting of Internet usefulness by their level of social engagement. Overall, 81.02% (888/1096)

of Internet users rated the cancer information they found on the Internet as *somewhat* or *very useful*, and 62.96% (690/1096) of all Internet users reported that the Internet was *somewhat* or *very useful* for providing social support. Ratings of information usefulness were high for participants in all groups, ranging from 73% to 93%. However, social support usefulness was dramatically higher for individuals who were social media producers or who engaged in a formal online group compared to those who reported no social engagement (P<.001).

Table 5 shows the percentage of patients by level of social engagement who reported one of the listed positive or negative feelings during their most recent search for cancer information online. Positive and negative experiences were common among patients who reported searching for cancer information online. Only individuals who searched for cancer information were included (913/1096, 83.30%). The most common experiences were feeling confident to raise new questions with their health care provider (546/913, 59.8%) and feeling reassured about making good health care decisions (541/913, 59.3%). There was significant variation by level of social engagement for all experiences. Increasing levels of social engagement were associated with increases in both positive and negative experiences (both P<.001).



Table 4. Level of social engagement of Internet users by key demographic factors (N=1096).

Characteristic	No social engagement, n (%)	Social consumer, n (%)	Social producer, n (%)	Formal group, n (%)	P ^a
All patients (N=1096 ^b)	331 (30.20)	227 (20.17)	410 (37.41)	128 (11.68)	
Gender					
Male (n=427)	152 (35.6)	85 (19.9)	154 (36.1)	36 (8.4)	.003
Female (n=667)	178 (26.7)	142 (21.3)	255 (38.2)	92 (13.8)	
Age in years					
<50 (n=303)	68 (22.4)	54 (17.8)	122 (40.3)	59 (19.5)	<.001
50-69 (n=620)	187 (30.2)	146 (23.6)	224 (36.1)	63 (10.2)	
70+ (n=142)	64 (45.1)	22 (15.5)	52 (36.6)	4 (2.8)	
Race					
White (n=968)	289 (29.9)	194 (20.0)	374 (38.6)	111 (11.5)	.13
Nonwhite (n=122)	41 (33.6)	31 (25.4)	34 (27.9)	16 (13.1)	
Education					
High school or less (n=174)	89 (51.2)	18 (10.3)	56 (32.2)	11 (6.3)	<.001
Some college (n=365)	106 (29.0)	79 (21.6)	137 (37.5)	43 (11.8)	
College degree (n=546)	132 (24.2)	128 (23.4)	213 (39.0)	73 (13.4)	
Years since cancer diagnosis					
<1 (n=234)	80 (34.2)	47 (20.1)	89 (38.0)	18 (7.7)	.15
1-2.99 (n=294)	83 (28.2)	56 (19.1)	119 (40.5)	36 (12.2)	
3-9.99 (n=329)	92 (28.0)	79 (24.0)	110 (33.4)	48 (14.6)	
10+ (n=177)	57 (32.2)	33 (18.6)	69 (39.0)	18 (10.2)	
Comorbid conditions					
None (n=327)	87 (26.6)	77 (23.6)	124 (37.9)	39 (11.9)	.28
1 or more (n=769)	244 (31.7)	150 (19.5)	286 (37.2)	89 (11.6)	
Self-reported health					
Poor (n=86)	23 (27)	17 (20)	31 (36)	15 (17)	.14
Fair (n=284)	80 (28.2)	58 (20.4)	115 (40.5)	31 (10.9)	
Good (n=449)	138 (30.7)	85 (18.9)	172 (38.3)	54 (12.0)	
Very good (n=197)	56 (28.4)	47 (23.9)	73 (37.1)	21 (10.7)	
Excellent (n=53)	22 (42)	17 (32)	10 (19)	4 (8)	

 ^{a}P values are from chi-square analyses comparing level of social engagement by patient characteristics.

^bCategories may not add to the total of 1096 due to item nonresponse on demographic characteristics.


Feelings reported	No social engagement	Social consumer	Social producer	Formal group	Р
	(n=212), n (%)	(n=212), n (%)	(n=364), n (%)	(n=125), n (%)	
Overwhelmed	55 (25.9)	83 (39.2)	169 (46.4)	53 (42.4)	<.001
Eager	39 (18.4)	70 (33.0)	148 (40.7)	75 (60.0)	<.001
Confused	38 (17.9)	66 (31.1)	134 (36.8)	49 (39.2)	<.001
Relieved or comforted	45 (21.2)	104 (49.1)	163 (44.8)	87 (69.6)	<.001
Frustrated	23 (10.9)	50 (23.6)	99 (27.2)	44 (35.2)	<.001
Confident	67 (31.6)	141 (66.5)	243 (66.8)	95 (76.0)	<.001
Frightened	33 (15.6)	66 (31.1)	119 (32.7)	44 (35.2)	<.001
Reassured	74 (34.9)	128 (60.4)	236 (64.8)	103 (82.4)	<.001

Table 5. Cancer patients' reports of most recent Internet search for cancer information, among those who reported information searching (N=913).

Figure 3 shows the sum of positive and negative experiences reported by each Internet user by level of social engagement. Positive experiences were higher for all levels of social engagement (Wilcoxon P<.001). There was a significant difference between the means by level of social engagement,

as individuals who had no social engagement had the smallest difference (0.36 more positive than negative experiences on average), and those participating in formal groups had the largest difference (1.36 more positive experiences) (P<.001).

Figure 1. Breakdown of social engagement levels among Internet users (N=1096).



Type of online social interaction about cancer diagnosis



Figure 2. Percentage of patients reporting that the Internet was somewhat or very useful for information about cancer (top line) and social support (bottom line). Bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. Comparisons between the socially engaged groups' ratings and the "no social engagement" group were made and tested using simple logistic regression. *P=.001, **P<.001.



Figure 3. Mean of sum of the positive (top line) and negative (bottom line) experiences of cancer patients searching for cancer information online (n=801). Bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. Comparisons between the socially engaged groups' ratings compared to the "no social engagement" group were made and tested using ordered logistic regression (ologit). *P<.001.



Discussion

Principal Findings

Our survey of cancer patients at a comprehensive cancer center found high rates of Internet use (over 80% of patients), including high rates of content production (over 50% of Internet users). Despite the high levels of reading about patients' experiences and sharing their own personal experiences, very few patients reported being a part of a formal support group.

The vast majority of patients reported that the information about cancer they were able to find on the Internet was useful. However, patients who have written about their own experiences or taken part in a formal group were much more likely to report that the Internet was useful for social support. These findings

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e10/
```

RenderX

support the validity of the categorization of social engagement. Patients who have no social engagement or who are solely social consumers were less likely to find social support from their Internet experience. However, social producers and patients engaged in formal support networks reported that the Internet provided them with the greatest social support as well as information about their diagnosis, suggesting that the real social benefits come from sharing personal experiences.

Regardless of the level of social engagement, both positive and negative experiences while online were common for patients. As people reported more social engagement, their numbers of positive and negative experiences also increased. However, there was a greater increase in the number of positive experiences than of negative ones. Overall, patients' experience of the Internet appeared more positive than negative, and

patients who engaged in social support networks online found value in those interactions.

Limitations

Observations from this survey have a few limitations. The information was collected from a single point in time, and no conclusions can be drawn about a causal effect of online behavior on feelings of social support. The University of Michigan has limited ethnic diversity and a highly educated sample, and the results here may not reflect the larger population of cancer patients and survivors. Finally, there have been rapid changes in the use of technology, especially on mobile devices, in the time since this survey was completed.

Future work should repeat the survey with a larger, more representative sample. This will allow researchers to better understand the population that is using the Internet for social support, and how Internet use varies by age, cancer type, and education. Understanding these differences can inform the development of cancer-specific Web resources that are appropriate for their audiences.

Comparison With Prior Work

Previous nationally representative studies have reported statistics about use of the Internet for searching for and sharing health information. The 2012 Pew Research Center study found that 26% of Internet users had read about or watched another person's experience with a health issue, and 16% of people reported seeking out other people with the same condition [3]. A report based on the 2008 Pew Research Center survey found that among patients with chronic diseases, 37% had read about someone else's experience online, 20% had created their own content related to their health condition, and 7% had participated in an online support group [9]. In this study of UMCCC patients, over half (58%) reported reading about others' experiences, 22% wrote about their own experiences, and 12% participated in a formal online group related to their health. That these percentages are higher than the national average or even the rates among people with chronic disease is not surprising, given the severity of a cancer diagnosis. These results are also consistent with analyses of the HINTS data, which have shown rising levels of cancer information seeking between 2003 and 2013 [5]. The HINTS data have also shown higher rates of social Internet functions among cancer-connected individuals compared to the general public, up to three times higher for activities like writing in a blog or participating in an online support group [2].

It is also important to consider how the online experiences of cancer patients compare to other health information seekers. Cancer patients in this study rated online information on cancer to be useful (41% *very useful* and 40% *somewhat useful*). This

is comparable to results from the HINTS, which found that 46% of online health information seekers rated cancer information to be very useful and 43% somewhat useful [19]. In contrast, cancer patients' emotional reaction to online information may differ compared to general health information seekers. In a 2006 report from the Pew Internet Project, people searching for health information generally reported high rates of positive experiences and low rates of negative experiences. The positive emotions included feeling reassured (74%), confident (56%), and relieved (56%). Negative feelings were reported much less frequently; 25% of respondents felt overwhelmed, 22% frustrated, 18% confused, and 10% frightened [20]. Among cancer patients at the University of Michigan, there were similar rates of positive experiences-69% reassured, 68% confident, and 51% relieved—but higher rates of negative feelings—45% overwhelmed, 36% confused, 33% frightened, and 27% frustrated. These higher rates of negative experiences mirror concerns that providers have about the quality of the information that patients access online [21,22].

Other recent studies have confirmed that looking online for health information and support has become the norm for most cancer patients: upwards of 80% [23-25]. Receiving a cancer diagnosis has become a recognized major life event, and patients and families have very high information needs in the weeks following an initial diagnosis [21,26]. The findings from this survey of cancer patients add to the growing evidence for the need for quality online avenues for patients. Despite the increasing dependence on online sources, most patients still consider their doctors to be their primary information source [25]. Rather than considering Internet searches a threat to physician-patient trust, there is evidence that patients who seek out information on their own are more active participants in their own care [22]. Providers may have a great opportunity to help patients by proactively recommending online resources that will provide quality information and support.

Conclusions

Internet use and health information searches by cancer patients was common in this sample, but there were varying rates of online social engagement among patients. About half of the cancer patients surveyed were social *producers* who posted and shared content about their experiences with cancer. Social producers were most likely to benefit from perceived positive social support via the Internet, and producing content was associated with higher occurrence of positive search experiences. These findings suggest the need for additional research to examine what types of information and messages lead to patients having positive experiences, and how health professionals can help patients avoid negative experiences online.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge Lisa Smith, Patty Clark, Marcy Waldinger (Chief Administrative Officer for the UMCCC), and clinic staff throughout the cancer center for their help with conducting the survey.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Rainie L, Fox S, Duggan M. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2014 Feb 27. The Web at 25 in the US URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/2014/02/PIP_25th-anniversary-of-the-Web_0227141.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6fl6wHW5w]
- Kontos E, Blake KD, Chou WS, Prestin A. Predictors of eHealth usage: Insights on the digital divide from the Health Information National Trends Survey 2012. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(7):e172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3117] [Medline: 25048379]
- Fox S, Duggan M. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2013 Jan 15. Health online 2013 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/old-media/Files/Reports/PIP_HealthOnline.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6fl75Avvd]
- 4. American Cancer Society. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2014. Cancer facts & figures 2014 URL: <u>http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/content/@research/documents/webcontent/acspc-042151.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6f17HWKAR]
- Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) Briefs. Rockville, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2015 Dec. Cancer-related information seeking among cancer survivors URL: <u>http://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Briefs/HINTS_Brief_30.</u> pdf [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6f17QQNtB]
- Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) Briefs. Rockville, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2010 Aug. Trends in cancer information seeking URL: <u>http://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Briefs/HINTS_Brief_16.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6fl7vHptk]
- 7. Ginossar T. Predictors of online cancer prevention information seeking among patients and caregivers across the digital divide: A cross-sectional, correlational study. JMIR Cancer 2016 Mar 09;2(1):e2. [doi: <u>10.2196/cancer.5108</u>]
- 8. Rising CJ, Bol N, Kreps GL. Age-related use and perceptions of eHealth in men with prostate cancer: A Web-based survey. JMIR Cancer 2015 Jun 25;1(1):e6. [doi: 10.2196/cancer.4178]
- Fox S, Purcell K. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2010 Mar 24. Chronic disease and the Internet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/old-media/</u> /Files/Reports/2010/PIP Chronic Disease with topline.pdf [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6fl9a21zv]
- Attai DJ, Cowher MS, Al-Hamadani M, Schoger JM, Staley AC, Landercasper J. Twitter social media is an effective tool for breast cancer patient education and support: Patient-reported outcomes by survey. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(7):e188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4721] [Medline: 26228234]
- 11. Batenburg A, Das E. Emotional coping differences among breast cancer patients from an online support group: A cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(2):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2831] [Medline: 24499687]
- 12. Beusterien K, Tsay S, Gholizadeh S, Su Y. Real-world experience with colorectal cancer chemotherapies: Patient Web forum analysis. Ecancermedicalscience 2013;7:361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2013.361] [Medline: 24143155]
- Namkoong K, McLaughlin B, Yoo W, Hull SJ, Shah DV, Kim SC, et al. The effects of expression: How providing emotional support online improves cancer patients' coping strategies. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2013 Dec;2013(47):169-174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgt033] [Medline: 24395987]
- 14. Sassenberg K, Greving H. Internet searching about disease elicits a positive perception of own health when severity of illness is high: A longitudinal questionnaire study. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(3):e56. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.5140</u>] [Medline: <u>24143155</u>]
- Yli-Uotila T, Rantanen A, Suominen T. Online social support received by patients with cancer. Comput Inform Nurs 2014 Mar;32(3):118-126; quiz 127. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.000000000000028</u>] [Medline: <u>24335490</u>]
- Bender JL, Jimenez-Marroquin MC, Ferris LE, Katz J, Jadad AR. Online communities for breast cancer survivors: A review and analysis of their characteristics and levels of use. Support Care Cancer 2013 May;21(5):1253-1263. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-012-1655-9] [Medline: 23179491]
- 17. Pagoto S, Waring ME, May CN, Ding EY, Kunz WH, Hayes R, et al. Adapting behavioral interventions for social media delivery. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(1):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5086] [Medline: 26825969]
- Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2008 Dec 01. Nov. 19-Dec. 20, 2008 Health URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/datasets/december-2008-health/</u> [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6flCrreV4</u>]
- Health Information National Trends Survey. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health URL: <u>http://hints.cancer.gov/</u> <u>docs/Instruments/HINTS%202007%20Annotated%20Mail%20Instrument.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-03-04] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6flAWX1H5</u>]
- 20. Fox S. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2006 Oct 29. Online health search 2006 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2006/10/29/online-health-search-2006/</u> [accessed 2016-06-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6i7HNVxDI]

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e10/

RenderX

- 21. Holt KA, Hansen HP, Mogensen O. Supportive care needs for women with gynecological cancer and their relatives during the prediagnostic period. Cancer Nurs 2014;37(6):457-467. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000117] [Medline: 24406382]
- 22. Rider T, Malik M, Chevassut T. Haematology patients and the Internet--The use of online health information and the impact on the patient-doctor relationship. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Nov;97(2):223-238. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2014.06.018] [Medline: 25053474]
- Martin EC, Basen-Engquist K, Cox MG, Lyons EJ, Carmack CL, Blalock JA, et al. Interest in health behavior intervention delivery modalities among cancer survivors: A cross-sectional study. JMIR Cancer 2016 Feb 11;2(1):e1. [doi: 10.2196/cancer.5247]
- 24. Foroughi F, Lam A, Lim M. "Googling" for cancer: An infodemiological assessment of online search interests in Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the United States. JMIR Cancer 2016;2(1):e5.
- Ebel M, Stellamanns J, Keinki C, Rudolph I, Huebner J. Cancer patients and the Internet: A survey among German cancer patients. J Cancer Educ 2015 Nov 9. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-015-0945-6</u>] [Medline: <u>26553327</u>]
- 26. Köhle N, Drossaert CH, Oosterik S, Schreurs KM, Hagedoorn M, van Uden-Kraan CF, et al. Needs and preferences of partners of cancer patients regarding a Web-based psychological intervention: A qualitative study. JMIR Cancer 2015 Dec 29;1(2):e13. [doi: 10.2196/cancer.4631]

Abbreviations

ANOVA: analysis of variance HINTS: Health Information National Trends Survey ologit: ordered logistic regression UMCCC: University of Michigan Comprehensive Cancer Center

Edited by D Vollmer Dahlke; submitted 22.03.16; peer-reviewed by R Grainger, D Attai; comments to author 01.05.16; revised version received 22.06.16; accepted 30.06.16; published 19.08.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> An LC, Wallner L, Kirch MA Online Social Engagement by Cancer Patients: A Clinic-Based Patient Survey JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e10 URL: <u>http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e10/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/cancer.5785</u> PMID:<u>28410186</u>

©Lawrence C An, Lauren Wallner, Matthias Alexander Kirch. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 19.08.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Like or Dislike? Impact of Facebook on Ewing Sarcoma Treatment

Paul Ruckenstuhl¹, Dr med univ; Michael Schippinger¹, Dr med univ; Paul Liebmann², Dr med univ; Andreas Leithner¹, Dr med univ; Gerwin Bernhardt¹, Dr med univ

¹Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Medical University Graz, Graz, Austria ²Department of General Surgery, Evangelisches Krankenhaus, Vienna, Austria

Corresponding Author: Paul Ruckenstuhl, Dr med univ Department of Orthopedic Surgery Medical University Graz Auenbruggerplatz 5 Graz, 8036 Austria Phone: 43 6641344553 Fax: 43 53456238 Email: paul.ruckenstuhl@gmx.at

Abstract

Background: An increasing number of patients are raising their voices in online forums to exchange health-related information. Facebook is the leading social media platform with more than 1 billion international daily users recorded in the summer of 2015. Facebook has a dynamic audience and is utilized in a number of ways, discussing medical issues being one of them. Ewing sarcoma mainly affects teenagers and young adults. Additionally, many individuals within this age group are regular users of Facebook. However, little is known about the impact of this modern way of communication via Web-based platforms on patients with Ewing sarcoma and their social environment.

Objective: The aim of this study was to analyze and compare Ewing sarcoma patients' and relatives' behavior on Facebook to draw conclusions regarding the impact of Facebook on Ewing sarcoma treatment.

Methods: We examined a Facebook group named "Ewing Sarcoma Awareness" that is used to exchange information for both patients and relatives regarding Ewing sarcoma. A self-designed questionnaire was used to compare patients' and relatives' answers. Additionally, we analyzed all processes (posts, likes, threads, links) in the group for 6 consecutive months. A total of 65 members of the Facebook group (26 patients, 39 relatives) out of 2227 international group members participated in our study.

Results: More than 70% (46/65) of all participants reported that they use the group Ewing Sarcoma Awareness as a source of information about Ewing sarcoma. Of the participants, 89% (58/65) agreed on our scale from a little to a lot that being in contact with other affected people through the group makes it easier to handle the diagnosis. In this study, 20% (13/65) of all participants reported that the group affected their choice of treatment and 15% (10/65) of participants were influenced in the selection of their specialist. Regarding the recommendation of the Facebook group toward other people, significant differences (P=.003) were found comparing patients' and relatives' results. During the last 6 months most activities in the group concerned sharing destiny and handling the diagnosis.

Conclusions: The Facebook group Ewing Sarcoma Awareness has a relevant impact on group members regarding their choice of treatment. Moreover, participants turn toward the group to receive mental and emotional support in everyday life. Statements made within the group are in part questionable from a medical point of view and the impact made by these statements on patients' care requires further evaluation.

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e11) doi:10.2196/cancer.5367

KEYWORDS

social media; Facebook; Ewing sarcoma; social media networking

Introduction

Web-based communication is a convenient method of exchanging information regarding health and well-being and is thus increasingly growing in popularity and commonly used [1,2]. Because it is ubiquitous and easy to use, the Web has become the number one source for patients to gather information on health-related issues [2-5].

The term "Web 2.0" describes an interactive way of using the Web by exchanging information via blogs, platforms, podcasts, wikis, and online forums. These tools offer possibilities to simplify Web-based communication between Web users. In this way, the Web is not only a platform to acquire information from websites passively, but also a viable asset to create and share knowledge [6]. Furthermore, Web 2.0 enables users to collaborate by distributing information [7]. This rapidly growing way of using the Web has brought Web-based communication to a new level on social media platforms [2,8,9].

More precisely, the Web enables both experts and laymen to discuss and promote health-related information. Patients are increasingly using social media sites to share sorrow, to exchange information about handling their daily routine, and to discuss treatment options using evidence-based standard therapeutic regimens for various kinds of diseases. This development enables the creation of an active, self-managing, and responsible "expert patient" [10,11]. However, it seems reasonable then that patients might run the risk of receiving pseudoscientific and incorrect information [2].

The leading social media platform presenting medical issues is Facebook (FB). With a record of more than 1 billion active users per day in August 2015, the website FB is besides "Google" the second most viewed site in the world [12]. Facebook is the most frequently used Web-based communication platform [2,13-15]. In 2008, a study reported that 45% of medical trainees, 64% of medical students, and 13% of medical residents have FB accounts [16]. Among US adults, 61% search for health information on the Web, of whom 39% use social media such as FB for health-related information [17]. Considering the growth of FB during the last years these numbers can, therefore, be estimated even higher [15]. Because of its enormous accessibility especially for rare diseases like Ewing sarcoma, FB is a ubiquitous and easy way to connect people with others affected [15,18-20].

The peak incidence of Ewing sarcoma is between 10 and 20 years of age and coincides with the main age group of FB users [21-24]. A study by Duggan and Brenner [25] reported that 86% of all Web users aged between 18 and 29 years use FB, thus making FB an ideal platform for patients with Ewing sarcoma to connect with each other.

Ewing sarcoma is the second most common bone sarcoma after osteosarcoma with an incidence of 1 case per 1 million people [21]. The treatment of choice is neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by a wide resection of the tumor and adjuvant chemotherapy [21-23]. Survival of patients following this therapy regimen has increased, and two-thirds of patients are cured of their disease [21]. With a 5-year survival rate of 78%

XSI•FC

for children younger than 15 years and 60% for adolescents aged 15 to 19 years, Ewing sarcoma remains a severe diagnosis [21].

The diagnosis Ewing sarcoma poses an enormous challenge for young patients, their families, and their social environment. Because of its severity, Ewing sarcoma requires a treatment concept including also psychological aspects. It is well reported that cancer patients profit from peer-to-peer communication [15,26]. These days the Web provides various possibilities to get in contact with fellow sufferers, especially for rare diagnoses like Ewing sarcoma.

It is well known that the Web, particularly social media platforms, offers new dimensions to communication related to medical topics [2,27]. We believe that this way of communication has a relevant influence on the treatment regimen, the choice of consultant, particularly the choice of hospital, and dealing with the disease in general. Furthermore, this hypothesis might be underestimated in traditional treatment concepts.

However, little is known about patients' and relatives' behavior on social media platforms regarding Ewing sarcoma. The aim of this study was to examine the influence of interactive Web-based exchanges of information on the FB group "Ewing Sarcoma Awareness" (ESA) for patients with Ewing sarcoma and their relatives.

Methods

Facebook as a Search Engine

The most common way for a large number of people to communicate on FB is through "FB groups." Facebook groups can be created by all FB users to communicate with a defined group of members about certain topics. To become a member of the group, one can either request to be a member or get an invitation from the group administrator.

In March 2014, we carried out a search for the term "Ewing sarcoma" using the FB search engine. The FB group used in this study is called Ewing Sarcoma Awareness. Ewing Sarcoma Awareness was by far the largest group we found for open Web-based communication for people affected by Ewing sarcoma. Ewing Sarcoma Awareness is defined as a public group and is available to all people with FB accounts. The group has two administrators who are able to control processes in the group. Facebook users are free to follow the group and to view all activity happening on the home page without being a group member. To become a member of the group a request has to be sent to the group administrators who grant admission to the group. The administrators are also able to remove group members or contributions posted to the page.

The ESA group's main purpose, as declared in its description, is to facilitate the exchange of information regarding Ewing sarcoma for patients and other people affected by the disease (Figure 1). The exchange of information in the ESA group is mainly based on the home page of the group, where only members are able to post contributions. The types of contributions on the home page range from personal opinions,

statements, pictures, and videos to recommendations regarding treatment options, clinical trials, research results, hospitals, doctors, and much more. Members are able to comment, like, or add something to these posts creating lively discussions. To deepen the exchange of information, members are able to use FB chat to communicate via private messages that cannot be seen by other members.

At the time of our investigation, the group consisted of 2227 international members. Most group members indicated that they

live in the United States or Canada, although group members were from countries in all continents of the world. The group administrators and creators did not appear to be medical professionals or associated with health care institutions or organizations [28].

To get in contact with the group we created a FB profile that introduced ourselves to the social media community (Figure 2). Our FB profile became a group member of ESA group after confirmation of request by one of the group administrators.

Figure 1. Screenshot of the description of the Ewing Sarcoma Awareness group on Facebook.

DESCRIPTION

Ewing's sarcoma / Peripheral Primitive Neuroectodermal Tumours (PNET) of bone is a type of cancer usually found in children and young adults. The peak incidence is between ages 10 and 20, it is less common in children under 5 or in adults over 30. Ewing's s can occur in any bone in the body; the most common sites are the pelvis, thigh, lower leg, upper arm, and rib. The tumour is composed of small round blue cells. Ewing's sarcoma can also arise in soft tissue (extra-skeletal);

This page is dedicated to the exchange of information regarding Ewing Sarcoma, we would appreciate it if you do not vend your product or fundraise on this site as we wish to keep it strictly informational.

Figure 2. Screenshot of the home page of our research Facebook profile.



Questionnaire

We created a Web-based questionnaire using "SurveyMonkey" to analyze the group members' behavior regarding their use of the Web and FB for people affected by Ewing sarcoma. SurveyMonkey.com was founded in 1999, and with more than 20 million users worldwide it is one of the leading platforms for Web-based surveys [29]. It offers tools to create and analyze Web-based surveys [29].

The self-designed questionnaire was developed on the basis of the "Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys" [30]. The survey was designed as an open survey for all ESA group members, consisted of 18 multiple-choice questions (Q), and was divided in 4 categories. The first category (Q1-Q4) dealt with the user's behavior in the FB group. Categories 2 (Q5-Q8) and 3 (Q9-Q13) were composed of questions concerning the reliability and quality of information received in the group. Additionally, questions asking about the effects that ESA group has had on the user's decision-making processes were included. The last category (Q14-Q18) consisted of questions about the user's general activity on the Web regarding medical and health-related issues. Users answered by rating each statement on a scale ranging from 1 to 4 (1=disagree a lot, 2=disagree a little, 3=agree a little, 4=agree a lot).

Accompanying this survey was background information of participants regarding sex, age, and whether participants were patients or their relatives or friends. Answering all questions took approximately 4 to 7 minutes.

We posted a link concerning our Web-based survey on the ESA group's home page on FB (Figure 3). Additionally, we explained the study's purpose. On August 23, we posted again in the group to re-invite all group members to participate and maximize study sample before we closed the link by the end of August 2014. To clarify obscurities or other kinds of questions we corresponded with group members via private FB messages.

All responses were automatically recorded via the Web-based survey platform [29].

Figure 3. Screenshot of our survey request on the Ewing Sarcoma Awareness group's title page.



Facebook Survey

Web survey powered by SurveyMonkey.com. Create your own online survey now with SurveyMonkey's expert certified FREE templates.

DE.SURVEYMONKEY.COM

"Ewing Sarcoma Awareness" Group Analysis

Besides the questionnaire, we analyzed all processes happening in the ESA group over a 6-month period (October 2013 to March 2014). The analysis referred to activities in the group, more specifically to threads and contributions that were posted on the group's home page. We started by analyzing the content of each wall post to develop a classification scheme that could be applied to the complete observational time period.

All posts were divided into 2 main groups: informative and emotional contributions. We then further subdivided the 2 main groups each into 3 branches (Table 1).



Table 1.	Classification	of posts	on the Ewing Sarcoma	Awareness group's home	page.
----------	----------------	----------	----------------------	------------------------	-------

Categories and subcategories	Description
Emotional	
Sharing fate/getting support	Group members are reporting about their case/destiny or occurring problems
Bereavement/recurrence	Group members are reporting the loss of a relative or child, or the recurrence of the disease
Complete remission/	Group members are reporting about successful treatments
no evidence of disease	
Informative	
Information	Group members are asking for helpful advice to handle the disease and the occurring side effects under the therapy
Clinical trials	Group members are asking for new trials or are sharing information about new studies
Recommendations	Group members are reporting about their experiences and satisfaction/dissatis- faction, or are asking for specialists/hospitals in their area

After classifying the intentions of all posts, we evaluated the number of postings in each subgroup. Contributions deleted by the administrator or those without any classifiable content were excluded from our analysis. Three of the authors coded the data independently according to Table 1; in case of a disagreement, the coding was discussed in the group.

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed comparing patients' and relatives' values for each of the 18 questions using t test. Parametrically distributed data are described as the mean and the standard deviation (SD). All tests were 2-sided with a significance level of P<.05. Pearson and Spearman correlation were performed where appropriate.

Table 2. Age characteristics of study participants (N=65).

For statistical calculations SPSS version 22 (IBM Statistics, SPSS Software, IBM Vienna, Austria) was used. Data of all participants were anonymized. As all the information is publicly available, no review by an institutional research ethics board was needed.

Results

Survey Results

The study group of our survey consisted of 65 participants: 26 patients and 39 relatives or friends of patients. Incomplete surveys (n=26) were excluded. Of the participants, 11 were male (mean 37.4, SD 14.4 years) and 54 were female (mean 39.8, SD 10.4 years). Average age of the patients was mean 32.9 (SD 8.4) years and that of the relatives was mean 43.6 (SD 10.1) years (Table 2).

Age, years	Patients	Relatives
20-25	4	1
26-30	8	4
31-35	4	6
36-40	4	5
>40	6	24
Total, n (%)	26 (40)	39 (60)

The highest values for patients and relatives with a mean score of 3.01 (SD 0.87) were found in the first category of the questionnaire that focused on the users' behavior. The second category that concerns the influence of the ESA group on participants' therapeutic schedule yielded the lowest results for patients and relatives with a mean score of 1.91 (SD 0.91).

The maximum mean score per question for patients was found in question 15 with 3.65 (SD 0.69), followed by question 4 (mean 3.54, SD 0.58) and question 9 (mean 3.50, SD 0.76). Lowest agreements for patients were found in question 7 with a mean score of 1.46 (SD 0.86) followed by questions 6 (mean 1.54, SD 0.81) and 5 (mean 1.69, SD 0.97).

In addition, we compared the given answers from patients and relatives (Table 3). There was a statistically significant difference between patients and relatives concerning question 4 (mean 3.5, SD 0.6 vs mean 3.0, SD 0.9; P=.003). All the given answers of the survey significantly correlated with each other as well as within the patients' and relatives' groups (P<.001).

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e11/
```

RenderX

Table 3. Survey results of patients and relatives.

Ruckenstuhl et al

No.	Question	Patients		Relatives		Р
		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
1.	I frequently (4=dai- ly, 3=weekly, 2=monthly, 1=less) visit the Facebook group "Ewing sarco- ma awareness" to be in contact with other affected peo- ple.	2.85	1.12	2.87	0.92	.92
2.	I post, comment, or like activities in the group or contact other group mem- bers via private messages.	2.92	0.89	2.79	0.83	.56
3.	I use the Facebook group "Ewing sarco- ma awareness" as a source of informa- tion about Ewing sarcoma.	3.04	0.96	3.10	0.79	.78
4.	I recommend the Facebook group "Ewing sarcoma awareness" in other social networks or to other affected people.	3.54	0.58	2.97	0.90	.003
5.	The information I received in the Facebook group "Ewing sarcoma awareness" affect- ed the choice of treatment.	1.69	0.97	1.69	0.80	.99
6.	The information I received in the Facebook group "Ewing sarcoma awareness" affect- ed my choice of consultant.	1.54	0.81	1.67	0.77	.53
7.	The reliability of my consultant de- creased because of information I re- ceived in the Face- book group "Ewing sarcoma aware- ness."	1.46	0.86	1.56	0.79	.63
8.	I never had the ex- perience that wrong information in the group "Ewing sarco- ma awareness" led to a negative deal- ing with the dis- ease.	2.96	1.11	2.74	1.23	.46

XSL•FO RenderX

Ruckenstuhl et al

No.	Question	Patients		Relatives		Р	
		Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
9.	Being in contact with other affected people via the Facebook group "Ewing sarcoma awareness" makes it easier to handle the diagnosis of Ewing sarcoma.	3.50	0.76	3.49	0.72	.95	
10.	I received useful information in the Facebook group "Ewing sarcoma awareness," which improved my every- day life in dealing with the disease.	3.23	0.86	3.03	0.84	.35	
11.	I trust the Facebook group "Ewing sarco- ma awareness" to receive correct in- formation about Ewing Sarcoma.	2.96	0.87	3.03	0.78	.76	
12.	The Facebook group "Ewing sarco- ma awareness" is an important sup- port for me to han- dle the disease.	3.27	0.87	3.18	0.79	.68	
13.	I received informa- tion about new clinical trials as well as specialists through the Face- book group "Ewing sarcoma aware- ness."	2.38	1.16	2.28	0.94	.71	
14.	I take part in other Ewing sarcoma groups or forums on the Internet, in- cluding other social media platforms.	3.23	0.99	2.85	1.11	.16	
15.	The Internet is an important tool for me to look for infor- mation about Ew- ing sarcoma.	3.65	0.69	3.49	0.85	.39	
16.	I trust online plat- forms like Wikipedia, Twitter, YouTube, and Facebook to re- ceive correct infor- mation about Ew- ing sarcoma.	2.42	0.95	2.36	0.99	.79	



No.	Question	Patients		Relatives		Р
		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
17.	I generally look for information about diseases on the In- ternet prior to con- sultation.	3.00	1.01	3.15	0.87	.53
18.	The Internet is an important source for me to look for health-related infor- mation.	3.27	0.83	3.28	0.79	.95

Processes in the Group

A total of 220 posts on the ESA group's home page and 445 comments were included and categorized accordingly.

We detected a total number of 453 home page posts and 917 comments from 183 different group members. Because of lack of relevance or information, 233 posts and 472 comments were excluded from our study. These were reaction comments to previous posts or posts about everyday topics, not specific to Ewing sarcoma. The posts' contents addressed subjects such as dietary supplements under chemotherapy, correct behavior as a family member, introduction to the group, and others. Overall, 125/220 (56.8%) posts in the ESA group were categorized as emotional posts and 95/220 (43.2%) as informative contributions. As shown in Figure 4, most topics discussed were

about sharing destiny (71/220 posts, 32.3%). Other posts that were assigned to the subgroup of emotional contributions were about the disease's relapse, particularly, bemoaning the loss of a relative (26/220 posts, 11.8%) and reports of complete remission (28/220 posts, 12.7%). The most informative contributions were about searching for Ewing sarcoma–related information (52/220 posts, 23.6%). Group members asked for recommended specialists, hospitals, and reports of experience (25/220 posts, 11.4%). Members also discussed posted hyperlinks with information about new clinical trials (18/220 posts, 8.2%).

Moreover, 15 articles about research results, fund raising, or donations were discussed in the forum. Some of these articles were deleted during the period of our observation by the group administrator.





Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

With respect to our principal findings, the Facebook group Ewing Sarcoma Awareness has a relevant impact on group

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e11/
```

members regarding their choice of treatment. Moreover, participants turn toward the group to receive mental and emotional support in everyday life. Reflecting on our results, we believe that a better understanding of this growing interest in peer-to-peer communication for patients may lead to an optimization of a patient-related therapeutic regimen.

The Web has rapidly grown to be one of the leading sources of medical information. It is well known that the Web, in particular social media communication, brings a new dimension to medical subjects followed by possibly improving health outcomes [2]. The idea of this study was to analyze users' behavior regarding Ewing sarcoma on the social media site FB.

Several studies have described users' behavior on FB for health-related issues [15,20,26,31-34]. These studies mainly compared FB groups and/or analyzed processes happening in the group regarding a wide range of different diseases [35]. To the best of our knowledge, there is no study to date that used a comparable approach to interact with FB group members as we did. Therefore, a comparison with other reports was not possible. Yet, we believe that the direct interaction via Web-based surveys with members of FB groups adds a new methodical modality in medical Internet research.

Facebook is a ubiquitous social media platform including health-related issues. Bender et al [18] examined FB groups related to breast cancer. The findings from their study confirmed our presumption that FB is a popular tool for millions of users to seek support via social media platforms. Abramson et al reported about a breast cancer awareness page on Facebook that underlines the increasing use of Facebook pages to discuss severe medical conditions via social media platforms [20]. The visibility of user profiles and personal networks in open FB groups like the ESA group reduces the anonymity but attracts a much wider audience. These key elements of social network sites make public groups ideally suited for fundraising and awareness-raising purposes [18]. Compared with the findings of Bender et al [18], fundraising was of lesser importance in the ESA group. Moreover, marketing and promotion as found by Hale and colleagues [35] played a minor role in our study. General information about the disease, sharing faith, personal support, and assistance in how to handle their daily routine were more important factors reflected in our findings. This might be associated with the rare prevalence of Ewing sarcoma. Different studies reported that FB members use the social media site as a source of information for health-related issues [36,37]. Other studies concluded that FB plays a less important role and has little relevance regarding health-related Web-based information [2,38].

The group ESA was by far the biggest platform (n=2227) we found on FB to exchange general information about Ewing sarcoma. Most other contributions about Ewing sarcoma on FB are blogs about fates of individuals and nonprofit institutions created for fundraising.

It is notable that more than 80% (54/65) of all participants of our Web-based survey were female. Pennbrige et al [39] support this observation and found that 60% of US Internet users using the Web to gather health-related information were women. Most likely, due to caretaking roles and behavior, women appear to visit health-related webpages more frequently [39]. This is consistent with several other studies that reported females regularly visiting social networking sites for the acquisition of health-related information [40-42].

More than half of all participants were aged 36 years or older and 30/65 participants (45%) were older than 40 years. This

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e11/
```

XSL•FO

explains why mainly parents of patients participated in the relative sample group. This is consistent with the incidence peak of the disease in the teenage years. However, the age of participants of our study differed from the age of participants of most other FB research studies [43,28]. No teenagers participated in our questionnaire although the prevalence of Ewing sarcoma as well as the core age group of FB users would correspond to this age. A possible reason for this could be that the appearance of our FB profile did not attract enough attention for the young group members to participate.

According to the findings of Davison et al [44], social media platforms are less attractive for medical conditions considered to be embarrassing and socially stigmatizing. This also might discourage the adolescent age group to participate in our Web-based survey. Unlike in our study, the average age of participants of other scientific works ranged from 11 to 34 years [41,42,45,46].

The Web in general has become the number one source of medical information for many patients [2]. Referring to the results of our survey, 84% of all participants agreed a little or a lot that the Web is an important source for health-related information (Q18). Moreover, 77% (50/65 participants) reported that they use the Web to look up medical conditions and symptoms before medical consultations (Q17). These findings are in accordance with several studies about public and patients' regarding Web medical behavior on the issues [2,11,20,24,47,48].

Reliability and quality of health-related information found on the Web is considered generally questionable. According to our survey, 47% (30/65) of all participants agreed a little or a lot that they trust the information available on Web-based platforms such as Wikipedia, Twitter, YouTube, and FB, having confidence that the information is correct (Q16). Moreover, 15% (10/65) of patients and 26% (17/65) of relatives reported that wrong information received on the Web had negative effects on everyday life and the control of the disease (Q8). Brown et al [49] reported how doctors see and use social media. The findings of their study are comparable with our results showcasing insecurities for medical professionals and patients alike, regarding the reliability of information received on social media platforms.

Furthermore, we examined the influence of the ESA group on the patients' selection of therapeutic regimens. We found that contents shared in the ESA group had relevant impact on the selection of treatment protocols, hospitals, and specialists. In this study, 20% of patients and 21% of relatives agreed a little or a lot that the group ESA affected their choice of treatment (Q5). Moreover, 19% of all patients reported that the group affected their selection of specialists (Q6). These statements indicate that FB has become an important source of information for patients with Ewing sarcoma and is affecting their treatment. These results underline the relevance of FB for patients with Ewing sarcoma and their treatment of choice [2,5,11,38].

At first sight, results of Q5-Q8 seem to be contradictory to the results of Q14-Q18 where there is a higher mean level of agreement to the statements made. However, the correlational analysis showed a significant positive correlation of all results

(P<.001). For instance, the information received from FB did not affect the choice of treatment. The reason for this might be that the attending physicians mainly influence the choice of treatment. However, the Web could still be an important primary tool to look for medical information and users could trust the given information about medical conditions like Ewing sarcoma on social media platforms.

The survey results comparing patients and relatives were similar. The only significant difference was found in question 4 (Q4: I recommend the Facebook group "Ewing sarcoma awareness" in other social networks or to other affected people). Patients achieved significantly (P=.003) higher results. It can be estimated that patients who are going through the whole course of the disease feel more motivated to include others who are affected. This is in line with statements by Cutrona et al [50] who observed that many adults are willing to use e-communication or email to promote and report cancer screening to peers.

Our post on the ESA group's home page, where we invited all group members to participate in our Web-based survey, resulted in controversial reactions and started a lively debate among ESA group members. After reacting to critical posts and clarifying the survey's credibility and intention of our research work, the number of participants increased.

Limitations

A limitation of our study is the small sample size of the study group. Because of FB's regulations we were unable to send all group members a request (via private message) to answer our survey. Facebook does not allow mass messages. Messages to people you are not connected with usually end up in the FB spam folder. The only way of attracting attention for our questionnaire was by posting on the group's home page. Unfortunately, only members who are frequently following the group's activities were able to see our contribution. A much longer study period might have increased the number of participants. Because of a lack of previous studies on the topic, a sample size calculation was not possible.

A total of 27% of all participants of our survey stated that they visit the ESA group monthly or less and, a total of 183 different ESA group members posted contributions on the group's home page. According to these numbers it can be estimated that only a relatively small number of users compared with the total

number of group members (n=2227) is actively involved in the processes of the group. Another drawback is that information flow (via private message) between ESA group members was not visible to us and could therefore not be analyzed.

Because a larger number of group members were US citizens, it can be expected that the outcomes of other geographical populations differ from our results.

Practical Implications

Our findings suggest that FB is an important platform for many patients with Ewing sarcoma and their relatives. Because of the disease's low incidence, the most comfortable and simplest way to get in touch with other patients might be via FB. Peer-to-peer communication seems to enable considerable support for patients and their relatives.

We believe that implementing interaction tools on FB can benefit patients and their social environment and help individuals deal with the diagnosis of Ewing sarcoma. Web-based communication on FB with others who are affected can be implemented in the multidisciplinary therapeutic regimen for patients with Ewing sarcoma.

However, incorrect medical information received on the Web is an evident weakness that FB groups have. Therefore, we suggest cautious application of health-related information found in FB groups.

Conclusions

In summary, the FB group ESA has a relevant impact on group members regarding treatment selection and in getting support through everyday life. Although the reliability and quality of information obtained from the Web is considered diverse, we believe that online forums are feasible tools for patients and relatives that help individuals not only find support and backing but also to share their experiences. The impact of Facebook regarding patients with Ewing sarcoma and their relatives who join such groups on the Web might be underestimated in traditional medical treatment regimens.

Reflecting on our results, we believe that questionnaires on social media platforms such as Facebook are suitable for a variety of scientific research questions in the future. Statements made in the group are in part questionable from a medical point of view and its impact on patient's care needs further evaluation.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all patients and relatives who believed, trusted, and participated in this study despite the tragic situation that many of them are facing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

 Fox S. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2008. The engaged e-patient population URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/old-media//Files/Reports/2008/PIP_Health_Aug08.pdf.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-08-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6jXBztKkj]

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e11/
```

- Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- Hoffman-Goetz L, Donelle L, Thomson MD. Clinical guidelines about diabetes and the accuracy of peer information in an unmoderated online health forum for retired persons. Inform Health Soc Care 2009 Mar;34(2):91-99. [doi: 10.1080/17538150902865136] [Medline: 19412842]
- 4. Kreps GL, Neuhauser L. New directions in eHealth communication: opportunities and challenges. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Mar;78(3):329-336. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.01.013] [Medline: 20202779]
- 5. Vance K, Howe W, Dellavalle RP. Social internet sites as a source of public health information. Dermatol Clin 2009 Apr;27(2):133-6, vi. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.det.2008.11.010</u>] [Medline: <u>19254656</u>]
- Sudau F, Friede T, Grabowski J, Koschack J, Makedonski P, Himmel W. Sources of information and behavioral patterns in online health forums: observational study. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(1):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2875] [Medline: 24425598]
- Lau AS. Hospital-based nurses' perceptions of the adoption of Web 2.0 tools for knowledge sharing, learning, social interaction and the production of collective intelligence. J Med Internet Res 2011 Nov;13(4):e92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1398] [Medline: 22079851]
- Gholami-Kordkheili F, Wild V, Strech D. The impact of social media on medical professionalism: a systematic qualitative review of challenges and opportunities. J Med Internet Res 2013 Aug;15(8):e184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2708] [Medline: 23985172]
- 9. Farmer AD, Bruckner HC, Cook M, Hearing S. Social networking sites: a novel portal for communication. Postgrad Med J 2009;85(1007):455-459. [doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2008.074674.85/1007/455]
- 10. Greenhalgh T. Patientpublic involvement in chronic illness: beyond the expert patient. BMJ 2009;338:629-631.
- 11. McMullan M. Patients using the Internet to obtain health information: how this affects the patient-health professional relationship. Patient Educ Couns 2006 Oct;63(1-2):24-28. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2005.10.006] [Medline: 16406474]
- 12. Statista. 2015. The Statistics Portal URL: <u>http://www.statista.com/statistics/346167/facebook-global-dau/</u> [accessed 2016-08-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6jUKdOn5H]
- 13. Alexa. 2010. The top 500 websites URL: <u>http://www.alexa.com/topsites</u> [accessed 2016-08-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6jUKdyCGs]
- 14. Facebook. 2015. Press Room: Statistics 2015 URL: <u>http://www.facebook.com/common/browser.php</u> [WebCite Cache ID 5umfX04H2]
- 15. Jha A, Lin L, Savoia E. The Use of Social Media by State Health Departments in the US: Analyzing Health Communication Through Facebook. J Community Health 2016 Feb;41(1):174-179. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10900-015-0083-4</u>] [Medline: <u>26318742</u>]
- Thompson LA, Dawson K, Ferdig R, Black EW, Boyer J, Coutts J, et al. The intersection of online social networking with medical professionalism. J Gen Intern Med 2008 Jul;23(7):954-957 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-008-0538-8] [Medline: 18612723]
- 17. Fox S, Jones S. Pew Research Center. 2009. The Social Life of Health Information URL: <u>http://pewinternet.org.Reports/</u> 2007/Information-Searches [accessed 2016-08-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6jUKhpGXz]
- Bender JL, Jimenez-Marroquin M, Jadad AR. Seeking support on facebook: a content analysis of breast cancer groups. J Med Internet Res 2011 Feb;13(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1560] [Medline: 21371990]
- Schumacher KR, Stringer KA, Donohue JE, Yu S, Shaver A, Caruthers RL, et al. Social media methods for studying rare diseases. Pediatrics 2014;133(5):e1345-e1353. [Medline: <u>24733869</u>]
- 20. Abramson K, Keefe B, Chou WS. Communicating about cancer through Facebook: a qualitative analysis of a breast cancer awareness page. J Health Commun 2015 Dec;20(2):237-243. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2014.927034] [Medline: 25495200]
- Gaspar N, Hawkins DS, Dirksen U, Lewis IJ, Ferrari S, Le DM, van den Berg Hendrik, et al. Ewing Sarcoma: Current Management and Future Approaches Through Collaboration. J Clin Oncol 2015 Sep 20;33(27):3036-3046. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.59.5256] [Medline: 26304893]
- 22. Cote GM, Choy E. Update in treatment and targets in Ewing sarcoma. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 2013;27(5):1007-1019. [Medline: 24093173]
- 23. Seker MM, Kos T, Ozdemir N, Seker A, Aksoy S, Uncu D, et al. Treatment and outcomes of Ewing sarcoma in Turkish adults: a single centre experience. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2014;15(1):327-330 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24528050]
- 24. Lenhart A. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2009. Adults and social network sites URL: <u>http://pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2009/PIP_Adult_social_networking_data_memo_FINAL.pdf.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-08-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6jXG1blCC]
- 25. Duggan M, Brenner J. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet and American Life Project The demographics of social media users 2012 URL: <u>http://pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2013/PIP_SocialMediaUsers.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-08-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6jUKmMVCW]
- Ramo DE, Thrul J, Chavez K, Delucchi KL, Prochaska JJ. Feasibility and Quit Rates of the Tobacco Status Project: A Facebook Smoking Cessation Intervention for Young Adults. J Med Internet Res 2015 Dec;17(12):e291 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.5209</u>] [Medline: <u>26721211</u>]

RenderX

- 27. Leithner A, Maurer-Ertl W, Glehr M, Friesenbichler J, Leithner K, Windhager R. Wikipedia and osteosarcoma: a trustworthy patients' information? J Am Med Inform Assoc 2010;17(4):373-374 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.004507] [Medline: 20595302]
- 28. Burcher N. Nickburcher. 2008. Facebook users per country and Facebook usage by country as a percentage of the population URL: <u>http://www.nickburcher.com/2008/07/facebook-user-numbers-by-country-and.html</u> [accessed 2016-08-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6jUKpT9vD]
- 29. SurveyMonkey. 2014. Create Surveys, Get Answers URL: <u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/mp/aboutus/</u> [accessed 2016-08-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6jUKpzqg4]
- 30. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of Web surveys : the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res 2004 Sep 29;6(3):e34. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34</u>]
- Greene JA, Choudhry NK, Kilabuk E, Shrank WH. Online social networking by patients with diabetes: a qualitative evaluation of communication with Facebook. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Mar;26(3):287-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1526-3] [Medline: 20945113]
- 32. Gajaria A, Yeung E, Goodale T, Charach A. Beliefs about attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and response to stereotypes: youth postings in Facebook groups. J Adolesc Health 2011 Jul;49(1):15-20. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.09.004</u>] [Medline: <u>21700151</u>]
- Farmer AD, Bruckner H, Cook MJ, Hearing SD. Social networking sites: a novel portal for communication. Postgrad Med J 2009 Sep;85(1007):455-459. [doi: <u>10.1136/pgmj.2008.074674</u>] [Medline: <u>19734511</u>]
- 34. De la Torre-Díez I, Díaz-Pernas FJ, Antón-Rodríguez M. A content analysis of chronic diseases social groups on Facebook and Twitter. Telemed J E Health 2012 Jul;18(6):404-408. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2011.0227</u>] [Medline: <u>22650380</u>]
- 35. Hale TM, Pathipati AS, Zan S, Jethwani K. Representation of health conditions on Facebook: content analysis and evaluation of user engagement. J Med Internet Res 2014 Aug;16(8):e182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3275] [Medline: 25092386]
- Lampe C, Vitak J, Gray R, Ellison N. Perceptions of Facebook's value as an information source. 2012 Presented at: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 5-10, 2012; New York, NY p. 3195-3204. [doi: 10.1145/2207676.2208739]
- Hale TM, Pathipati AS, Zan S, Jethwani K. Representation of health conditions on Facebook: content analysis and evaluation of user engagement. J Med Internet Res 2014 Aug;16(8):e182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3275] [Medline: 25092386]
- 38. Cline R, Haynes K. Consumer health information seeking on the Internet: the state of the art. Health Educ Res Dec 2001;16(6):671-692.
- 39. Pennbridge J, Moya R, Rodrigues L. Questionnaire survey of California consumers' use and rating of sources of health care information including the Internet. West J Med 1999;171(5-6):302-305. [Medline: <u>10639865</u>]
- Cobb NK, Graham AL, Abrams DB. Social network structure of a large online community for smoking cessation. Am J Public Health 2010 Jul;100(7):1282-1289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.165449] [Medline: 20466971]
- 41. Chou WS, Hunt YM, Beckjord EB, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Social media use in the United States: implications for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2009 Nov;11(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1249] [Medline: 19945947]
- Kontos EZ, Emmons KM, Puleo E, Viswanath K. Communication inequalities and public health implications of adult social networking site use in the United States. J Health Commun 2010 Dec;15 Suppl 3:216-235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2010.522689] [Medline: 21154095]
- 43. Lenhart A. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2009. Adults and social network sites URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/old-media//Files/Reports/2009/PIP_Adult_social_networking_data_memo_FINAL.pdf.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-08-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6jbV3oGEK]
- 44. Davison KP, Pennebaker J, Dickerson S. Who talks? The social psychology of illness support groups. Am Psychol 2000 Feb;55(2):205-217. [Medline: 10717968]
- 45. Moreno M, Parks M, Richardson L. What are adolescents showing the world about their health risk behaviors on MySpace? MedGenMed. MedGenMed 2007;9(4):9.
- 46. Baptist AP, Thompson M, Grossman KS, Mohammed L, Sy A, Sanders GM. Social media, text messaging, and email-preferences of asthma patients between 12 and 40 years old. J Asthma 2011 Oct;48(8):824-830. [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2011.608460] [Medline: 21864099]
- 47. Schippinger M, Ruckenstuhl P, Friesenbichler J, Leithner A. [Osteosarcoma: reliability and quality of the information in the internet]. Wien Med Wochenschr 2014 Sep;164(17-18):353-357. [doi: 10.1007/s10354-014-0304-y] [Medline: 25205186]
- 48. Donaldson L. Expert patients usher in a new era of opportunity for the NHS. BMJ 2003 Jun 14;326(7402):1279-1280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.326.7402.1279] [Medline: 12805129]
- 49. Brown J, Ryan C, Harris A. How doctors view and use social media: a national survey. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec;16(12):e267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3589] [Medline: 25470407]
- Cutrona SL, Roblin DW, Wagner JL, Gaglio B, Williams AE, Torres SR, et al. Adult Willingness to Use Email and Social Media for Peer-to-Peer Cancer Screening Communication: Quantitative Interview Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2013;2(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2886] [Medline: 24287495]

RenderX

Abbreviations

ESA: Ewing Sarcoma Awareness FB: Facebook Q: question SD: standard deviation

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 23.11.15; peer-reviewed by T Hale, A Lau, J Batra; comments to author 03.04.16; revised version received 13.05.16; accepted 30.05.16; published 25.08.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ruckenstuhl P, Schippinger M, Liebmann P, Leithner A, Bernhardt G Like or Dislike? Impact of Facebook on Ewing Sarcoma Treatment JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e11 URL: <u>http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e11/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/cancer.5367</u> PMID:<u>28410188</u>

©Paul Ruckenstuhl, Michael Schippinger, Paul Liebmann, Andreas Leithner, Gerwin Bernhardt. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 25.08.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Comparing Web-Based Provider-Initiated and Patient-Initiated Survivorship Care Planning for Cancer Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial

Katherine Clegg Smith^{1,2}, PhD; Elliott Tolbert¹, PhD; Susan M Hannum¹, PhD; Archana Radhakrishnan³, MD, MHS; Kelsey Zorn¹, BA, MHS; Amanda Blackford⁴, ScM; Stephen Greco^{5,6}, MD; Karen Smith^{2,3,7}, MD; Claire F Snyder^{2,8,9}, PhD

¹Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

²Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁵Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Department of Radiation Oncology, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁸Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Department of General Internal Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁹Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Department of Health Policy and Management, Baltimore, MD, United States

Corresponding Author:

Katherine Clegg Smith, PhD Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health 624 N Broadway Baltimore, MD, 21205 United States Phone: 1 410 502 0025 Fax: 1 410 955 7241 Email: katecsmith@jhu.edu

Abstract

Background: Survivorship care plans (SCPs) are intended to facilitate communication and coordination between patients, oncologists, and primary care providers. Most SCP initiatives have focused on oncology providers initiating the SCP process, but time and resource barriers have limited uptake.

Objective: This trial compares the feasibility and value of 2 Web-based SCP tools: provider-initiated versus patient-initiated.

Methods: This mixed-methods study recruited clinicians from 2 academically-affiliated community oncology practices. Eligible patients were treated by a participating oncologist, had nonmetastatic cancer, completed acute treatment ≤ 2 months before enrollment, and had no evidence of disease. Patients were randomized 1:1 to either provider-initiated or patient-initiated SCPs—both are Web-based tools. We conducted qualitative interviews with providers at baseline and follow-up and with patients 2 months after enrollment. In addition, patients were administered the Preparing for Life as a (New) Survivor (PLANS) and Cancer Survivors' Unmet Needs (CaSUN) surveys at baseline and 2 months.

Results: A total of 40 providers were approached for the study, of whom 13 (33%) enrolled. Providers or clinic staff required researcher assistance to identify eligible patients; 41 patients were randomized, of whom 25 completed follow-up (61%; 13 provider-initiated, 12 patient-initiated). Of the 25, 11 (44%) had initiated the SCP; 5 (20%) provided the SCP to their primary care provider. On the Preparing for Life as a (New) Survivor and Cancer Survivors' Unmet Needs, patients in both arms tended to report high knowledge and confidence and few unmet needs. In qualitative interviews, providers and patients discussed SCPs' value.

Conclusions: Regardless of patient- versus provider-initiated templates and the Web-based design of these tools, barriers to survivorship care planning persist. Further efforts should emphasize workflow *functions* for identifying and completing SCPs—regardless of the SCP *form* used.

RenderX

³Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁴Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center, Division of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁶Suburban Hospital, Bethesda, MD, United States

⁷Sibley Memorial Hospital, Washington, DC, United States

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02405819; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02405819 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6jWqcWOvK)

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e12) doi:10.2196/cancer.5947

KEYWORDS

survivorship care plan; mixed methods study; randomized controlled trial

Introduction

The completion of active cancer treatment is a critical juncture when patients need support and communication to ensure optimal health and quality of life outcomes. The 2005 Institute of Medicine (IOM) report "*From Cancer Patient to Cancer Survivor: Lost in Transition*" [1] highlighted the difficulty that many cancer patients face when transitioning from acute treatment. The IOM report recommended that patients completing treatment receive a summary of the treatments received and a plan for follow-up care. These materials have become known as a "survivorship care plan" (SCP). SCPs have become a target initiative for patient-centered improvements to oncology, but the literature on their implementation and impact remains sparse and inconclusive [2-8].

Based on the IOM recommendation, various organizations have developed SCP templates. Most of these templates have been designed with the intention of oncology providers initiating the survivorship care planning process. Uptake of survivorship care planning has, however, been slow and limited [9]. There are now several initiatives underway that are reconsidering survivorship care planning approaches, updating available templates, or both [10-12]. Web-based, patient-initiated SCPs are one alternative whereby the patient is empowered to at least begin completion of a treatment summary and care plan at home. The idea behind the patient-initiated approach is that this may serve to reduce barriers related to available time and resources in the oncology clinic, while further engaging patients in self-care. Journey Forward is a collaboration of the National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship, the UCLA Cancer Survivorship Center, the Oncology Nursing Society, Anthem Inc., and Genentech [12]. The Journey Forward collaboration has developed both the "Survivorship Care Plan Builder" (provider-initiated; see Multimedia Appendix 1) and "My Care Plan" (patient-initiated; see Multimedia Appendix 2) Web-based templates and has made these tools freely available on the Web. It is also possible to print the forms and fill them out by hand.

In this study (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02405819), we sought to compare the feasibility and value of the 2 Journey Forward models of SCP provision. We designed the study to provide initial evidence of the feasibility and possible value of 2 models of SCP provision. We present data from the perspectives of both patients and providers regarding implementation processes and feasibility, facilitators and barriers, and perceived value of the survivorship care planning process.

Methods

Study Design

This mixed-methods study comparing 2 modalities of SCPs ("Care Plan Builder" and "My Care Plan") used a randomized design and was conducted in 2 community-based, academically affiliated hospitals [13]. We recruited oncologists who manage breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer patients. Patient eligibility was not, however, limited to breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer; patient participants were recruited through the participating clinicians and were adults (21 years and older) diagnosed with any nonmetastatic cancer. Patients were enrolled in the study for a period of 4 months and were followed for 2 months. This study was reviewed and approved by Johns Hopkins School of Medicine Institutional Review Board.

Clinician Participants

Participation of clinicians in the study was determined to be an indicator of feasibility, and we tracked the number of clinicians approached, the number eligible, and the number who consented to participate. Clinicians were approached to participate in the study through both in-person presentations of the work and through emailed requests. Consent to participate was acquired in-person. Once clinicians agreed to participate and provided written informed consent, we conducted a baseline qualitative interview in which we asked about experiences of survivorship care planning, expectations for the study, and the perceived value of SCPs. Once data collection with patients was complete, we conducted a follow-up interview with participating clinicians to ask about experiences with the interventions. In this interview, we revisited the issue of the perceived value of SCPs and obtained clinician feedback on the implementation (including barriers and facilitators) and feasibility of the 2 survivorship care planning approaches implemented in this trial.

Patient Participants

To determine the feasibility of oncologists or oncology staff identifying patients for an SCP, the original study protocol called for participating oncologists to refer adult patients completing active treatment for nonmetastatic cancer to the study team. Specific patient eligibility criteria included having nonmetastatic disease, completed acute treatment within the past 2 months, and no evidence of disease. Although patients had to have completed acute treatment, patients on chronic treatment (>1 year) were eligible. Patient participants were identified in the clinic by clinic staff, and a member of the research team oversaw consent procedures. Eligible patients who agreed to participate provided written informed consent and were randomized 1:1 using a random number generator with the condition concealed until randomization; patients and

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

their clinicians were then informed of the randomized condition. Patients were paid \$35 for their participation in the study.

Plan Initiation

For participants randomized to the patient-initiated My Care Plan group, the research team directed patients to the Web address for the appropriate tool and provided an instructional hand-out for reference. For participants randomized to the provider-initiated Survivorship Care Plan Builder, the provider was made aware of their randomization and was responsible for completing the SCP. The clinicians were all given information on the SCP Builder website or tool and were also familiarized with the patient-initiated My Care Plan tool.

Data Collection and Outcome Measures

Data collection occurred at 2 time points: baseline and 2-month follow-up. The primary outcome was receipt of an SCP by the 2-month follow-up. Specifically, at the 2-month follow-up contact, we determined whether the patient had a partially or fully completed SCP versus no plan at all.

Secondary outcomes included supportive care needs assessed by the Cancer Survivors' Unmet Needs (CaSUN) survey [14], and knowledge and confidence about survivorship assessed by the Preparing for Life as a (New) Survivor (PLANS) survey [15]. The CaSUN is a validated measure that includes 35 unmet need items with response options of no need or not applicable, met need, and weak, moderate, or strong unmet need. We assigned values of 1=no need or not applicable to 5=strong unmet need and used these to calculate means for the individual items. There are also 6 positive change items with response options of has always been like this, has been a positive outcome, no: want help to achieve this, and no: not important to me; these data are presented descriptively. The PLANS survey includes 11 knowledge items rated on a 4-point Likert scale from 1=strongly disagree to 4=strongly agree, as well as 5 confidence items rated on a 10-point scale from 1=not at all confident to 10=extremely confident. We calculated means for the individual PLANS items. These questionnaires, along with patient demographics, were collected by interviewer-assisted, patient report on paper forms, at baseline. The CaSUN and PLANS were also collected at the 2-month follow-up.

Finally, we conducted a brief, targeted qualitative interview with patients at follow-up regarding perceived impact of cancer, informational and support needs, as well as experiences and attitudes about the SCP tool to which they were randomized. This interview collected information on processes undertaken to complete the SCP (or challenges that prevented successful completion of an SCP), parts of the process the patients found helpful or that presented obstacles, and recommendations for improving the process.

Quantitative data from the CaSUN and PLANS were analyzed with summary statistics and descriptively by comparing the distribution of scores at baseline between intervention arms and the distribution of scores at follow-up between intervention arms using nonparametric Wilcoxon rank-sum tests. Changes from baseline to follow-up were described within interventions arms with Wilcoxon signed-rank tests. To describe the

differential change from baseline to follow-up between intervention arms (ie, interaction), we compared the changes between intervention arms with Wilcoxon rank-sum tests. No formal sample size calculations were conducted for the secondary quantitative outcome measures; however, the results here can inform power calculations for future evaluations. Analysis of interview data from clinicians and patients was thematic and summative, with a focus on identification of perceived and experienced value of SCPs, as well as facilitators and barriers to implementation of both modalities. Interview data were read and reviewed by various members of the research team, with a view to establishing consensus about major emergent themes. All quantitative analyses were completed using statistical software R, version 3.3.0 [16].

Results

Survivorship Care Planning Feasibility: Provider and Patient Participation

Of the 40 eligible oncologists at the 2 hospitals, 13 (33%) agreed to participate in the study. Nearly half of the clinicians were female (46%); the sample included 5 radiation oncologists (38%), 5 medical oncologists (38%), and 3 surgeons (23%). The clinicians who did not choose to participate included 17 surgical oncologists and 10 medical oncologists; all eligible radiation oncologists chose to participate in the study. At the initiation of the study, none of the participating oncologists provided SCPs to patients as part of standard care. We conducted follow-up interviews with 11 of the 13 enrolled clinicians; 2 clinicians did not respond to numerous attempts to schedule an interview at follow-up.

Although the planned approach for patient recruitment was for oncologists and clinic staff to identify patients completing treatment, it became clear after 1 month of passive research observation that processes relying on the clinical teams were ineffective. For the remaining 3 months of recruitment, research staff worked with clinic staff to identify patients eligible for SCPs. A member of research staff was present on clinic days and reviewed schedules to identify potentially eligible patients who were due to have appointments. Research staff prompted clinic staff to discuss joining the study with potential participants.

In total, 74 patients were approached and 41 (55%) enrolled and were randomized—21 to the provider-initiated Survivorship Care Plan Builder and 20 to the patient-initiated My Care Plan (Figure 1). The 41 enrolled patients were recruited from 5 (38%) of the 13 participating clinicians; 3 of the referring clinicians were radiation oncologists, 1 a surgical oncologist, and 1 a medical oncologist. Participating patients were, on average, aged 66 years (range: 44-90 years), 68% female, 81% white, 59% married, and 51% reported excellent or very good health (Table 1). Breast cancer was the most common diagnosis (61%), followed by prostate cancer (20%), and lung cancer (10%). Patients were most commonly retired (46%) or working full-time (37%). Almost all participants had high-speed Web access (95%) and were regular computer users (85%).



XSL•FC RenderX

Table 1. Patient characteristics overall and by study arm.^a

Characteristic	All patients (N=41)	Provider-initiated (n=21)	Patient-initiated (n=20)
Age	•		
Mean (Standard deviation)	66 (11.7)	66 (12.5)	65 (11.1)
Median (Range)	63 (44-90)	64 (44-90)	62 (44-88)
Gender, n (%)			
Male	13 (31.7)	6 (28.6)	7 (35.0)
Race, n (%)			
White	33 (80.5)	16 (76.2)	17 (85.0)
Black or African American	5 (12.2)	4 (19.0)	1 (5.0)
Other	3 (7.3)	1 (4.7)	2 (10.0)
Hispanic	5 (12.2)	2 (9.5)	3 (15.0)
Education, n (%)			
High school graduate or lower	7 (17.1)	4 (19.0)	3 (15.0)
Attended some college	3 (7.3)	2 (9.5)	1 (5.0)
College graduate	8 (19.5)	3 (14.3)	5 (25.0)
Any postsecondary work	23 (56.1)	12 (57.1)	11 (55.0)
Cancer type, n (%)			
Breast	25 (60.9)	14 (66.7)	11 (55.0)
Prostate	8 (19.5)	4 (19.0)	4 (20.0)
Lung	4 (9.8)	1 (4.8)	3 (15.0)
Other	4 (9.8)	2 (9.5)	2 (10.0)
Marital Status, n (%)			
Married	24 (58.5)	13 (61.9)	11 (55.0)
Divorced or separated	4 (9.8)	2 (9.5)	2 (10.0)
Widowed	6 (14.6)	1 (4.8)	5 (25.0)
Never married	7 (17.1)	5 (23.8)	2 (10.0)
Employment status, n (%)			
Working full-time	15 (36.6)	10 (47.6)	5 (25.0)
Retired	19 (46.3)	10 (47.6)	9 (45.0)
Other	7 (17.1)	1 (4.8)	6 (30.0)
Current health, n (%)			
Excellent	6 (14.6)	5 (23.8)	1 (5.0)
Very good	15 (36.6)	6 (28.6)	9 (45.0)
Good	13 (31.7)	6 (28.6)	7 (35.0)
Fair	5 (12.2)	4 (19.0)	1 (5.0)
Poor	1 (2.4)	0 (0)	1 (5)
No response	1 (2.4)	0	1
Computer access, n (%)			
Dial-up or low speed	1 (2.4)	1 (4.7)	0 (0)
High speed	39 (95.1)	19 (90.5)	20 (100.0)
No response	1 (2.4)	1 (4.8)	0 (0)
Computer use, n (%)			
Regular	35 (85.4)	18 (85.7)	17 (85.0)

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e12/

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristic	All patients (N=41)	Provider-initiated (n=21)	Patient-initiated (n=20)
Occasional	3 (7.3)	2 (9.5)	1 (5.0)
Rare	1 (2.4)	0 (0)	1 (5.0)
Never	1 (2.4)	0 (0)	1 (5.0)
No response	1 (2.4)	1 (4.8)	0
Referring clinician type			
Radiation oncology	32 (78.0)	17 (80.9)	15 (75.0)
Medical oncology	8 (19.5)	3 (14.3)	5 (25.0)
Surgical oncology	1 (4.9)	1 (4.8)	0

^aNote: individual values are rounded and may not total 100%.

Figure 1. Enrollment into survivorship care planning trial.



After 2 months, 25 (61%) of the 41 enrolled patients provided follow-up data. We made repeated attempts to contact enrolled participants, except where early contacts resulted in expressed desire for no further participation. Reasons given for not participating in follow-up included ill health and change of residence.

Of the 25 patients who participated in follow-up (13 in the provider-initiated arm, 12 in the patient-initiated arm), 11 (44%) had initiated an SCP. In the patient-initiated arm (n=20), 8 initiated a plan, with 5 of these completing the plan and 3 of these 5 reporting that they had given the plan to their primary care provider (PCP). In the provider-initiated arm (n=21), we were not able to assess the number of plans started but not completed or provided to the patient; 3 patients had received a

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e12/

RenderX

completed SCP by the 2-month follow-up, and 2 of these patients reported having provided the SCP to their PCP.

Clinician Perspectives on SCP Facilitators and Barriers

In the baseline qualitative interviews, clinicians noted the *value* of SCPs in terms of (1) providing a good summary of treatment and an "exit strategy"; (2) potential to assist patient communication; (3) potential to increase both patient knowledge and a sense of empowerment; (4) utility if accurate and concise; (5) potential to save clinician time if patient initiated; and (6) valuable if they provide something additional to the clinical encounter. In total, 10 of the 13 clinicians made some comment in support of the concept of SCPs; 5 of these clinicians enrolled patients and only 2 actually completed provider-initiated plans. In the follow-up interviews, cancer providers reiterated many of the same perspectives, including: (1) assisting with improving

transition of care to PCP (both coordination and communication); (2) improving patient knowledge of long-term effects; (3) improving patient general well-being by addressing key concerns; (4) facilitating patient investment and empowerment; (5) providing a good template for multispecialty care teams; and (6) allowing the PCP to be the "survivorship director." There was one clinician who questioned the value of SCPs at both baseline and follow-up. Overall, however, the follow-up interviews revealed 2 main areas of potential value for clinicians: (1) improving the transition to the PCP and (2) improving patient knowledge of potential long-term effects of their treatment.

At baseline, clinicians noted a variety of facilitators for successful implementation of SCPs, including that: (1) plans must be concise and easy to use and understand; (2) there should be a staff member (such as a clinical nurse) dedicated to the task of delivering the plan; and (3) the timing of the plan is important. There was considerable disagreement between oncologists about the optimal time to initiate a SCP; some felt that plans should be provided earlier, whereas others said that they would like to see plans provided later in the care trajectory to avoid overwhelming patients during their cancer care. The providers also noted that patients may not be sufficiently knowledgeable about their disease and treatment to accurately complete the SCP sooner. Facilitators most often mentioned at follow-up were patient engagement/motivation, having dedicated staff, plans being concise, and use of electronic medical records (EMRs) for easy access to patient treatment data between settings.

At baseline, the primary *barriers* identified by the clinicians were clinician time and patient knowledge. In initial interviews, clinicians most often discussed a preference for patient-initiated SCPs. At follow-up, the main points highlighted by the clinicians regarding barriers were clinician time, patient engagement or motivation, patient knowledge, not having dedicated staff, over-complicated plans, and the use of EMRs to the extent that time spent inputting information reduced time available for interaction with the patient. In addition, clinicians expressed support for the idea that there should be strong patient buy-in for survivorship care planning, such that there was some perception that plans that are patient-initiated might be more successful. Another point raised was that when plans are patient-initiated, there is potential for saving time for the clinician.

Patient Informational and Support Needs and Preparedness for Survivorship

Results from the CaSUN needs assessment at baseline indicated few unmet needs (average > 2.0) in either intervention arm (Table 2). In both the provider- and patient-initiated arms, the areas of unmet needs were *feeling like I am managing my health* together with the medical team, knowing that all my doctors talk to each other to coordinate my care, and managing concerns about the cancer coming back. In the patient-initiated arm, additional areas of unmet need were *needing local health care* services and an ongoing case manager. There was only one statistically significant difference between arms at baseline: needing local health care (P=.03). At follow-up, patients in both arms continued to report unmet needs in knowing that my doctors talk to each other to coordinate my care and managing concerns about the cancer coming back. Patients in the patient-initiated arm also continued to report unmet needs in managing my health together with the medical team, although this was no longer the case for patients in the provider-initiated arm.

Table 2. Cancer Survivors' Unmet Needs at baseline and follow-up by intervention arm.

Mean (Standard Deviation) ^a	Provider-initiated at baseline (n=21)	Patient-initiated at baseline (n=20)	<i>P</i> value for differ- ences at baseline between arms ^b	Provider-initiated at follow-up (n=13)	Patient-initiated at follow-up (n=12)	<i>P</i> value for differ- ences at follow- up between arms ^b
I need up to date information	1.8 (0.5)	1.5 (0.6)	.12	1.8 (0.9)	2.0 (1.3)	>.99
My family and/or partner needs in- formation relevant to them	1.7 (0.8)	1.6 (0.7)	.70	1.3 (0.5)	1.6 (0.9)	.70
I need information provided in a way that I can understand	1.6 (0.5)	1.9 (1.0)	.66	1.6 (0.5)	2.0 (1.1)	.56
I need the very best medical care	1.8 (0.4)	2.0 (0.3)	.11	1.7 (0.5)	2.0 (0.8)	.45
I need local health care services that are available when I require them	1.5 (0.5)	2.1 (1.0)	.03	1.6 (0.5)	1.9 (1.4)	.91
I need to feel like I am managing my health together with the medical team	2.1 (0.9)	2.2 (0.8)	.61	1.7 (0.7)	2.3 (0.9)	.13
I need to know that all my doctors talk to each other to coordinate my care	2.2 (1.3)	2.6 (1.2)	.08	2.3 (1.1)	2.9 (1.5)	.34
I need any complaints regarding my care to be properly addressed	1.8 (0.9)	2.0 (1.0)	.46	1.5 (0.5)	1.6 (0.9)	>.99
I need access to complementary and/or alternative therapy services	1.7 (1.0)	1.9 (1.2)	.69	1.5 (0.7)	1.6 (0.9)	.84
I need help to reduce stress in my life	1.9 (0.9)	1.8 (1.0)	.46	2.0 (1.1)	1.4 (0.5)	.15
I need help to manage ongoing side effects and/or complications of treatment	1.4 (0.5)	1.8 (1.1)	.32	1.9 (0.9)	1.7 (0.7)	.70
I need help to adjust to changes in my quality of life as a result of my cancer	1.8 (1.0)	2.0 (1.2)	.91	1.5 (0.7)	1.5 (0.7)	.90
I need help with having a family due to fertility problems	1.1 (0.2)	1.0 (0.0)	.35	1.0 (0.0)	1.0 (0.0)	_c
I need assistance with getting and/or maintaining employment	1.1 (0.5)	1.1 (0.2)	.58	1.0 (0.0)	1.1 (0.3)	.39
I need help to find out about finan- cial support and/or government benefits to which I am entitled	1.4 (1.0)	1.6 (1.2)	.63	1.0 (0.0)	1.0 (0.0)	_ ^c
Due to my cancer, I need help get- ting life and/or travel insurance	1.1 (0.2)	1.5 (0.9)	.12	1.0 (0.0)	1.2 (0.6)	.39
Due to my cancer, I need help ac- cessing legal services	1.2 (0.9)	1.2 (0.5)	.58	1.0 (0.0)	1.0 (0.0)	_c
I need more accessible hospital parking	1.4 (0.8)	1.8 (1.2)	.25	1.0 (0.0)	1.2 (0.4)	.19
I need help to manage my concerns about the cancer coming back	2.6 (1.3)	2.3 (1.4)	.34	2.3 (1.3)	2.4 (1.4)	>.99
I need emotional support to be pro- vided for me	1.8 (0.9)	1.5 (0.8)	.27	1.7 (1.1)	1.5 (0.7)	.75
I need help to know how to support my partner and/or family	1.5 (0.8)	1.7 (1.1)	.78	1.3 (0.7)	1.2 (0.4)	.88
I need help to deal with the impact that cancer has had on my relation- ship with my partner	1.5 (0.9)	1.6 (1.0)	.96	1.5 (0.9)	1.1 (0.3)	.22
I need help with developing new relationships after my cancer	1.2 (0.9)	1.2 (0.7)	>.99	1.1 (0.3)	1.0 (0.0)	.34

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e12/



```
Smith et al
```

Mean (Standard Deviation) ^a	Provider-initiated at baseline (n=21)	Patient-initiated at baseline (n=20)	<i>P</i> value for differ- ences at baseline between arms ^b	Provider-initiated at follow-up (n=13)	Patient-initiated at follow-up (n=12)	<i>P</i> value for differ- ences at follow- up between arms ^b
I need to talk to others who have experienced cancer	1.8 (1.1)	1.6 (1.0)	.45	1.5 (0.7)	1.4 (0.7)	.61
I need help to handle the topic of cancer in social and/or work situa- tions	1.8 (1.1)	1.5 (1.0)	.23	1.1 (0.3)	1.4 (0.7)	.33
I need help to adjust to changes to the way I feel about my body	1.7 (1.0)	1.4 (0.9)	.13	1.5 (0.9)	1.3 (0.7)	.54
I need help to address problems with my/our sex life	1.3 (0.8)	1.6 (1.2)	.84	1.2 (0.4)	1.5 (0.7)	.40
I need an ongoing case manager to whom I can go to find out about services whenever they are needed	1.9 (1.3)	2.2 (1.5)	.57	1.5 (1.0)	1.6 (1.2)	>.99
I need help to move on with my life	1.7 (1.1)	1.7 (1.2)	.75	1.4 (0.7)	1.4 (0.7)	.81
I need help to cope with changes to my belief that nothing bad will ever happen in my life	1.5 (0.9)	1.3 (0.7)	.54	1.9 (1.1)	1.4 (0.9)	.13
I need help to cope with others not acknowledging the impact that can- cer has had on my life	1.4 (0.8)	1.4 (1.0)	.58	1.8 (1.3)	1.0 (0.0)	.06
I need help to deal with my own and/or others expectations of me as a "cancer survivor"	1.6 (1.0)	1.6 (1.1)	.96	1.9 (1.3)	1.2 (0.6)	.09
I need help to try to make decisions about my life in the context of uncer- tainty	1.5 (0.8)	1.5 (1.1)	.84	1.7 (1.1)	1.3 (0.7)	.49
I need help to explore my spiritual beliefs	1.5 (0.6)	1.3 (0.6)	.27	1.1 (0.3)	1.1 (0.3)	>.99
I need help to make my life count	1.3 (0.5)	1.5 (0.9)	.74	1.2 (0.4)	1.3 (0.7)	.96

^aMean scores with 1=no need, 2=met need, 3=weak unmet need, 4=moderate unmet need, 5=strong unmet need.

^b*P* values for Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for differences in scores between intervention arms separately at baseline and follow-up.

^cFor this question, all patients reported the same answer at follow-up, so there is no *P* value to compute.

In terms of changes on the CaSUN from baseline to follow-up (Table 3), patients in the provider-initiated arm had statistically significant improvement on *family/partner needing informatio* n (mean change: 0.5; *P*=.04), *handling the topic of cancer in social/work situations* (mean change: 0.8; *P*=.03), and *exploring spiritual beliefs* (mean change: 0.6; *P*=.04). None of the changes

within the patient-initiated arm were statistically significant. There was one statistically significant difference in change between treatment arms: needing help managing my concerns about cancer improved by 0.3 in the provider-initiated arm but worsened by 0.7 in the patient-initiated arm (P=.03).



Table 3. Cancer Survivors' Unmet Needs change from baseline to follow-up by intervention arm.

Maan (Stan dand Daviation)		Dualua far abaras		Duchus for shores	Devolue for differ
Mean (Standard Deviation)	Change ^a in provider-initiated arm (n=13)	<i>P</i> value for change within provider- initiated arm ^b	Change ^a in patient- initiated arm $(n=12)$	<i>P</i> value for change within patient-initi- ated arm ^b	<i>P</i> value for differ- ences in change between arms ^c
I need up to date information	0 (0.9)	>.99	0.4 (1.0)	.34	.37
My family and/or partner needs informa- tion relevant to them	-0.5 (0.5)	.04	-0.1 (0.5)	.77	.11
I need information provided in a way that I can understand	-0.1 (0.6)	.77	0.3 (1.5)	.58	.74
I need the very best medical care	-0.3 (0.5)	.15	-0.1 (0.6)	.77	.45
I need local health care services that are available when I require them	0.1 (0.6)	.77	-0.3 (1.1)	.48	.23
I need to feel like I am managing my health together with the medical team	-0.4 (0.7)	.13	0.3 (1.0)	.41	.11
I need to know that all my doctors talk to each other to coordinate my care	-0.1 (1.2)	.89	0.4 (1.1)	.28	.37
I need any complaints regarding my care to be properly addressed	-0.2 (0.6)	.42	-0.4 (0.8)	.20	.72
I need access to complementary and/or alternative therapy services	0.0 (0.9)	>.99	-0.5 (1.2)	.27	.45
I need help to reduce stress in my life	0.2 (1.1)	.59	-0.1 (0.8)	.85	.82
I need help to manage ongoing side effects and/or complications of treatment	0.3 (1.0)	.37	0.0 (1.3)	.82	.82
I need help to adjust to changes in my quality of life as a result of my cancer	-0.1 (0.7)	.77	-0.1 (1.3)	>.99	.82
I need help with having a family due to fertility problems	0.0 (0.0)	_d	0.0 (0.0)	_d	_d
I need assistance with getting and/or maintaining employment	0.0 (0.0)	_d	0.0 (0.5)	>.99	>.99
I need help to find out about financial support and/or government benefits to which I am entitled	0.0 (0.0)	_d	-0.5 (1.0)	.37	.19
Due to my cancer, I need help getting life and/or travel insurance	-0.1 (0.3)	>.99	-0.5 (1.0)	.37	.56
Due to my cancer, I need help accessing legal services	0.0 (0.0)	_d	-0.3 (0.7)	.37	.19
I need more accessible hospital parking	-0.3 (0.7)	.37	-0.2 (0.6)	.42	.93
I need help to manage my concerns about the cancer coming back	-0.3 (0.5)	.15	0.7 (1.2)	.09	.03
I need emotional support to be provided for me	0.0 (0.7)	>.99	0.1 (0.9)	>.99	.77
I need help to know how to support my partner and/or family	-0.3 (0.7)	.37	-0.5 (1.1)	.27	.97
I need help to deal with the impact that cancer has had on my relationship with my partner	-0.2 (0.4)	.35	-0.5 (0.8)	.17	.60
I need help with developing new relation- ships after my cancer	0.1 (0.3)	>.99	-0.3 (0.9)	>.99	.19
I need to talk to others who have experi- enced cancer	-0.3 (0.7)	.23	-0.1 (0.8)	.85	.39
I need help to handle the topic of cancer in social and/or work situations	-0.8 (0.8)	.03	-0.2 (0.6)	.42	.08



Mean (Standard Deviation)	Change ^a in provider-initiated arm (n=13)	<i>P</i> value for change within provider-initiated arm ^b	Change ^a in patient- initiated arm (n=12)	<i>P</i> value for change within patient-initiated arm ^b	<i>P</i> value for differ- ences in change between arms ^c
I need help to adjust to changes to the way I feel about my body	-0.2 (1.0)	.71	-0.4 (0.8)	.20	.81
I need help to address problems with my/our sex life	-0.2 (0.4)	.35	-0.2 (1.3)	.71	.57
I need an ongoing case manager to whom I can go to find out about services when- ever they are needed	-0.5 (1.1)	.20	-0.6 (1.1)	.11	.79
I need help to move on with my life	0.0 (0.7)	>.99	-0.3 (0.9)	>.99	.69
I need help to cope with changes to my belief that nothing bad will ever happen in my life	0.0 (0.7)	>.99	0.3 (1.0)	.59	.72
I need help to cope with others not ac- knowledging the impact that cancer has had on my life	0.2 (1.2)	.85	-0.3 (0.7)	.37	.46
I need help to deal with my own and/or others expectations of me as a "cancer survivor"	0.1 (1.5)	>.99	-0.2 (1.0)	.71	.68
I need help to try to make decisions about my life in the context of uncertainty	-0.1 (0.6)	.77	-0.2 (0.8)	.59	>.99
I need help to explore my spiritual beliefs	-0.6 (0.5)	.04	-0.2 (0.8)	.59	.17
I need help to make my life count	-0.1 (0.6)	.77	-0.1 (1.2)	>.99	.75

^aPositive mean changes indicate more unmet needs; negative mean changes indicate less unmet need.

^b*P* values for Wilcoxon signed-rank tests for change from baseline to follow-up within intervention arm, among patients with data at follow-up only.

 ^{c}P values for Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for differences in the change from baseline to follow-up between intervention arms (interaction), among patients with data at follow-up only.

^dFor this question, all patients reported the same answer at baseline and follow-up, so there is no *P* value to compute.

Table 4 presents the CaSUN positive change items descriptively at baseline and follow-up by intervention arm. In the provider-initiated arm, the most frequently endorsed positive outcome at baseline was *growing as a person* (n=12 of 21; 57%). At follow-up, 9 of 13 (69%) endorsed *growing as a person* and also *benefiting from contact with other cancer survivors/families* as positive outcomes. In the patient-initiated arm, *appreciating relationships with others* more was most frequently endorsed at baseline (n=12 of 20; 60%) and at follow-up (n=7 of 12; 58%).

On the PLANS (Table 5), patients in both arms reported high survivorship knowledge and confidence. Ten of the first 11 items from the PLANS had mean scores \geq 3.0, indicating that participants were between "agree" and "strongly agree" on each of the items. The only items with a mean <3.0 were knowing what to expect over the next year (mean 2.9 in the provider-initiated group) and communication with PCP (mean 2.9 in the patient-initiated group). Similarly, patients in both study arms reported high scores, on average, on the 5 "confidence" PLANS items (1=not at all confident; 10=extremely confident). In both study arms, mean scores were lowest for health care providers communicating well (8.4 provider-initiated and 7.4 patient-initiated) and highest for going to follow-up appointments (9.7 provider-initiated and 9.9 patient-initiated). There were no statistically significant differences in mean scores by intervention arm at baseline.

We also found no statistically significant differences in mean scores by intervention arm at follow-up. Again, almost all of the 11 knowledge items had mean scores \geq 3.0. Among patients with follow-up in the provider-initiated group, the 2 items with mean scores <3.0 were being clear on normal symptoms (2.9) and knowing symptoms to look for (2.8). Among patients with follow-up in the patient-initiated group, the 2 items with mean scores <3.0 were communication among cancer care providers (2.8) and communication with PCP (2.7). For the 5 confidence items, scores ranged from 7.6-9.7 in the provider-initiated arm and 7.7-9.8 in the patient-initiated arm, with the same item rated lowest (health care providers communicating well) and highest (going to follow-up appointments) in both groups, similar to baseline.



n (%)	Provider-initiated at baseline (n=21)	Patient-initiated at baseline (n=20)	Provider-initiated at follow-up (n=13)	Patient-initiated at follow-up (n=12)			
I have benefited from contact with other cancer survivors and/or their families							
Yes, but I have always been like this	5 (23.8)	2 (10.0)	1 (7.7)	2 (16.7)			
Yes, this has been a positive outcome	11 (52.4)	10 (50.0)	9 (69.2)	6 (50.0)			
No, and I would like help to achieve this	2 (9.5)	3 (15.0)	1 (7.7)	1 (8.3)			
No, and this is not important to me	3 (14.3)	5 (25.0)	2 (15.4)	3 (25.0)			
I focus more on things that are important to me							
Yes, but I have always been like this	10 (47.6)	9 (45.0)	5 (38.5)	6 (50.0)			
Yes, this has been a positive outcome	9 (42.9)	9 (45.0)	7 (53.8)	5 (41.7)			
No, and I would like help to achieve this	0 (0)	1 (5.0)	0 (0)	1 (8.3)			
No, and this is not important to me	2 (9.5)	1 (5.0)	1 (7.7)	0 (0)			
I realize how precious life is							
Yes, but I have always been like this	14 (66.7)	10 (50.0)	9 (69.2)	6 (50.0)			
Yes, this has been a positive outcome	6 (28.6)	9 (45.0)	3 (23.1)	6 (50.0)			
No, and I would like help to achieve this	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)			
No, and this is not important to me	1 (4.8)	1 (5.0)	1 (7.7)	0 (0)			
I have made lots of positive changes in my life							
Yes, but I have always been like this	10 (47.6)	3 (15.0)	5 (38.5)	2 (16.7)			
Yes, this has been a positive outcome	6 (28.6)	8 (40.0)	5 (38.5)	4 (33.3)			
No, and I would like help to achieve this	2 (9.5)	4 (20.0)	1 (7.7)	2 (16.7)			
No, and this is not important to me	3 (14.3)	5 (25.0)	2 (15.4)	4 (33.3)			
I have grown as a person							
Yes, but I have always been like this	7 (33.3)	5 (25.0)	3 (23.1)	4 (33.3)			
Yes, this has been a positive outcome	12 (57.1)	10 (50.0)	9 (69.2)	5 (41.7)			
No, and I would like help to achieve this	1 (4.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)			
No, and this is not important to me	1 (4.8)	5 (25.0)	1 (7.7)	3 (25.0)			
I appreciate my relationships with others more							
Yes, but I have always been like this	11 (52.4)	7 (35.0)	5 (38.5)	4 (33.3)			
Yes, this has been a positive outcome	9 (42.9)	12 (60.0)	8 (61.5)	7 (58.3)			
No, and I would like help to achieve this	1 (4.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)			
No, and this is not important to me	0 (0)	1 (5.0)	0 (0)	1 (8.3)			



Table 5. Preparing for Life as a (New) Survivor Scale at baseline and follow-up by intervention arm.

Mean (Standard Deviation) ^a	Provider-initiat- ed at baseline (n=21)	Patient-initiated at baseline (n=20)	<i>P</i> value for dif- ferences at baseline be- tween arms ^b	Provider-initi- ated at follow- up (n=13)	Patient-initiated at follow-up (n=12)	<i>P</i> value for differences at follow- up between arms ^b
I know which health care providers to call with questions about my <i>cancer and its</i> <i>treatment</i>	3.6 (0.7)	3.6 (0.6)	>.99	3.5 (0.7)	3.5 (0.7)	.77
I am clear which health care providers to call if I have questions about <i>symptoms</i>	3.5 (0.6)	3.5 (0.6)	.88	3.3 (0.8)	3.5 (0.7)	.66
I am clear what symptoms are normal for me to experience	3.1 (0.7)	3.2 (0.6)	.49	2.9 (0.6)	3.2 (0.8)	.37
I know what symptoms or problems I should be looking for	3.1 (0.7)	3.1 (0.7)	.94	2.8 (0.6)	3.2 (0.6)	.11
I know how frequently I should be having appointments for follow-up care	3.4 (0.6)	3.3 (0.6)	.53	3.4 (0.5)	3.2 (0.8)	.56
I am always clear about the purpose of my visits	3.3 (0.7)	3.4 (0.6)	.79	3.4 (0.5)	3.5 (0.7)	.65
I know what tests are part of my follow- up care	3.0 (0.8)	3.1 (0.8)	.77	3.3 (0.6)	3.2 (0.8)	.73
I know other things I need to do to take the best care of myself	3.3 (0.6)	3.1 (0.7)	.54	3.2 (0.6)	3.6 (0.5)	.10
The health care providers who treat me for cancer communicate well with each other	3.2 (0.9)	3.1 (1.0)	.83	3.3 (0.5)	2.8 (1.0)	.28
The health care providers who treat me for cancer communicate well with my primary care/family provider	3.3 (0.7)	2.9 (1.0)	.31	3.0 (0.5)	2.7 (1.0)	.46
I feel prepared for what to expect over the next year	2.9 (0.8)	3.0 (0.7)	.97	3.1 (0.5)	3.0 (0.9)	.97
Mean (SD) ^b						
You will call or ask questions of your health care providers when you need to	8.8 (1.5)	8.8 (2.0)	.72	8.9 (1.5)	8.6 (2.7)	.45
You will go to all your follow-up appoint- ments	9.7 (0.7)	9.9 (0.2)	.09	9.7 (0.6)	9.8 (0.6)	.45
You will do what you need to do to take the best care of yourself	9.2 (1.0)	8.9 (1.6)	.85	8.9 (1.0)	9.2 (1.2)	.50
Your health care providers will communi- cate well with each other during the next year	8.4 (1.9)	7.4 (2.5)	.18	7.6 (1.2)	7.7 (2.7)	.41
There is a well-coordinated plan for your cancer care	8.7 (1.4)	8.3 (2.5)	.79	8.0 (1.4)	8.2 (2.9)	.15

^a1=strongly disagree to 4=strongly agree.

^b1=not at all confident to 10=extremely confident.

^cP values for Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for differences in scores between intervention arms separately at baseline and follow-up.

Changes on the PLANS tended to be small in both groups (Table 6). The greatest worsening was seen in the provider-initiated group whose confidence that their health care providers will communicate well decreased by an average of 1.2 points (P=.01). This change was statistically significantly different

from the 0.1 point improvement in the patient-initiated arm (P=.04 for between-group difference). No other within-group changes were statistically significant in either the provider-initiated or patient-initiated arm, nor were there any other statistically significant differences between arms.

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 6. Preparing for Life as a (New) Survivor survey change from baseline to follow-up by intervention arm.

		• •				
đ n	Change ^a in provider-initiated arm (n=13)	<i>P</i> value for change within provider-initiated arm ^b	Change ^a in patient- initiated arm (n=12)	<i>P</i> value for change within patient-initiated arm ^b	<i>P</i> value for differ- ences in change by arm ^c	
Kn	owledge items	,	-			
	I know which health care providers to call with questions about my <i>cancer and its treatment</i>	0.0 (0.6)	>.99	-0.3 (0.7)	.23	.28
	I am clear which health care providers to call if I have questions about <i>symp-</i> <i>toms</i>	-0.2 (0.7)	.48	-0.2 (0.8)	.48	.92
	I am clear what symptoms are normal for me to experience	-0.2 (0.7)	.48	0.0 (0.5)	>.99	.51
	I know what symptoms or problems I should be looking for	-0.2 (0.7)	.34	0.1 (0.5)	.77	.28
	I know how frequently I should be hav- ing appointments for follow-up care	0.0 (0.7)	>.99	-0.1 (0.9)	.85	.95
	I am always clear about the purpose of my visits	0.0 (0.6)	>.99	-0.1 (0.5)	.77	.72
	I know what tests are part of my follow- up care	0.5 (0.9)	.10	0.0 (1.0)	>.99	.21
	I know other things I need to do to take the best care of myself	0.0 (0.8)	>.99	0.3 (0.8)	.30	.30
	The health care providers who treat me for cancer communicate well with each other	-0.1 (0.5)	.77	-0.5 (1.2)	.34	.50
	The health care providers who treat me for cancer communicate well with my primary care/family provider	-0.1 (0.4)	>.99	-0.1 (0.7)	.77	>.99
	I feel prepared for what to expect over the next year	0.0 (0.8)	>.99	-0.2 (0.8)	.59	.51
Co	nfidence items					
	You will call or ask questions of your health care providers when you need to	0.2 (0.4)	.35	-0.7 (2.8)	.79	.94
	You will go to all your follow-up appoint- ments	0.1 (0.8)	.85	-0.1 (0.3)	>.99	.68
	You will do what you need to do to take the best care of yourself	-0.2 (1.5)	.72	-0.2 (0.8)	.59	.64
	Your health care providers will commu- nicate well with each other during the next year	-1.2 (1.2)	.01	0.1 (3.3)	.63	.04
	There is a well-coordinated plan for your cancer care	-0.6 (1.5)	.16	-0.6 (2.5)	.28	.74

^aPositive mean changes indicate improvement; negative mean changes indicate worsening.

 ^{b}P values for Wilcoxon signed-rank tests for change from baseline to follow-up within intervention arm, among patients with data at follow-up only. ^{c}P values for Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for differences in the change from baseline to follow-up between intervention arms (interaction), among patients with data at follow-up only.

Patient Perspectives on the Benefits of SCPs and SCP Implementation

In qualitative interviews conducted at follow-up, patients expressed ongoing needs related to information and support, with almost all of those interviewed describing some ongoing negative impact of cancer in their lives. Patients discussed the

http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e12/

XSL•FO RenderX emotional impacts of cancer, including depression, fatigue, anxiety, and fear. Some expressed emotions related to concerns about recurrence, and there were some descriptions of physical impacts such as pain. Even those who initially described cancer as nonimpactful tended to describe ways in which it had affected them as the interview unfolded. Several patients expressed some belief that the SCP would improve communication that would

in turn help to address these concerns: It would be a tool to communicate issues better. My biggest fear is that I know nothing about medicine. (#27, My Care Plan; All quotes included are illustrative of broader themes to emerge from review of the patient interviews unless it is specifically noted that an idea came from just one person.)

One element of the SCP process that was seen as particularly attractive and useful for patients was "having everything in one place," as a "quick reference document." In general, patients seemed to like how plans made connections to health concerns other than their cancer, although not all interviewees understood why noncancer information was included on the plan. The patients who were interviewed at follow-up expressed almost universal confidence in their ability to get the care that they needed in the coming months and years. This group of patients tended to portray themselves as proactive and involved in the management of their health and health care. In some cases, patients described already having been engaged in information gathering and maintenance, but expressed that the SCP further facilitated this process. In addition to their own capacity and the value that the SCP provided, patients explained their confidence about future care with reference to their family given the quality of their health insurance and their health care providers. The SCP was seen as helping patients to identify "who to go to" and "who is responsible for what" as they moved beyond acute treatment. I am 100% certain that I will be able to handle it. Whether I do it according to someone's protocol is another matter I will handle it to the best of my ability. As a former journalist and researcher, I am certain that I will do my research and tap all of the sources. (#35, My Care Plan); I feel good about it but I feel that I have to be an active participant in getting it. I have to be an active advocate-actively involved in advocating for myself. The care plan will absolutely help with this. (#28, SCP Builder)

For the process of plan completion, several participants articulated that either putting together the plan or even simply receiving it had served to educate them about their cancer and the care received and to provide useful information that they may not have even realized they were lacking. When we asked about the potential value of the plan for improving communication with one's PCP, patients described having existing, functional relationships with their PCPs. Patients did not mention the Web-based format of the SCP as being problematic. Their responses varied in relation to the question about whether or not they had shared their plans with their PCP, but generally patients expressed the opinion that the information provided and the format in which it was provided would be helpful in their communication with their PCP. Even patients who had not yet shared their plans with their PCP generally expressed an intention to do so. One reason provided for why they might not share a plan was that the PCP was perceived as being too busy to have time to deal with the SCP. Some patients were unsure as to whether they (or someone else) had shared the SCP with their PCP, and others expressed some uncertainty as to whether their oncologist or their internist would now act as their PCP. Patients were not universally confident that PCPs had the necessary expertise to manage their care: one patient expressed concern that their PCP would not be familiar enough

XSI•F(

with the anemia associated with his radiation treatment to effectively treat him.

In line with much of what the clinicians discussed, the timing of plan provision emerged as an important issue with patients, with several expressing a desire to have the plan earlier in the process. Several patients also noted that the plans seemed to be more summative than forward looking (planning), and some raised questions about how the plan might be updated over time. *It would have been really helpful to have more information up front.* (#25, My Care Plan); *The only question that I would have is how it gets updated over time. Does it get updated if things change? Medications? Therapy that I am undergoing... Is it a document that stands on its own? Is it reviewed annually? I don't know anything about that. It is not a static document. (#23, SCP Builder)*

In terms of content, most patients expressed satisfaction with the information provided. Areas for additional content mentioned by 1 or 2 patients included diet, contact information for specialists and information on clinical trials. A few mentioned aspects of the information provided that they did not understand; the one specific example provided was the idea of "ongoing toxicities." There was also a potential concern expressed about the accuracy of the content provided by the providers completing the form.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this mixed-methods study, we evaluated 2 models of Web-based survivorship care planning in the real-world context of 2 academically-affiliated, community hospitals. This study provides preliminary evidence of the feasibility and perceived value of 2 SCP templates, as well as possibly informing the design and implementation of future, larger studies. The combined qualitative and quantitative data provide important insights regarding the feasibility and value of the 2 SCP templates tested here, as well as survivorship care planning in general.

In terms of feasibility, a number of challenges emerged, irrespective of the study arm. First, the somewhat limited participation of eligible oncologists in this research initiative (33%) suggests that the imminent Commission on Cancer accreditation standards [17] do not provide a sufficient incentive for many oncologists to develop systems for survivorship care planning, nor does the Web-based nature or potential patient-initiated structure overcome existing barriers. Birken et al [18] identify the resources necessary for the use of SCPs as a considerable barrier to their implementation; this study does not suggest that such resource barriers are easily overcome by the mere availability of patient- or provider-initiated templates. There was higher engagement in the study (overall and in terms of actually referring patients) by radiation oncologists compared with other clinical specialties, possibly indicating an opportunity for targeted SCP initiatives. In the initial month of the study, it became clear that oncologists and their staff were experiencing considerable difficulty in identifying eligible patients for study purposes. As a result, the research team played an active role

in recruiting patients, but such approaches are not sustainable for real-world applications. Even with the additional research team support for recruitment, only 5 of the 13 participating clinicians enrolled patients in the study, suggesting possible challenges in identifying eligible patients and engaging them in the process of Web-based survivorship care planning. Finally, at follow-up, fewer than half of the patients from whom we were able to collect data had access to any SCP document (including incomplete plans from the patient-initiated arm). Participants in the patient-initiated arm were more likely to have a SCP, if one included an initiated (but not completed) SCP.

Our study reveals a need for explicit consideration of how preparing and delivering the SCP should be integrated into existing practices and routines of care provision. This finding is supported by the assertion made by Keesing, McNamara, and Rosenwax [6] that there is much work to be done to resolve the practical issues in developing and delivering Web-based SCPs that originate with the provider or the patient. If the goal is that every patient completing acute treatment for cancer should have an SCP, then it is important to acknowledge that completing an SCP can be complex and requires a considerable amount of time and resources [18,19]. Effort should be spent identifying strategies for enabling providers and their staff to be reimbursed for the time that it takes to either prepare and provide the SCP or to complete a plan that is initiated by the patient. One possible way to reduce the time burden is to look for ways that SCP templates can be integrated into EMRs and/or cancer registries such that some or much of the information is auto-populated.

These findings also inform our understanding of the value of survivorship care planning. The Web-based nature of the 2 SCP modalities did not emerge as problematic, but nor was this sufficient to overcome the feasibility challenges of providing SCPs. Although both providers and patients generally supported the importance of SCPs during the qualitative interviews, data from the CaSUN and PLANS questionnaires at baseline demonstrated that the patients who enrolled in the study had relatively few unmet needs and high perceived knowledge of and confidence about survivorship. However, the areas rated lowest at baseline were issues that SCPs aim to address, including communication within the cancer care team and with the patient and knowing what to expect after treatment completion. In addition, at the time of transition, survivors may not know what they do not know. For example, follow-up scores were statistically significantly worse in the provider-initiated group regarding confidence health providers will communicate well with each other. In a study of SCPs for endometrial cancer survivors in the Netherlands, Nicolaije et al [20] found that patients in the SCP arm had more concerns, reported more symptoms, and experienced a greater emotional impact than

control patients. Survivorship care planning may create awareness of issues that had not previously existed and uncertainty may emerge as time passes from the end of treatment. Cheung et al [21] noted that both patients and physicians may have a reason to avoid engaging in survivorship care planning discussions because of the difficult issues about long-term impacts of cancer and possible psychosocial challenges to survivorship. It is possible that this contributes to ambivalence on the part of physicians to prioritize SCP provision, at least for some patients, although this is not directly observable from our data.

In interpreting these findings, it is important to note that the 2-month follow-up was designed to evaluate delivery of the plan, not the impact of it on the secondary patient-reported outcome measures. This study was conducted in only 2 hospitals and is intended to provide preliminary evidence of the feasibility and possible value of these 2 Web-based survivorship care planning approaches and to inform the design of larger studies. The sample size was determined based on feasibility and the analysis of the quantitative data intended to inform power calculations for future studies. However, given the small numbers, the results should be applied cautiously if used to support power calculations. Statistically significant P values should be interpreted with caution, given the large number of tests performed. Because randomization occurred at the patient level, with providers managing patients in both study arms, it may have been more difficult for providers to establish standard processes than if they had only had to address one approach to survivorship care planning. We did not collect any patient-specific data in our follow-up interviews with clinicians, and we therefore are not able to explore whether plans were initiated (or completed), but not delivered to some patients in the provider-initiated arm. Future studies should capture process-specific data to better determine specific places or issues where any system to get SCPs to patients meets difficulties.

Conclusion

Strengths of this study include collection of both quantitative and qualitative data from both patients and providers in 2 academically-affiliated, community hospitals. Furthermore, we used a randomized design to compare 2 SCP templates. The findings of this study provide preliminary evidence regarding the advantages and disadvantages of the 2 Web-based templates, as well as issues with survivorship care planning in general, and can inform future research in larger populations with longer follow-up. In summary, the findings of this study suggest that the primary barriers to survivorship care planning are not the templates (the *forms*), but rather the processes for completing SCPs (the *function*).

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Journey Forward consortium through contracts from Anthem and Genentech with the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. Drs. Smith and Snyder are members of the Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins (P30 CA 006973). All aspects of this research, including the design and conduct of the study and analysis of resulting data, are solely those of the authors.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Journey Forward Care Plan Builder Template.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1MB - cancer v2i2e12 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Journey Forward My Care Plan Template.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1MB - cancer_v2i2e12_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist V1.6.2 [21].

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 735KB - cancer v2i2e12 app3.pdf]

References

- 1. Hewitt ME, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: Lost in transition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2006.
- Kantsiper M, McDonald EL, Geller G, Shockney L, Snyder C, Wolff AC. Transitioning to breast cancer survivorship: perspectives of patients, cancer specialists, and primary care providers. J Gen Intern Med 2009 Nov;24(Suppl 2):S459-S466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1000-2] [Medline: 19838851]
- Grunfeld E, Julian JA, Pond G, Maunsell E, Coyle D, Folkes A, et al. Evaluating survivorship care plans: results of a randomized, clinical trial of patients with breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011 Dec 20;29(36):4755-4762 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.36.8373] [Medline: 22042959]
- Hershman DL, Greenlee H, Awad D, Kalinsky K, Maurer M, Kranwinkel G, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a clinic-based survivorship intervention following adjuvant therapy in breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2013 Apr;138(3):795-806. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10549-013-2486-1</u>] [Medline: <u>23542954</u>]
- Parry C, Kent EE, Forsythe LP, Alfano CM, Rowland JH. Can't see the forest for the care plan: a call to revisit the context of care planning. J Clin Oncol 2013 Jul 20;31(21):2651-2653 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.48.4618] [Medline: 23796989]
- Keesing S, McNamara B, Rosenwax L. Cancer survivors' experiences of using survivorship care plans: a systematic review of qualitative studies. J Cancer Surviv 2015 Jun;9(2):260-268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0407-x] [Medline: 25343971]
- Klemanski D, Browning K, Kue J. Survivorship care plan preferences of cancer survivors and health care providers: a systematic review and quality appraisal of the evidence. J Cancer Surviv 2016 Feb;10(1):71-86. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-015-0452-0] [Medline: 25911150]
- 8. Smith TJ, Snyder C. Is it time for (survivorship care) plan B? J Clin Oncol 2011 Dec 20;29(36):4740-4742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.38.8397] [Medline: 22042961]
- Forsythe LP, Parry C, Alfano CM, Kent EE, Leach CR, Haggstrom DA, et al. Use of survivorship care plans in the United States: associations with survivorship care. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013 Oct 16;105(20):1579-1587 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt258] [Medline: 24096621]
- Mayer DK, Nekhlyudov L, Snyder CF, Merrill JK, Wollins DS, Shulman LN. American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical expert statement on cancer survivorship care planning. J Oncol Pract 2014 Nov;10(6):345-351. [doi: <u>10.1200/JOP.2014.001321</u>] [Medline: <u>25316025</u>]
- 11. Livestrong. Livestrong Care Plan URL: <u>http://www.livestrongcareplan.org/</u> [accessed 2016-06-28] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6ic194m0J</u>]
- 12. Journey Forward. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.journeyforward.org/</u> [accessed 2016-04-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6gWwVepAP]
- Eysenbach G, Consort-EHEALTHGroup. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1923</u>] [Medline: <u>22209829</u>]
- Hodgkinson K, Butow P, Hunt GE, Pendlebury S, Hobbs KM, Lo SK, et al. The development and evaluation of a measure to assess cancer survivors' unmet supportive care needs: the CaSUN (Cancer Survivors' Unmet Needs measure). Psychooncology 2007 Sep;16(9):796-804. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.1137</u>] [Medline: <u>17177268</u>]

RenderX

- 15. Dunn R, Crowley S, Janz N, Jagielski C, Breslin T, Diehl K. Impact of a Transition Visit on Addressing Quality of Life and Readiness to Assume Greater Self-Management Among Breast Cancer Survivors. Psycho-Oncology 2011;20(Suppl 1):S91. [doi: 10.1111/j.1755-148X.2011.01915.x]
- 16. R-project. 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing URL: <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2016-07-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6ir2k0NPW]
- 17. American College of Surgeons. FACS. 2014 Sep 9. Accreditation Committee Clarifications for Standard 3.3 Survivorship Care Plan URL: <u>https://www.facs.org/publications/newsletters/coc-source/special-source/standard33</u> [accessed 2016-04-05] [WebCite Cache ID 6gWwkrDkV]
- Birken SA, Mayer DK, Weiner BJ. Survivorship Care Plans: prevalence and barriers to use. J Cancer Educ 2013;28:290-296. [Medline: <u>19351400</u>]
- Dulko D, Pace CM, Dittus KL, Sprague BL, Pollack LA, Hawkins NA, et al. Barriers and facilitators to implementing cancer survivorship care plans. Oncol Nurs Forum 2013 Nov;40(6):575-580 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1188/13.ONF.575-580] [Medline: 24161636]
- Nicolaije KA, Ezendam NP, Vos MC, Pijnenborg JM, Boll D, Boss EA, et al. Impact of an Automatically Generated Cancer Survivorship Care Plan on Patient-Reported Outcomes in Routine Clinical Practice: Longitudinal Outcomes of a Pragmatic, Cluster Randomized Trial. J Clin Oncol 2015 Nov 1;33(31):3550-3559. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2014.60.3399</u>] [Medline: <u>26304900</u>]
- Cheung WY, Neville BA, Cameron DB, Cook EF, Earle CC. Comparisons of patient and physician expectations for cancer survivorship care. J Clin Oncol 2009 May 20;27(15):2489-2495 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.3232] [Medline: 19332716]

Abbreviations

CaSUN: Cancer Survivor's Unmet Needs EMR: electronic medical records IOM: Institute of Medicine PLANS: Preparing for Life as a (New) Survivor PCP: primary care provider SCP: Survivorship Care Plan

Edited by K Eddens; submitted 06.05.16; peer-reviewed by LA Faul, D Vollmer Dahlke, H Wu; comments to author 27.05.16; revised version received 08.07.16; accepted 24.07.16; published 30.08.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Smith KC, Tolbert E, Hannum SM, Radhakrishnan A, Zorn K, Blackford A, Greco S, Smith K, Snyder CF Comparing Web-Based Provider-Initiated and Patient-Initiated Survivorship Care Planning for Cancer Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e12 URL: <u>http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e12/</u> doi:10.2196/cancer.5947 PMID:28410187

©Katherine Clegg Smith, Elliott Tolbert, Susan M Hannum, Archana Radhakrishnan, Kelsey Zorn, Amanda Blackford, Stephen Greco, Karen Smith, Claire F Snyder. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 30.08.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Alcohol Intake Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Change in Alcohol Use During a Weight Management Intervention

Tera L Fazzino¹, PhD; Kimberly Fleming², PhD; Christie Befort¹, PhD

¹Department of Preventive Medicine and Public Health, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, United States ²Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, United States

Corresponding Author: Tera L Fazzino, PhD Department of Preventive Medicine and Public Health University of Kansas Medical Center 3901 Rainbow Boulevard Kansas City, KS United States Phone: 1 9135883030 Fax: 1 9135882780 Email: tfazzino@kumc.edu

Abstract

Background: Daily alcohol intake in quantities as small as half a drink/day significantly increases the risk of breast cancer recurrence for postmenopausal survivors. Interventions designed to modify alcohol use among survivors have not been studied; however, lifestyle interventions that target change in dietary intake may affect alcohol intake.

Objective: To evaluate change in alcohol use during a weight loss intervention for obese, rural-dwelling breast cancer survivors.

Methods: Data were derived from an 18-month trial that included a 6-month weight loss intervention delivered via group conference calls, followed by a 12-month randomized weight loss maintenance phase in which participants received continued group calls or mailed newsletters. Participants who reported regular alcohol use at baseline (N=37) were included in this study.

Results: Mean daily alcohol intake significantly decreased from baseline to 6 months during the weight loss intervention (19.6-2.3 g; P=.001). Mean alcohol intake did not significantly increase (b=0.99, P=.12) during the weight loss maintenance phase (months 6-18) and did not depend on randomization group (b=0.32, P=.799).

Conclusions: Findings provide preliminary evidence that a weight loss intervention may address obesity and alcohol use risk factors for cancer recurrence. Minimal mail-based contact post weight loss can maintain alcohol use reductions through 18 months, suggesting durability in these effects. These results highlight a possibility that lifestyle interventions for survivors may modify health behaviors that are not the main foci of an intervention but that coincide with intervention goals.

Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT01441011; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01441011 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6lsJ9dMa9)

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e15) doi:10.2196/cancer.6295

KEYWORDS

alcohol drinking; breast cancer; weight loss; weight reduction programs; obesity

Introduction

Results of comprehensive meta-analyses have indicated that daily alcohol use, even in small quantities, is associated with an increased risk of both developing breast cancer and breast cancer recurrence [1-3]. There is a significant dose-response relationship between daily alcohol use and breast cancer risk [4], and for every 1 drink per day (10 g) increase in alcohol consumption, there is a 12% increased risk of breast cancer [1].

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e15/
```

RenderX

As little as 5-6 g of daily alcohol intake has been found to significantly increase the risk of developing breast cancer [5] and breast cancer recurrence [3,6]. Mechanisms responsible for the increased risk may be due to increased estrogen and androgen levels [7,8] or increased levels of plasma insulin-like growth factors produced by the liver following alcohol consumption [9]. In addition, alcohol-related breast cancer risk may be compounded for individuals who have other lifestyle risk factors, such as obesity [6]. Both the American Cancer
Society [10] and the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) [11] recommend that women consume no more than 1 drink per day, and the recently published European Code against Cancer 4th Edition stresses that zero alcohol intake is recommended for cancer prevention [12]. Newly proposed UK drinking guidelines specify that individuals should have some non-drinking days each week [13].

Multiple breast cancer survivor cohort studies have found that alcohol use prevalence among female survivors is similar to that in the general US female population; 15-23% of survivors drink in excess of low-risk drinking guidelines [14-16]. Although cancer diagnosis may be a teachable moment to prompt health behavior change, 1 large-scale, population-based study among cancer survivors have found no significant long-term changes in daily alcohol consumption pre- to post-cancer diagnosis [17]. One smaller breast cancer cohort study found that the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking decreased following the diagnosis, however levels of daily alcohol use were not reported [18].

Interventions designed to modify alcohol consumption among breast cancer survivors have not previously been studied; however, it is possible that lifestyle interventions that target weight loss and promote change in dietary intake may affect alcohol consumption. Alcohol has an energy density that is second only to fat [19] and reducing alcohol intake would coincide with lifestyle intervention goals of calorie restriction and energy balance. The purpose of this study was to examine change in alcohol use among obese, rural breast cancer survivors participating in an 18-month weight management intervention who reported regular alcohol use at baseline. Specifically, we evaluated initial change in alcohol use during a 6-month weight loss intervention phase and the durability of these effects during a 12-month weight loss maintenance phase.

Methods

Parent Study Overview

The parent study from which the data for this study were derived compared group phone-based counseling with mailed newsletters on weight loss maintenance following successful weight loss among rural, obese breast cancer survivors. The study has previously been detailed [20,21] and is briefly described here. Participants (N=210) were recruited in 8 cohorts from oncology centers in the Midwestern United States. Participants were female breast cancer survivors aged 75 years or younger, with a BMI between 27 and 45 kg/m², who had been diagnosed with Stages 0-III disease within the past 10 years, were at least 3 months out of treatment at the time of enrollment, had physician clearance to participate, and resided in rural areas [22]. Current alcohol or drug abuse [23] was an exclusion criterion, however no participants were excluded for this reason [20]. The trial included a nonrandomized 6-month weight loss phase (0-6 months), where all participants received weekly group phone sessions, followed by a 12-month randomized weight loss maintenance phase (6-18 months) in which participants who lost $\geq 5\%$ of their baseline weight were randomized to continued group phone sessions or a newsletter

comparison condition. The Institution's Human Subjects Committee approved the study.

Intervention

During the weight loss phase, groups of 10-15 participants met for weekly counseling sessions via conference call with a group counselor (registered dietitian or psychologist). Intervention and technology accessibility were a primary focus with our rural-dwelling sample; thus, we used a conference call format that did not require participants to have regular access to a computer or mobile phone. Participants joined the conference sessions by calling into a toll free, 1-800 number accessible from any landline, mobile phone, or Internet-based telephone system (such as Skype or Google Voice). During the calls, participants were instructed to follow a structured meal plan that included whey-based protein shakes, prepackaged portion-controlled meals (eg, Lean Cuisines), and at least five fruits or vegetables per day. Snacks that were not fruits or vegetables, as well as eating out were discouraged. Participants were instructed to gradually increase their physical activity each week with the goal of completing 225 min/week of moderate-intensity physical activity by week 12.

The weight loss phase focused on behavioral skills for healthy eating, increasing physical activity, and self-monitoring daily calorie intake and physical activity. Two sessions focused on evidence-based nutrition recommendations for breast cancer survivors specifically, including alcohol use as a risk factor for breast cancer recurrence and American Cancer Society recommendations for consuming 1 or less alcoholic drinks per day. During this session, leaders also discussed the calorific content of alcoholic beverages as related to participants' goals of limiting their total calorific intake and losing weight.

During the weight loss maintenance phase, participants randomized to the group phone condition continued to meet every other week via conference calls, while participants in the newsletter control condition received bi-weekly newsletters highlighting the same content. The maintenance phase focused on problem solving related to maintaining diet and physical activity behaviors and increasing motivation, and did not specifically address alcohol use.

Data and Measures

Multiple pass 24-h diet recalls were collected from participants at baseline, 6 months, 12 months, and 18 months. United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) multiple pass 24-h dietary recalls are the gold standard for measuring typical dietary intake [24] and are also valid as a measure of alcohol consumption when compared with a 1 week recall of alcohol use [25].

Of the 210 participants enrolled in the parent study, 42 participants (20%) reported daily alcohol intake of at least 5 g at baseline. Of the 20% (42/210), 11% (5/42) of the participants drank more than 1 standard drink per day and 9% drank about half a standard drink per day.

Thirty-seven participants provided 2 valid diet recalls at both baseline and 6 months that reflected their typical dietary intake and thus were included in these analyses. A total of 277 diet recalls were collected from the sample out of a possible 296,



representing a 94% assessment compliance rate. Sixty-seven recalls were completed at 12 months and 62 at 18 months.

Statistical Analyses

A paired-samples *t* test was utilized to test whether daily alcohol grams significantly decreased during the weight loss phase (0-6 months). Generalized estimating equation (GEE) models were used to examine change in daily grams of alcohol intake during the randomized weight loss maintenance phase (6, 12, and 18 months), while accounting for the within-subject report correlation structure of the longitudinal data [26]. GEE Model 1 controlled for age, college education, and randomization group. A second GEE model included an interaction between time and randomization group to evaluate whether change in alcohol use depended on randomization group. For both GEE models, we determined that an exchangeable correlation

structure fit the data best based on the Quasi-Likelihood under the Independence Model Criterion (QIC) [27]. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS version 22 (IBM Corporation) [28].

Results

Demographic characteristics of participants (N=37) are presented in Table 1. The majority of participants (28/37; 75%) were obese and 25% (9/37) were overweight. Participants were a mean of 3.5 years beyond cancer treatment at the start of the study. At 6 months, participants lost a mean of 12.9 kg (SD 5.4), corresponding to a mean of 14.4% (SD 5.9) of their baseline weight. By 18 months, participants regained a mean of 3.3 kg (SD 5.2) of the weight they lost.



 Table 1. Participant Demographics (N=37).

Variable	Mean (SD) or %
Age	57.8 (7.9)
Marital status (% Married or cohabitating)	89
Race or Ethnicity (% white)	100
Education (% BA degree or higher)	31
Employed full-time	75
Weight variables	
Body mass index	33 3 (4 3)
Overweight	75
Obese	25
Cancer variables	25
Age at diagnosis	54.0 (8.3)
Time since cancer treatment (years)	35(24)
Stara	5.5 (2.4)
	10
	17
П	27
	12
III	15
Prestment received	
Breast-conserving surgery	57
Mastectomy	43
Radiation	71
Chemotherapy	57
Anti-hormone Therapy	82
Alcohol variables	
Grams of alcohol per day	19.6 (17.85)
10 g of alcohol or more per day ^a	62
14 g of alcohol or more per day ^b	51
Daily heavy alcohol use (>3 drinks/42 g) ^c	15

^a10 g=definition of 1 standard drink per meta-analyses on alcohol use and breast cancer risk.

^b14 g=definition of 1 standard drink per the US National Institute on Alcohol Use and Alcoholism (NIAAA).

^cDaily heavy alcohol use = alcohol consumption in excess of NIAAA guidelines for low-risk drinking for women.



Table 2. Change in alcohol use during a weight management intervention.

Alcohol intake	Full sample (N=37)		Group phone counseling (n=17)	Newsletter comparison (n=20)	<i>P</i> value (between groups)
	Mean (SD)	P value (full sample)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Baseline daily alcohol use (grams)	19.61 (17.8)	<.001	17.0 (13.5)	20.5 (20.9)	.35 ^c
Daily alcohol use at 6 months (grams)	2.28 (5.1)	.001 ^a	1.3 (2.4)	2.7 (6.1)	.25 ^d
Daily alcohol use at 18 months (grams)	4.20 (9.2)	.12 ^b	3.52 (7.9)	5.1 (10.7)	.80 ^e

^aPaired samples t test of change in alcohol use from baseline to 6 months during the weight loss intervention phase.

^bGeneralized estimating equation (GEE) model of change in alcohol use during weight loss maintenance (months 6-18); full results of this model are presented in Table 3.

^cIndependent samples *t* test of baseline alcohol use by group.

^dRepeated measures analysis of variance testing change in alcohol use by group during weight loss phase (baseline to 6 months)

^eGEE model of change in alcohol use during weight loss maintenance phase, testing for moderating effects of randomization group.

Table 3. Change in alcohol use during a weight loss maintenance intervention using a generalized estimating equation model.

Variable	DV ^a : Daily alcohol intake (in grams)			
	B^b	SE ^c	P value	95% CI
Time	0.99	0.64	.119	-0.26 to 2.26
Age	0.14	0.13	.268	-0.11 to 0.40
Education (college degree/not) ^d	2.27	2.66	.393	-2.94 to 7.46
Randomization group (intervention/control) ^e	-1.70	1.91	.373	-5.45 to 2.05

^aDV: dependent variable.

^bB: unstandardized regression coefficient.

^cSE: standard error.

^dNo 4-year college degree was the reference category.

^eThe mail-based control group was the reference category.

Participants drank a mean of 19.6 g of alcohol per day at baseline (SD 17.85; Range 5.5-92.3), which corresponds to 1.4 US standard drinks [11]. Participants consumed a mean of 6.4% (SD 5.9; Range 1.4-32.8%) of their daily calories from alcohol at baseline.

Change in alcohol use during the study is presented in Table 2. Mean daily alcohol grams significantly decreased from baseline to 6 months during the weight loss intervention (19.6-2.3 g; t_{36} =6.07, *P*=.001, 95% CI 11.5-23.1), corresponding to a mean decrease of 1.2 US standard drinks.

During the weight loss maintenance phase, alcohol intake did not significantly increase when controlling for randomization group, age, and education level (Table 3). For every unit increase in time, participants consumed 0.99 more grams of alcohol. Change in alcohol use during Phase II did not depend on randomization group when accounting for potential confounding variables (b=.32, SE=1.27, P=.799, CI –2.16 to 2.81).

Results indicate that the significant and clinically meaningful decrease in alcohol intake that occurred during the weight loss phase was maintained during the weight loss maintenance phase

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e15/
```

RenderX

among participants in both the group phone counseling condition and the newsletter condition.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The risk for breast cancer recurrence increases significantly for postmenopausal breast cancer survivors who regularly drink alcohol, even at very low levels [3,6]. This study is the first to our knowledge to report on significant change in alcohol use among breast cancer survivors following a behavioral weight loss intervention. The findings suggest that among postmenopausal, obese survivors who drank regularly at baseline, participation in a behavioral weight control intervention was associated with significantly decreased alcohol intake in addition to clinically meaningful weight loss. Importantly, participants decreased their alcohol use to less than the 5 g per day level that is associated with increased recurrence risk [3,6]. Thus, findings suggest that a behavioral weight control intervention may simultaneously change multiple lifestyle risk factors for breast cancer recurrence.

A growing body of literature has focused on changing multiple health behaviors including dietary intake, physical activity, and substance use, either simultaneously or sequentially using dually focused interventions [29]. Our results are unique as they suggest that an intervention designed to address a single issue may influence change in other risk behaviors that coincide with the overall goals of the intervention. At a population level, epidemiologists have observed such tag-along behavior change effects in some circumstances in which individuals attempt to change a single behavior; for example, Brown et al found that individuals in England who reported attempted to quit smoking in a cross-sectional survey also reported fewer heavy drinking episodes during that time [30]. Our findings are novel in that we observed these effects longitudinally in an individually focused clinical intervention trial. In this regard, it is also important to emphasize that our intervention was focused on improving coping skills and self-efficacy, problem solving, addressing environmental barriers, and identifying triggers, all of which can also be helpful in decreasing alcohol use.

Our findings also indicate that alcohol use reductions were durable over an 18-month period. The decrease in alcohol use achieved during the weight loss intervention was maintained during the weight maintenance phase across both conditions, despite some weight regain. These sustained reductions in alcohol intake may in part be attributed to lower drinking levels at baseline, and also because decreasing alcohol intake was in accordance with the dietary goals of restricting overall calorific intake, and the intervention addressed alcohol consumption as an independent risk factor for recurrence.

The prevalence of daily drinking among the total sample from the parent study was in line with national estimates (20%) [14-16]; however, drinking quantity was lower than that found in other survivor samples. Specifically, 15-18% of breast cancer survivors from large cohort samples reported consuming 1+ drinks per day [15,16], compared with our sample where 11% of participants drank more than 1 standard drink per day and an additional 9% drank about half a drink per day. This difference may be due to our rural sample of overweight or obese women interested in losing weight. Rural survivors have been found to drink less than the survivors in urban environments [31], and our findings were similar with Weaver et al (2013) having estimated that 13% of rural survivors drink daily.

Limitations

This study had several limitations. First, the sample size in our study was small. However, given that this study is the first to report a reduction in survivors' alcohol use during a behavioral intervention, our findings provide valuable initial information on change in survivors' health risk behaviors and suggest that future research on this topic using larger samples is warranted. In addition, all participants completed the weight loss intervention, thus we did not have a nonweight loss control condition with which to compare initial change in alcohol use. However, 1 large-scale study found that survivors did not change daily alcohol use patterns long-term [17], suggesting that daily alcohol use among survivors may be stable long-term without behavioral intervention. Second, the findings may not be generalizable to nonrural survivors or those with heavier drinking at baseline. Findings also may not be generalizable to more racially and ethnically diverse samples; a limitation of our study was that the sample comprised all Caucasian women. Finally, alcohol use was measured using 24-h dietary recalls, thus it was not possible to evaluate heavy episodic drinking rates.

Future research in this area should incorporate additional alcohol measures and investigate whether weight loss interventions decrease alcohol use among breast cancer survivors who are heavier drinkers. Researchers should examine the effects of heavy alcohol use on obesity to determine whether alcohol use as a cancer recurrence risk factor contributes to obesity, another risk factor. Relatedly, researchers could investigate whether heavy alcohol use hinders weight loss and contributes to weight regain. We were not able to address this question because participants in this study reduced their alcohol use to less than what would be expected to interfere with weight loss or maintenance.

Implications

Our findings provide preliminary evidence that a weight loss intervention for obese breast cancer survivors may address both obesity and alcohol use risk factors for breast cancer recurrence with durability in alcohol reduction even with minimal content directly targeting alcohol use. Thus, lifestyle interventions for survivors may modify health behaviors that are not the main foci of intervention but that coincide with the overall goals of an intervention. This study highlights the possibility of improving the health of survivors using behavioral interventions focused on developing behavioral skills that might generalize to related risk behaviors.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a grant CA155014 (PI: Befort) by the National Cancer Institute.

Registered Clinical Trial: NCT01441011.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

XSL•FO RenderX

- Allen NE, Beral V, Casabonne D, Kan SW, Reeves GK, Brown A, Million Women Study Collaborators. Moderate alcohol intake and cancer incidence in women. J Natl Cancer Inst 2009 Feb 24;101(5):296-305. [doi: <u>10.1093/jnci/djn514</u>] [Medline: <u>19244173</u>]
- 2. Bagnardi V, Rota M, Botteri E, Tramacere I, Islami F, Fedirko V, et al. Light alcohol drinking and cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Oncol 2013 Feb;24(2):301-308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds337] [Medline: 22910838]
- Kwan ML, Chen WY, Flatt SW, Weltzien EK, Nechuta SJ, Poole EM, et al. Postdiagnosis alcohol consumption and breast cancer prognosis in the after breast cancer pooling project. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2013 Jan;22(1):32-41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-12-1022] [Medline: 23150063]
- Bagnardi V, Rota M, Botteri E, Tramacere I, Islami F, Fedirko V, et al. Alcohol consumption and site-specific cancer risk: a comprehensive dose-response meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2015 Feb 3;112(3):580-593 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.579] [Medline: 25422909]
- Romieu I, Scoccianti C, Chajès V, de Batlle J, Biessy C, Dossus L, et al. Alcohol intake and breast cancer in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Int J Cancer 2015 Oct 15;137(8):1921-1930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ijc.29469] [Medline: 25677034]
- Kwan ML, Kushi LH, Weltzien E, Tam EK, Castillo A, Sweeney C, et al. Alcohol consumption and breast cancer recurrence and survival among women with early-stage breast cancer: the life after cancer epidemiology study. J Clin Oncol 2010 Oct 10;28(29):4410-4416 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.29.2730] [Medline: 20805458]
- Sarkar D, Liehr J, Singletary KW. Role of estrogen in alcohol promotion of breast cancer and prolactinomas. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2001 May;25(5 Suppl ISBRA):230S-236S. [Medline: <u>11391076</u>]
- 8. Singletary KW, Gapstur SM. Alcohol and breast cancer: review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence and potential mechanisms. JAMA 2001 Nov 7;286(17):2143-2151. [Medline: <u>11694156</u>]
- 9. Yu H. Do insulin-like growth factors mediate the effect of alcohol on breast cancer risk? Med Hypotheses 1999;52(6):491-496 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1054/mehy.1998.0828]
- Kushi LH, Doyle C, McCullough M, Rock CL, Demark-Wahnefried W, Bandera EV, American Cancer Society 2010 Nutrition and Physical Activity guidelines Advisory Committee. American Cancer Society guidelines on nutrition and physical activity for cancer prevention: reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. CA Cancer J Clin 2012;62(1):30-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.20140] [Medline: 22237782]
- 11. : National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. Helping patients who drink too much: a clinician's guide. 2005. URL: <u>https://login.ezproxy.uvm.edu/login?url=http://www.niaaa.nih.gov/</u> Publications/EducationTrainingMaterials/guide.htm [accessed 2016-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6IX25WecM]
- Schüz J, Espina C, Villain P, Herrero R, Leon ME, Minozzi S, Working Groups of Scientific Experts. European Code against Cancer 4th Edition: 12 ways to reduce your cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol 2015 Dec;39(Suppl 1):S1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2015.05.009] [Medline: 26164654]
- 13. UK Government Department of Health. UK Chief Medical Officer. Health risks from alcohol: new guidelines. UK Government Department of Health; 2016. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/</u> health-risks-from-alcohol-new-guidelines [accessed 2016-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6IX3mJ33D]
- DeNysschen C, Brown JK, Baker M, Wilding G, Tetewsky S, Cho MH, et al. Healthy lifestyle behaviors of breast cancer survivors. Clin Nurs Res 2015 Oct;24(5):504-525. [doi: 10.1177/1054773814553298] [Medline: 25349070]
- 15. Newcomb P, Kampman E, Trentham-Dietz A, Egan K, Titus L, Baron J, et al. Alcohol consumption before and after breast cancer diagnosis: associations with survival from breast cancer, cardiovascular disease, and other causes. J Clin Oncol 2013 Jun 1;31(16):1939-1946 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.46.5765] [Medline: 23569314]
- Schootman M, Deshpande AD, Lynskey MT, Pruitt SL, Lian M, Jeffe DB. Alcohol outlet availability and excessive alcohol consumption in breast cancer survivors. J Prim Care Community Health 2013 Jan;4(1):50-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2150131912443133] [Medline: 23799690]
- 17. Williams K, Steptoe A, Wardle J. Is a cancer diagnosis a trigger for health behaviour change? Findings from a prospective, population-based study. Br J Cancer 2013 Jun 11;108(11):2407-2412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.254] [Medline: 23695026]
- Bell RJ, Lijovic M, Fradkin P, Schwarz M, Davis SR. Changes in patterns of use of cigarettes and alcohol in women after a first diagnosis of invasive breast cancer: a cohort study of women from Victoria, Australia. Support Care Cancer 2012 Apr;20(4):783-789. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-011-1150-8] [Medline: 21479524]
- 19. Yeomans MR. Alcohol, appetite and energy balance: is alcohol intake a risk factor for obesity? Physiol Behav 2010 Apr 26;100(1):82-89. [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.01.012] [Medline: 20096714]
- 20. Befort CA, Klemp JR, Fabian C, Perri MG, Sullivan DK, Schmitz KH, et al. Protocol and recruitment results from a randomized controlled trial comparing group phone-based versus newsletter interventions for weight loss maintenance among rural breast cancer survivors. Contemp Clin Trials 2014 Mar;37(2):261-271. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2014.01.010] [Medline: 24486636]
- Befort CA, Bennett L, Christifano D, Klemp JR, Krebill H. Effective recruitment of rural breast cancer survivors into a lifestyle intervention. Psychooncology 2015 Apr;24(4):487-490 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3614</u>] [Medline: <u>24953687</u>]

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e15/
```

RenderX

- 22. United States Department of Agriculture. United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service. Rural-urban commuting area codes. 2010. URL: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rural-urban-commuting-area-codes.aspx</u> [accessed 2016-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6IX2pUvFC]
- 23. Brown RL, Leonard T, Saunders LA, Papasouliotis O. A two-item conjoint screen for alcohol and other drug problems. J Am Board Fam Pract 2001;14(2):95-106 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11314930]
- Conway JM, Ingwersen LA, Vinyard BT, Moshfegh AJ. Effectiveness of the US Department of Agriculture 5-step multiple-pass method in assessing food intake in obese and nonobese women. Am J Clin Nutr 2003 May;77(5):1171-1178 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12716668]
- Serra-Majem L, Santana-Armas JF, Ribas L, Salmona E, Ramon JM, Colom J, et al. A comparison of five questionnaires to assess alcohol consumption in a Mediterranean population. Public Health Nutr 2002 Aug;5(4):589-594. [doi: 10.1079/PHN2001323] [Medline: 12186667]
- 26. Hardin J, Hilbe J. Generalized Estimating Equations. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall/CRC; 2003.
- 27. Pan W. Akaike's information criterion in generalized estimating equations. Biometrics 2001 Mar;57(1):120-125. [Medline: 11252586]
- 28. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY; 2013.
- 29. Spring B, Moller AC, Coons MJ. Multiple health behaviours: overview and implications. J Public Health (Oxf) 2012 Mar;34(Suppl 1):i3-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdr111] [Medline: 22363028]
- 30. Brown J, West R, Beard E, Brennan A, Drummond C, Gillespie D, et al. Are recent attempts to quit smoking associated with reduced drinking in England? A cross-sectional population survey. BMC Public Health 2016 Jul 22;16:535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3223-6] [Medline: 27443348]
- Weaver KE, Palmer N, Lu L, Case LD, Geiger AM. Rural-urban differences in health behaviors and implications for health status among US cancer survivors. Cancer Causes Control 2013 Aug;24(8):1481-1490 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10552-013-0225-x] [Medline: 23677333]

Abbreviations

GEE: Generalized estimating equation.

Edited by K Eddens; submitted 30.06.16; peer-reviewed by J Jones, N Ribeiro, AM Almeida; comments to author 08.08.16; revised version received 02.09.16; accepted 03.09.16; published 09.11.16. <u>Please cite as:</u> Fazzino TL, Fleming K, Befort C Alcohol Intake Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Change in Alcohol Use During a Weight Management Intervention JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e15 URL: http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e15/ doi:10.2196/cancer.6295 PMID:28410181

©Tera L Fazzino, Kimberly Fleming, Christie Befort. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 09.11.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Short Paper

Online Versus Telephone Methods to Recruit and Interview Older Gay and Bisexual Men Treated for Prostate Cancer: Findings from the Restore Study

BR Simon Rosser¹, PhD, MPH, LP; Benjamin Capistrant¹, ScD

University of Minnesota, Division of Epidemiology and Community Health, Minneapolis, MN, United States

Corresponding Author: BR Simon Rosser, PhD, MPH, LP University of Minnesota Division of Epidemiology and Community Health 1300 S. 2nd. St., #300 Minneapolis, MN, 55410 United States Phone: 1 612 624 0358 Fax: 1 612 624 0315 Email: <u>rosser@umn.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Recently, researchers have faced the challenge of conflicting recommendations for online versus traditional methods to recruit and interview older, sexual minority men. Older populations represent the cohort least likely to be online, necessitating the use of traditional research methods, such as telephone or in-person interviews. By contrast, gay and bisexual men represent a population of early adopters of new technology, both in general and for medical research. In a study of older gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer, we asked whether respondents preferred online versus offline methods for data collection. Given the paucity of research on how to recruit older gay and bisexual men in general, and older gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer in particular, we conducted an observational study to identify participant preferences when participating in research studies.

Objective: To test online versus offline recruitment demographic data collection, and interview preferences of older gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer.

Methods: Email blasts were sent from a website providing support services for gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer, supplemented with an email invitation from the web-host. All invitations provided information via the study website address and a toll-free telephone number. Study tasks included respondents being screened, giving informed consent, completing a short survey collecting demographic data, and a 60-75 minute telephone or Internet chat interview. All materials stressed that enrollees could participate in each task using either online methods or by telephone, whichever they preferred.

Results: A total of 74 men were screened into the study, and 30 were interviewed. The average age of the participants was 63 years (standard deviation 6.9, range 48-75 years), with most residing in 14 American states, and one temporarily located overseas. For screening, consent, and the collection of demographic data, 97% (29/30) of the participants completed these tasks using online methods. For the interview, 97% (29/30) chose to be interviewed by telephone, rather than Internet chat.

Conclusions: Older gay and bisexual men, when given choices, appear to prefer a mixed methods approach to qualitative investigations. For most aspects of the study, the older men chose online methods; the exception was the interview, in which case almost all preferred telephone. We speculate that a combination of the deeply personal nature of the topic (sexual effects of prostate cancer treatment), unfamiliarity with online chat, and possibly the subject burden involved in extensive typing contributed to the preference of telephone versus online chat. Recruitment of older men into this study showed good geographic diversity. We recommend that other qualitative researchers consider a mixed methods approach when recruiting older populations online.

(JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e9) doi:10.2196/cancer.5578

KEYWORDS Qualitative research; Aged; Gays

http://cancer.jmir.

RenderX

Introduction

The literature regarding the recruitment of older cohorts and sexual minorities reads as a study in contrasts. In 2014, while 86% of all adults reported being online, only 59% of seniors (age > 65) were online [1]. Although 68% of Americans in their early 70s go online, Internet use drops to 47% after age 75 [1]. The implication for qualitative researchers is that traditional recruitment and data collection methods, such as telephone or in-person interviews, are preferred (or necessary) to recruit many older adults [2]. In addition, online research on older adults raises ethical considerations in at least four areas: (1) providing sufficient support to facilitate ongoing social interactions, (2) managing older adults' expectations, (3) providing encouragement without coercion, and (4) responding to individual needs [3]. In contrast, the literature on gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men indicates that online methods are preferred and more effective for recruiting gay and bisexual men into studies [4,5]. Gay and bisexual men are a minority group identified as early adopters of new technology [6]. Given the popularity of apps and websites for dating and partner-seeking [4,7], and high rates of online pornography consumption [8], being online has become an integral part of the experience of being a gay or bisexual man in the United States [9] and other developed countries [10,11]. Multiple studies note a disproportionately high use of the Internet and apps by the youngest cohorts of gay and bisexual men [7,9]. This finding leads to the question of whether older cohorts of gay and bisexual men are better recruited using online or traditional methods.

Research on older gay and bisexual men is scarce, potentially contributing to undocumented health disparities [12]. Prostate cancer research is one such area, in which treatment outcomes appear worse for gay and bisexual men than other men [13-15], but there has been insufficient research to understand this phenomenon [16]. Detailed qualitative studies are needed to document the experience of gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer. Historically, recruiting gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer into studies has proven extremely challenging. Only three quantitative studies exist, each using small cohorts ranging from 89 to 111 participants [15,17,18]. Cancer registries do not routinely collect demographic data on sexual orientation, leaving this population relatively invisible. Similarly, in all but the largest cities, there are insufficient numbers of gay and bisexual men undergoing prostate cancer treatment to make tailored group support services feasible.

In designing a qualitative study of gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer, we encountered insufficient research to guide best practices. Given the lack of methodological studies of older gay and bisexual men, we conducted an observational study to identify and test the preferences of older gay and bisexual men.

Methods

XSL•FO

Study participants were recruited via *Malecare*, the largest men's cancer support group (utilizing both online and in-person groups) and advocacy organization in the United States. Each year, an estimated 800 to 1000 gay and bisexual men with

```
http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e9/
```

prostate cancer join Malecare. Malecare members received an email with information about this study, and the same information was included in Malecare 's e-newsletter. Both invitations identified the Restore study, as funded the by National Cancer Institute at the National Institutes of Health, and its purpose as, "looking at how prostate cancer treatment affects gay and bisexual men, our life and sexual partners, and our family and friends who provide care for us during treatment." Eligibility criteria included: adults aged >18; ability to speak English; identification as a gay, bisexual, or other man who has sex with men; diagnosed with, and treated for, prostate cancer; and resident of the United States. In addition, we stratified recruitment by major treatment type (surgery, radiation, or other) until saturation was reached. Given the high rates of radical prostatectomies, the stratification resulted in this group being capped at 19 participants.

In the email blast, potential participants were provided information that listed both the study website and a toll-free telephone number. Study tasks included respondents being screened, giving informed consent, completing a short survey collecting demographic data, and a 60-75 minute interview. All materials stressed that enrollees could participate in each task either by going online (to the website) or by telephone, *whichever they preferred*.

Results

A total of 74 men were screened into the study, 30 completed the consent process, and all 30 were interviewed. Average age of the participants was 63 years (standard deviation 6.9), ranging from 48 to 75 years. One man was under 50, six were in their 50s, ten were aged 60-64, six were aged 66-69, and seven were in their 70s. Twenty-six participants described their race/ethnicity as white, three as African American, and one as Latino. Two of the men reported their Human Immunodeficiency Virus status as positive, one as unsure, and the remainder as negative. The participants resided in 13 states (Alabama, California, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Kansas, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New York, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, Washington, and West Virginia); seven resided in New York, and one US resident was temporarily located in Europe. For screening, consent, and the collection of demographic data, 97% (29/30) of the participants completed these tasks using online methods. For the interview, 97% (29/30) chose to be interviewed by telephone, rather than online chat (with a different person absenting in each case).

Discussion

Older gay and bisexual men, when given choices regarding participation in qualitative research, appear to prefer a mixed methods approach to qualitative investigations. For most aspects of the study, almost all gay and bisexual men chose online methods. This result is consistent with efficiency; when reading an email or newsletter, it is easier and faster to click on a link than to telephone a study. Consistent with best online practices [19], we designed the screener to lead into a description of the study, then several pages of consent, followed by a brief demographics survey (as one seamless unit). It is not surprising,

therefore, that all but one gay or bisexual man completed this entire process online. Given our experience using online chat in other studies of gay and bisexual men [20], we expected more participants to choose this option. However, when given the option to be interviewed by telephone or online chat, all but one participant chose telephone. We speculate that a combination of the deeply personal nature of the topic (sexual effects of prostate cancer treatment), possible lack of familiarity with online chat, the anticipated subject burden involved in extensive typing in chat for 60-75 minutes, and/or slow Internet connection contributed to the participants choosing telephone over online chat. Given that multiple participants expressed appreciation for the opportunity to discuss their experience of having prostate cancer, and the sexual challenges that treatment entails, a desire to talk about this taboo topic may also have contributed to their decision.

We highlight the geographic diversity in the sample as a strength of online recruitment of older gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer. Similar to early studies of gay and bisexual men online [21,22], and studies of younger cohorts of gay and bisexual men [23], examination of the residential zip codes of participants demonstrated participation across all regions of the United States, and participation by rural as well as urban respondents.

This study had several limitations. First, this was a very small study focused on individual interviews, which we share to help other researchers proposing similar studies. Given the lack of studies on how to recruit older sexual minorities, we cannot know how generalizable these results are. Second, the older gay and bisexual men in this study were all recruited from a website. This detail likely biases findings towards online preferences, making the choice to be interviewed by telephone more apparent. Third, there are only a handful of websites offering support services to gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer . Choosing the largest of these websites made practical sense; however, we do not know how well members on this website reflect the broader population of gay and bisexual men with prostate cancer, or how well our findings might generalize to other websites or health conditions. Fourth , we did not ask participants why they chose their preferences, or the strength of their preference. We recommend that researchers consider adding both questions to advance research on methods. Finally, consistent with the Pew Internet and American Life Project's results [1], none of our participants were older than 75 years. Researchers aiming to study gay and bisexual men older than 75 may need to use other methods to recruit and research this cohort.

Conclusions

Although an unprecedented number of gay and bisexual men are reaching middle and old age, little is known about aging and age-related health conditions for sexual minority men. While new research efforts may emerge to address this evidence gap regarding healthy aging in this cohort, it remains unclear how best to identify, recruit, and include this population in social and biomedical research. This limitation is particularly true for Internet-based research efforts, which may be better at identifying and recruiting gay and bisexual men than the collection of qualitative interview data. Specifically, we recommend that qualitative researchers (and others interested in studying this cohort via online recruitment) consider a mixed methods approach to recruitment, but continue to use telephone or in-person methods to interview. To advance research methods, we encourage other researchers to set up naturalistic experiments to test research preferences, particularly for difficult to recruit populations.

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted with funding from the National Cancer Institute (Grant award: 1 R21 CA182041) and the American Cancer Society Institutional Research Grant.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Smith A. Pew Research Centre. 2014 Apr 03. Older adults and technology use URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2014/04/</u> 03/older-adults-and-technology-use/ [accessed 2016-07-12] [WebCite Cache ID 6ipJwfyqt]
- 2. Loges W, Jung J. Exploring the digital divide: Internet connectedness and age. Comm Res 2001 Aug 01;28(4):536-562. [doi: 10.1177/009365001028004007]
- Waycott J, Morgans A, Pedell S, Ozanne E, Vetere F, Kulik L, et al. Ethics in evaluating a sociotechnical intervention with socially isolated older adults. Qual Health Res 2015 Nov;25(11):1518-1528. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049732315570136</u>] [Medline: <u>25646003</u>]
- Bolding G, Davis M, Sherr L, Hart G, Elford J. Use of gay Internet sites and views about online health promotion among men who have sex with men. AIDS Care 2004 Nov;16(8):993-1001. [doi: <u>10.1080/09540120412331292453</u>] [Medline: <u>15511731</u>]
- Rosser BR, Wilkerson J, Smolenski D, Oakes JM, Konstan J, Horvath KJ, et al. The future of Internet-based HIV prevention: a report on key findings from the Men's INTernet (MINTS-I, II) Sex Studies. AIDS Behav 2011 Apr;15 Suppl 1:S91-100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-011-9910-5] [Medline: 21360127]

- 6. Ellison N. Social network sites: definition, history, and scholarship. JCMC 2007;13(1):210-230. [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00393.x]
- Grosskopf NA, LeVasseur MT, Glaser DB. Use of the Internet and mobile-based "apps" for sex-seeking among men who have sex with men in New York City. Am J Mens Health 2014 Nov;8(6):510-520. [doi: <u>10.1177/1557988314527311</u>] [Medline: <u>24658284</u>]
- Rosser BR, Smolenski D, Erickson D, Iantaffi A, Brady SS, Grey JA, et al. The effects of gay sexually explicit media on the HIV risk behavior of men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav 2013 May;17(4):1488-1498 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0454-8] [Medline: 23564010]
- Sullivan PS, Grey JA, Rosser BR. Emerging technologies for HIV prevention for MSM: what we have learned, and ways forward. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013 Jun 1;63 Suppl 1:S102-S107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3182949e85] [Medline: 23673879]
- Weatherburn P, Schmidt AJ, Hickson F, Reid D, Berg RC, Hospers HJ, et al. The European Men-who-have-sex-with-men Internet Survey (EMIS): design and methods. Sex Res Soc Policy 2013 May 7;10(4):243-257. [doi: 10.1007/s13178-013-0119-4]
- 11. Holt M, Rawstorne P, Wilkinson J, Worth H, Bittman M, Kippax S. HIV testing, gay community involvement and Internet use: social and behavioural correlates of HIV testing among Australian men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav 2012 Jan;16(1):13-22. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-010-9872-z] [Medline: 21213035]
- 12. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Health Issues and Research Gaps and Opportunities. The health of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people: building a foundation for a better understanding. The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health 2011. [Medline: <u>22013611</u>]
- 13. Motofei IG, Rowland DL, Popa F, Kreienkamp D, Paunica S. Preliminary study with bicalutamide in heterosexual and homosexual patients with prostate cancer: a possible implication of androgens in male homosexual arousal. BJU Int 2011 Jul;108(1):110-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09764.x] [Medline: 20955264]
- 14. Lee TK, Breau RH, Eapen L. Pilot study on quality of life and sexual function in men-who-have-sex-with-men treated for prostate cancer. J Sex Med 2013 Aug;10(8):2094-2100. [doi: 10.1111/jsm.12208] [Medline: 23742184]
- 15. Hart S, Coon D, Kowalkowski M, Latini D. Gay men with prostate cancer report significantly worse HRQOL than heterosexual men. J Urol 2011 Apr;185(4):e68-e69. [doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2011.02.231]
- 16. Rosser BR, Capistrant B, Iantaffi A. Prostate cancer in gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men: a review. J LGBT Health 2016;3(1):A. [doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2015.0092]
- 17. Allensworth-Davies D. Assessing Localized Prostate Cancer Post-Treatment Outcomes Among Gay Men. 2010 Jun 30. URL: <u>https://projectreporter.nih.gov/project_info_description.cfm?aid=7874716&icde=8986475</u> [accessed 2016-07-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6j1kV2IPI]
- Wassersug RJ, Lyons A, Duncan D, Dowsett GW, Pitts M. Diagnostic and outcome differences between heterosexual and nonheterosexual men treated for prostate cancer. Urology 2013 Sep;82(3):565-571. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.urology.2013.04.022</u>] [Medline: <u>23768520</u>]
- Pequegnat W, Rosser BR, Bowen AM, Bull SS, DiClemente RJ, Bockting WO, et al. Conducting Internet-based HIV/STD prevention survey research: considerations in design and evaluation. AIDS Behav 2007 Jul;11(4):505-521. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-006-9172-9] [Medline: 17053853]
- 20. Wilkerson JM, Iantaffi A, Grey JA, Bockting WO, Rosser BR. Recommendations for internet-based qualitative health research with hard-to-reach populations. Qual Health Res 2014 Apr;24(4):561-574 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049732314524635] [Medline: 24623662]
- Rosser BR, Miner MH, Bockting WO, Ross MW, Konstan J, Gurak L, et al. HIV risk and the internet: results of the Men's INTernet Sex (MINTS) Study. AIDS Behav 2009 Aug;13(4):746-756 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-008-9399-8] [Medline: 18512143]
- 22. Ross MW, Tikkanen R, Månsson SA. Differences between Internet samples and conventional samples of men who have sex with men: implications for research and HIV interventions. Soc Sci Med 2000 Sep;51(5):749-758. [Medline: 10975234]
- 23. Bolding G, Davis M, Hart G, Sherr L, Elford J. Where young MSM meet their first sexual partner: the role of the Internet. AIDS Behav 2007 Jul;11(4):522-526. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-007-9224-9] [Medline: 17347876]



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 28.01.16; peer-reviewed by S Chang, PCI Pang, T Falasinnu; comments to author 03.04.16; revised version received 10.05.16; accepted 27.05.16; published 19.07.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Rosser BRS, Capistrant B
Online Versus Telephone Methods to Recruit and Interview Older Gay and Bisexual Men Treated for Prostate Cancer: Findings from the Restore Study
JMIR Cancer 2016;2(2):e9
URL: http://cancer.jmir.org/2016/2/e9/
doi:10.2196/cancer.5578
PMID:28410183

©BR Simon Rosser, Benjamin Capistrant. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (http://cancer.jmir.org), 19.07.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

